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Our vision is to be
the industry leader in
diversified remarketing
and financing services
based on

best-in-class service.
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Financial Highlights

(In millions except per share data and where noted)

For the year ended December 31, 2001 2002 2003" 2004 2005’
Revenues § 774 $ 823 $ 905 $ 926 $ 969
Vehicles sold (thousands) 1,906 1,913 2,001 1,959 1,934
Revenue per vehicle sold (actual) $ 356 $ 378 $ 400 $ 413 $ 436
Loan transactions (thousands) 904 946 950 1,073 1,096
Revenue per loan transaction (actual) $ 105 $ 106 $ 110 $ 109 $ 115
Income from continuing operations $ 75 $ 93 $ 114 $ 109 $ 126
Earnings per share from

continuing operations (diluted) $ 0.85 $ 1.05 $1.29 $ 1.19 S 1.40
Stockholders’ equity $ 661 $ 789 $ 950 $1,011 $1,090

Revenue (In Millions)
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"Results for 2005 include a pre-tax charge of $2.9
million for the write-off of certain unamortized debt
issuance costs associated with the company’s June
2004 credit facility and certain expenses related to the
amended and restated credit facility. In addition,
results for 2005 include a pre-tax gain on the
termination of a swap for $0.5 million, resulting in an
aggregate pre-tax charge of $2.4 million ($1.5 million
net of tax). Results for 2004 include transaction
related pre-tax costs of $17.0 million ($10.3 million
net of tax), and results for 2003 include a pre-tax gain
o? sal)e of real estate of $3.4 million ($2.1 million net
of tax).

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Results for 2005 include incremental pre-tax corporate
expenses relative to 2004 of $3.9 million and
incremental pre-tax interest expense relative to 2004
of $7.9 million ($7.2 million net of tax in the
aggregate). The 2005 incremental expenses were
incurred in the first half of the year and are
representative of the company’s continued transition
to an independent public company. Results for 2004
include incremental pre-tax corporate expenses relative
to 2003 of $11.9 million and incremental pre-tax
interest expense relative to 2003 of $8.7 million ($12.6
million net of tax in the aggregate). Incremental
expenses in 2004 related to the company’s June 2004
IPO and September 2004 spin-off from ALLETE, Inc.




Letter to Shareholders ‘

Dear Fellow Shareholders,

Last year, in our ADESA, Inc. annual report, | wrote to you about why we thought
separation from ALLETE made sense and ended with “it’s just the beginning.” Today, as
we find ourselves into the second year as a stand-alone, publicly traded company,
we're accelerating growth and are well positioned to execute our strategy for 2006
and beyond.

We are committed to creating value for our shareholders, customers and employees. Our
stock performed well this past year, relative to both our peers and the market in general.
Related to value creation is growth. To us, growth applies to the size of the company and
geographic coverage, employee leadership and development and our array of products
and services. | encourage you to read our Operations Review, immediately following my
letter, for more specific details.

| am proud of what we have accomplished in 2005. First, we achieved .

record revenue in a year of decline for off-lease and repossessed vehicles. ;4 D ES A IS

Second, | am pleased with the company’s continued cash flow capability. .

Qur strong cash flow positions us well for opportunities in 2006 and acce/era t/ng
going forward. Third, we began to invest in capacity expansions and

acquisitions, which broaden our service capability. We also heightened grOWth and

our focus and capital commitment into IT and e-Business technology. g
And fourth, we continued to strengthen the management team and ,OOS/Z'/OI”IG‘O’
have invested time and money into professional development and training. for the

Our vision is to be the industry leader in diversified remarketing and financing ”
services based on best-in-class service. Qur goals are: to increase the number fu tu [e.
of vehicles we remarket via physical auctions and the Internet, from about 2

million vehicles today to 3 million by the next decade. If we hit our vehicles-sold

target, we believe that sustainable double-digit profit growth and enhanced total

shareholder return will follow,

Management is focused on completing five important initiatives. They are:

Investing in Growth

We are committed to expansion of our capabilities through acquisitions of existing
auctions and floorplan service providers, expanding combination site opportunities and
relocating existing facilities in growth markets. This provides opportunity for the
company, our employees and our customers as we offer increased capacity in growing
markets. It's another way we are being responsive to our customers’ growing needs.

We'll also continue to explore complementary new products and services, like our recent
investment in Finance Express, a software system that facilitates loans for customers of
independent dealers. We believe that should provide us with a competitive advantage,
increase floorplan revenues for AFC, our wholly owned dealer financing subsidiary, and
boost dealer volumes for our auctions.
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Technology Development
We will further improve our capabilities to deliver on our customers’ needs. The rollouts
of Auction ACCESS® and AutoVision® are two examples. We will also focus on
developing new products and services in this area, which includes e-Business

and technology.

Operational Improvement
ADESA has grown over the last decade by acquisitions of 15 or more independent sellers
and several larger transactions. Each of these acquired
auctions was operated differently. We are continuing
to integrate and improve the performance at our
locations by leveraging comman resources and sharing
a broader customer base as one company. By thinking
as one company and working smarter and more
efficiently, we will improve our service delivery and be
better positioned to exceed our customers’
expectations. We believe our focus on high-guality
customer service Is a big differentiator for us in

the marketplace.

Enhanced Dealer Consignment Focus

We will continue to improve both our service offerings
and our marketing to dealers. Having Auction ACCESS
in all of our U.S. auction sites makes life easier for the
dealers, as they can simply bring an industry-wide ID
card with them to “check in” and do business with us.
We are alsc investing in training for our dealer

sales representatives who work with our

ADESA, Inc. Senior Leadership Team

Chairman, President and CEQ David Gartzke (seated).
customers every day. (standing left to right;) Brad Todd, Executive Vice President, ADESA,

. . Inc.,, President, AFC and Chief Operating Officer; ADESA Corporation;
antmued InveStment In Employees ) Brenda Flayton, Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative

| firmly believe that investment:in our people is the Officer; Cam Hitcheock, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
best investment we can make. As ADESA grows Officer; Cheryl Munce, Executive Vice President, ADESA, Inc., and

: President, ADESA Impact and George Lawrence, Executive Vice
mto_new markets and adds new prOdUd and President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary.

service offerings, employees have more

opportunity. We are committed to equipping them with the tools necessary to ensure

their development and their ability to provide our customers with best-in-class service.,

I hope you understand why we feel ADESA is accelerating growth and well positioned
for the future. We believe 2006 is the inflection point for our wholesale vehicle volumes
and we're excited about our opportunities in the future. As always, | thank you, our
shareholders, for your support and trust in ADESAS ability to deliver value. | also thank
our senior management team, our board of directors and our loyal, hard-working
employees. All of you play important roles as we continue to become a best-in-class
service organization with high ethical standards. My personal commitment is to build an
exciting future for all of us.

Lot

David Gartzke
Chairman, President and CEO
ADESA, Inc.

March 19, 2006




Operationis Review

The Year In Review

2005 was our first full year as a stand-alone public
company since the spin-off from ALLETE and we are
proud of what we have achieved in a short amount
of time. We accomplished what we set out to do,
which included increasing shareholder value,
achieving top and bottom line growth, strengthening
our management team and accelerating our

capital deployment.

Regarding our financial performance for fiscal 2005,
we achieved record revenue levels for the full year,
which drove our bottom line growth. For the year
ended December 31, 2005, the company reported
record revenue of $968.8 million and net income of
$125.5 million, or $1.39 per diluted share. This
compares favorably to revenue of $925.5 million and
net income of $105.3 million, or $1.15 per diluted
share, in fiscal 2004. While Canadian currency
favorably impacted revenue by about $13 million,
relative to 2004, net income for 2005 was negatively
impacted by incremental interest and corporate
expenses of about $11.8 million, or $7.2 million net
of tax.

ADESA has seen a real increase in
demand for reconditioning services.
Our dealers tell us that a frontline-
ready vehicle can mean a quicker sale
and a higher return for our selling " “ !
institutions and dealers. ~e

ADESA Impact sold
more than 200,000
salvage vehicles in fiscal

2005 through its

network of 36 salvage

vehicle auctions.

4 ADESA Inc. 2005 Annual Report and Form 10-K

Full-year consolidated income from continuing
operations was $126.1 million, or $1.40 per diluted
share. This compares with $109 million or $1.19 per
diluted share in 2004. The results for 2005 include
loss on extinguishment of debt of $1.5 million net of
tax, or $0.01 per diluted share. Results for 2004
included non-recurring transaction costs and a loss
on extinguishment of debt totaling $10.3 million net
of tax, or $0.11 per diluted share.

Both reportable segments of ADESA, Auction and
Related Services and Dealer Financing, achieved
garnings growth in 2005, compared to 2004. Income
from continuing operations from Auction and
Related Services increased 16 percent for the year
ended December 31, 2005, while income from
Dealer Financing grew 14 percent for the year, as
compared to 2004. AFC's loan transaction volume
increased more than 2 percent. As off December 31,
2005, AFC’s loan portfolio stood at approximately
$655 million, with more than 95 percent of the
portfolio current.

These results are a direct reflection of the
hard work of our nearly 11,000
employees throughout North America. In
a year where we would have liked to
have seen stronger vehicle volumes,
where we saw significant volatility from
vehicle manufacturers’ incentive pricing
programs and hurricanes, we were
fortunate to have multiple business
drivers that allowed us to achieve our
financial targets. Those key drivers
include vehicle sold volumes, revenue per
vehicle sold, loan transaction volume and
revenue per loan transaction. In addition,
we realized improved efficiencies
through a mix shift coupled with our
increased focus on our dealer
consignment business.

During the year, our strong cash flow
allowed us to deploy more than $120
million for share buybacks, discretionary
debt pay-downs and the start of our
acquisition strategy. Capital was also
invested to improve efficiencies and
utilization at some of our key auction
facilities, adding two lanes at our Boston
auction, two lanes at Montreal and four
at New Jersey, in addition to real estate
at all three sites.




We also continued to invest in our
technology offerings, which we know is
critical for the company and for our
customers both now and going forward.
During 2005, we initiated our rollout of
AutoTec, LLC's product Auction ACCESS®
as well as the integration of AutoVision
inspection technology. Our LiveBlock™
internet offerings, which combine online
bidding and physical onsite bidding in real
time, also continues to experience more
use by our customers.

Auction ACCESS is a national dealer
registration system that allows dealers to
register just once to gain access to more
than 85 percent of cars sold at NAAA-
affiliated auctions across the U.S.,
including all of ADESA's U.S. used vehicle
auctions. This upgrade is a huge timesaver
for the company and our customers, with
fess paperwork, less hassle and improved
efficiencies. The rollout in the U.S. was
completed in February 2006.

We continued to align and develop our
senior management team and, in some
cases, change responsibilities to
accomplish better alignment between ADESA used
vehicle operations, Impact and AFC. We believe we
will continue to build a stronger ADESA, Inc. by
thinking as one company, seeking all efficiencies and
sharing all that comes from that approach. In
addition, we continue to involve more key
employees in our Leadership Development initiative,
as well as in formalized sales and other training to
enhance core competencies and various skill sets. In
2005, we also launched a tuition reimbursement
program companywide that has been well-received
by employees.

To complement our increased sales training, we are
investing in a new customer relationship-
management tool for our sales staff called
Salesforce.com. This, along with our rollout of
Auction ACCESS, will allow us to know our
customers even better so that we can meet and
exceed their service requirements.

Top of the Line
sales, which
feature luxury cars
primartly from
major
manufacturers
and their captive
finance arms,
banks and leasing
companies are
conducted at
several ADESA
sites.

ADESA has more than 300
lanes throughout its 53 used
vehicle auction network in
North America.

We recently established a corporate development
function, devoted to identifying acquisition
candidates, performing due diligence and helping
with integration. We added to the company’s
geographic footprint this year by acquiring one used
vehicle auction in the Washington D.C. area, four
salvage auctions in Ohio and one in North Carolina.
We have also become equity investors in a software
company that complements our core business.

We are aggressively looking at additional acquisition
possibilities, with special attention to those
geographic areas underserved by either the company
or by the industry in general. In addition to looking at
our current sites, we are also assessing which facilities
may not be as efficient as they could be because, for
example, they are at capacity. Facility expansions,
relocation of certain sites and establishing
combination sites shared by our used vehicle and
salvage auctions are all options that are being
thoroughly explored.




Operations Review

continued

We are constantly looking for ways to enhance our
position in the marketplace. In addition to
acquisitions and facility expansions, we are striving to
become a diversified vehicle remarketing services
company with one of our strengths being our mixed
venue of services. That requires us to have a better
understanding of all our customers, offering products
and services that help them succeed and prosper and

Reconditioning a vehicle
today means a lot more
than a buff and a wax. It is
another way for ADESA to
partner with its customers,
providing a true value-add
investment they can take to
the bank.

More than 40,000
buyers, sellers and
borrowers
conducted business
.4 & inourlanes in 2005

allowing them to do business with us even more
efficiently and in the ways they want to. That means
our customers are free to either bid in person at our
auction facilities and kick the tires or bid on a vehicle
via our various Web-based bidding platforms.

Emphasizing operational improvement is also crucial
for our long-term success and we are aggressively
looking at the centralization and standardization of
certain activities and processes throughout the
organization. We recently started an initiative
dedicated to organizational effectiveness and
improvement.
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In Summary

The number of vehicles in operation in North
America continues to increase, with our best
estimate of vehicles on the road in 2005 at about
258 million. We estimate that the number of vehicle
transactions during the year rose to about 46 million,
meaning nearly one in six vehicles in operation
changed hands. We believe the manufacturers’ price
incentives, along with several other
market factors, generated more trade-ins
and used vehicle sales for franchise
dealers, pulling sales out of the
independent dealers. The industry saw a
10-percent increase in rental and
commercial fleet sales and we believe
that it should continue to see related
additional volume in 2006 and

beyond when these rental cars end up
at auction.

Off-lease volume declines will, most
likely, continue in 2006 but should finally
taper off as we anticipate off-lease
volumes beginning to increase in 2007,
We also believe that ADESA has an
opportunity to increase our dealer
consignment penetration and we have
and will continue to focus efforts in this
area. We will invest heavily in resources,
training and marketing in order to better
serve dealer consignors and earn more
of their business.

And, as we watch the new vehicle
sector, we believe we'll see lower, more
stable sticker prices and fewer new car
incentives, which should lessen used vehicle price
volatility and help conversion rates at our auctions.

These opportunities mesh with what our customers
tell us—that the highest value praposition for the
ADESA, Inc. family of companies is providing superior
customer service to our more than 40,000 buyers,
sellers and borrowers. Our customers appreciate the
investments we are making in technology and
customer service initiatives and our employees are
committed to success.
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Board of Directors

Wynn V. Bussmann

Thomas L. Cunningham

David G. Gartzke, chairman
Dennis O. Green
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Nick Smith

Donald C. Wegmiller

Deborah L. Weinstein, lead director

Board Committees and their
Members

Audit Committee
Dennis O. Green, chair
Wynn V. Bussmann
Thomas L. Cunningham
Angel Rodolfo Sales

Corporate Governance and .
Nominating Committee
Deborah L. Weinstein, chair
Dennis O. Green

Angel Rodolfo Sales

Nick Smith
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Committee

Donald C. Wegmiller, chair
Wynn V. Bussmann
Thomas L. Cunningham
Nick Smith

Deborah L. Weinstein
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President and CEQO
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Officer
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Brenda J. Flayton, Executive Vice
President and Chief Administrative
Officer
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President and Chief Information
Officer

ADESA, Inc. Board of Directors
(L to R): Dave Gartzke, A. R. Sales, Van Bussmann, Dennis Green, Tom Cunningham, Nick Smith, Don Wegmiller, Debbie Weinstein

Bradley A. Todd, Executive Vice
President, ADESA, Inc., President,
AFC and Chief Operating Officer,
ADESA Corporation

Cheryl A. Munce, Executive Vice
President, ADESA, Inc., and
President, ADESA Impact

Brian J. Warner, Vice President,
ADESA, Inc., and President, ADESA
Canada

Scott A. Anderson, Controller
Curt L. Phillips, Treasurer

Jonathan L. Peisner, Vice President
Investor Relations and Planning




Shareholder Information

Executive Offices

ADESA, Inc.

13085 Hamilton Crossing Blvd.
Carmel, IN 46032

1-800-9ADESA (1-800-923-3725)
www.adesainc.com

Annual Meeting

ADESA’s 2006 annual shareholders meeting will be
held at the Ritz Charles in Carmel, Indiana, on
Wednesday, May 17, 2006, at 9 a.m. local time.

Investor Services

Jonathan Peisner

V.P, Investor Relations and Planning
ir.contactus@adesa.com

Form 10-K

Form 10-K is filed annually with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. ADESA submitted its Annual
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer to the
New York Stock Exchange regarding the New York
Stock Exchange corporate governance listing
standards on June 16, 2005. ADESA filed its
Certifications of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 as Exhibits 31.1 and
31.2, respectively, to its Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005.

Stock Listing
New York Stock Exchange Trading Symbol: KAR
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Stock and Dividend Information

Cash dividends on common stock areconsidered
guarterly by the board of directors and were first paid
on December 15, 2004. The ranges of high and low
prices reported in the New York Stock Exchange
composite tape and dividends paid on these shares
for the first, second, third and fourth quarters of
2005 are shown below.

Fiscal Year 2005 High Low Dividend
First Quarter $24.41  $1920  $0.075
Second Quarter ~ $24.65  $21.40  $0.075
Third Quarter $24.77  $21.50  $0.075
Fourth Quarter $2499 32068 $0.075

At year end, ADESA had approximately 27,622
shareholders of record and 89,592,519 shares of
common stock outstanding.

Electronic deposit is available to have dividend
payments credited to your bank account on the date
of payment without the concern of lost, stolen or
delayed checks. Contact Wells Fargo Shareowner
Services for more information and an authorization
form.

Stock Transfer Agent and Registrar

Questions about shareholder statements, dividend
payments, registration changes, lost stock certificates,
stock holdings, or related matters should be directed
to Wells Fargo Shareowner Services at:

Wells Fargo Bank Minnesota, N.A.
Shareowner Services

PO. Box 64854

St. Paul, MN 44164-0854

Phone: (866) 877-6330 or

(651) 450-4033
www.wellsfargo.com/shareownerservices
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PART |
item 1. Business
GENERAL

ADESA, Inc. is North America’s largest publicly traded provider of wholesale vehicle auctions and used
vehicle dealer floorplan financing. The Company’s operations span North America with 53 ADESA used
vehicle auction sites, 37 Impact salvage vehicle auction sites and 84 Automotive Finance Corporation
(“AFC") loan production offices. The Company is the second fargest used vehicle auction network in
North America, based upcn the number of used vehicles passing through auctions annually. In addition,
through its wholly owned subsidiary AFC, the Company provides short-term inventory-secured financing,
known as floorplan financing, primarily to used vehicle dealers. ADESA is able to serve the diverse and
multi-faceted needs of its customers through the wide range of services offered at its facilities. As used
herein, the terms “the Company” and “ADESA” mean ADESA, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.

BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company's operations are grouped into four operating segments; U.S. used vehicle auctions,
Canada used vehicle auctions, Impact salvage auctions and AFC. The Company aggregates its four
operating segments into two reportable business segments: auction and related services and dealer
financing.

The Company's U.S. used vehicle auctions, Canada used vehicle auctions and Impact salvage auctions
are included in the auction and related services segment. In addition to providing auctions for the
exchange of ownership between the sellers and buyers of the vehicles, the Company also provides
related services that include vehicle reconditioning, inbound and outbound logistics, vehicle inspections,
titling, salvage recovery services, and outsourcing of various other administrative functions.

AFC comprises the dealer financing segment and is engaged in the business of providing short-term,
inventory-secured financing to independent, used vehicle dealers. AFC conducts business primarily at
wholesale vehicle auctions in the U.S. and Canada.

Comparative segment revenues and related financial information for 2005, 2004 and 2003 are
presented in the table in Note 17, Segment Information, to the consolidated financial statements, which
are included under Item 8 in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Auction and related services

ADESA offers the vehicle redistribution industry used' vehicle and salvage auctions across North America.
Most auction locations are stand-alone facilities dedicated to either used vehicle auctions or salvage
auctions, but in several locations, the Company has capitalized on the synergies of utilizing facilities for
both types of auctions. In addition to vehicle auction services, the auctions provide services for specialty
vehicles and equipment unique to the recreational vehicle, commercial trucking, construction and utility
industries. In 2005, approximately 1.9 million vehicles (consisting of vehicles and equipment) were sold
at ADESA used vehicle and salvage auctions. In 2005, the average revenue per vehicle sold at ADESA
auctions (including auction and related redistribution services) was approximately $436.

The auctions generate revenues primarily from auction fees paid by vehicle buyers and sellers, as well as
related pre- and post-auction fees generally for services such as inbound and outbound logistics,
reconditioning, inspection and certification, titling, administrative and salvage recovery services. Buyer
fees are added to the gross sales price paid by buyers for each vehicle. Seller fees for services are
generally deducted from the gross sales price of each vehicle before the auction remits the net amount
to the seller. :

ADESA's auctions provide Internet solutions to institutional sellers, as well as dealer buyers, including
Internet bulletin board-type auctions, live online only auctions and simultaneously combined physical and
online auctions. Although acceptance of the Internet as a method of doing business in the industry is




growing, ADESA believes that it is not a replacement for the live physical auction, but rather a
complement for the live physical auction that will enhance value to sellers and provide more timely and
efficient service to buyers and sellers. ADESA is well positioned with its dual offering of physical and
online auction and related services to assist customers in directing their inventory between Internet-
based solutions and physical auctions to maximize the sale prices of their vehicles in a timely and cost
effective manner.

Used vehicle auction and related services

ADESA has the second largest wholesale used vebhicle auction network in the U.S. and the largest in
Canada. The Company operates 53 used vehicle auction facilities in close proximity to large
concentrations of used vehicle dealers throughout North America. ADESA's used vehicle customers sold
approximately 1.7 million units at ADESA auctions in 2005.

Auctions are the hub of the redistribution system for used vehicles. ADESA’s used vehicle auction
facilities are strategically located to draw professional sellers and buyers of vehicles together and create
a marketplace for the redistribution of vehicles. Vehicles available at ADESA auctions include vehicles
from dealers turning their inventory and off-lease vehicles, repossessed vehicles, rental and cther
program fleet vehicles that have reached a predetermined age or mileage at which time they are
repurchased by the manufacturers. Sellers of used vehicles are generally divided into two broad
categories: institutions and dealers.

> Institutional customers include vehicle manufacturers and their captive finance arms, banks, vehicle
finance companies, credit unions, other financial institutions, vehicle rental companies, commercial
fleets and fleet management/licensing companies.

> Selling dealers include licensed franchised, independent and wholesale vehicle dealers. Buyers at the
Company’s used vehicle auctions are primarily used vehicle dealers and new car franchised dealers.

The Company’s auctions enable institutional customers and selling dealers to sell used vehicles to
licensed franchised, independent and wholesale used vehicle dealers. ADESA’s auctions strive to
maximize the auction sales price for the sellers of used vehicles by effectively and efficiently transferring
the vehicles, paperwork (including certificates of title and other evidence of ownership), and funds as
quickly as possible from the sellers to a large population of dealers seeking to fill their inventory for
resale. Auctions are typically held at least weekly at most locations and provide real-time wholesale
market prices for the vehicle redistribution industry. During the process, ADESA's auctions do not
generally take title to or ownership of the vehicles consigned for auction, but instead facilitate the
transfer of vehicle ownership directly from seller to buyer.

A key measure to the results of the used vehicle auction process is the conversion percentage, which
represents the number of vehicles sold as a percent of the vehicles offered for sale. The number of
vehicles offered for sale is the key driver of the costs incurred and the number of vehicles sold is the key
driver of the related fees generated by the redistribution process. Generally, as the conversion
percentage increases, so does the efficiency of the Company’s auctions.

ADESA's auctions provide a full range of services to sellers and buyers. Each of the services may be
provided or purchased independently from the physical auction process, including:

> Auction services, such as marketing and advertising the vehicles to be auctioned, dealer registration,
storage of consigned and purchased inventory, clearing of funds, arbitration of disputes, auction
vehicle registration, condition report processing, security for consigned inventory, sales results
reports, pre-sale lineups, and actual auctioning of vehicles by licensed auctioneers.

> Internet-based solutions, including online bulletin board and real-time auctions and online live
auctions running simultaneously with physical auctions.

> Inbound and outbound logistics administration with services provided by third party carriers and the
auctions.




> Reconditioning services, including detailing, washing, body woerk, light mechanical work, glaés
repair, dent repair, tire and key replacement and upholstery repair.

> Inspection and certification services whereby the auction performs a physical inspection and
produces a condition report, in addition to varying levels of diagnostic testing for purposes of
certification.

> Title processing and other paperwork administration.

> Outsourcing of remarketing functions and end of lease term management.

Salvage auction and related services

ADESA currently is the third largest salvage auction operator in North America. ADESA's salvage
customers sold approximately 201,000 salvage vehicles at ADESA salvage auctions in 2005, which
include 37 ADESA Impact salvage auction facilities in;the U.S. and Canada. The Company's salvage
auctions facilitate the redistribution of damaged vehicles that are deemed as total losses for insurance or
business purposes, as well as recovered stolen vehicles for which an insurance settlement with the
vehicle owner has already been made. Salvage vehicles are primarily supplied by property and casualty
insurance companies, as well as vehicle leasing and rental car companies and are usually sold to licensed
vehicle dismantlers, rebuilders, repair shop operators and used vehicle dealers. ADESA's salvage auctions
generate fees from sellers and buyers during the auction process which vary depending on the services
provided. '

ADESA’ salvage auctions provide solutions for all aspects of the salvage auction process, each of which
may be provided or purchased independently from the auction process, including:

> Auction services, such as registering vehicles, clearing of funds, reporting sales results and pre-sale
lineups to customers, paying third party storage centers for the release of vehicles and the physical
auctioning of the vehicles by licensed auctioneers.

> Inbound and outbound logistics administration with actual services provided by third party carriers
and the auctions.

> Other services including vehicle inspections, evaluations, titling, settlement administration, drive
through damage assessment centers, claims auditing and a national call center.

> Internet-based solutions, including online bulletin board and real-time auctions and online live
auctions running simultaneously with physical auctions.

The Company's comprehensive offering of salvage recovery services provides efficiency and speed of
service to customers, helping them mitigate their losses and manage the costs related to processing the
claims and related vehicles. ADESA also provides the insurance industry with professional title
administration and outsourcing services, which may be purchased separately from the physical auction
process. ‘ '

Seasonality

Generally, the volume of vehicles sold at the Company’s auctions is highest in the first and second
calendar quarters of each year and slightly lower in the third quarter. Fourth quarter volume of vehicles
sold is generally lower than all other quarters. This seasonality is affected by several factors including
weather, the timing of used vehicles available for sale from selling customers, holidays, and the
seasonality of the retail market for new and used vehicles, which affect the demand side of the auction
industry. Used vehicle auction volumes tend to decline during prolonged periods of winter weather
conditions. In addition, mild weather conditions and decreases in traffic volume can each lead to a
decline in the available supply of salvage vehicles because fewer traffic accidents occur, resulting in
fewer damaged vehicles overall. As a result, revenues and operating expenses related to volume will
fluctuate accordingly on a quarterly basis, and the Company’s earnings are generally highest in the




second calendar guarter. The fourth calendar quarter typically has the lowest earnings as a result of the
lower auction volume and additional costs associated with the holidays and winter weather.

Dealer financing

AFC primarily provides short-term inventory-secured financing, known as floorplan financing, for used
vehicle dealers in North America who purchase vehicles from ADESA auctions, independent auctions,
auctions affiliated with other auction networks and outside sources. In 2005, approximately 86 percent
of the vehicles floorplanned by AFC were vehicles purchased by dealers at auction. AFC has 84 lcan
production offices across North America which arranged approximately 1.1 million loan transactions in
2005. The Company's ability to provide floorplan financing facilitates the growth of vehicle sales at
auction, and also allows ADESA to have a larger role in the entire vehicle redistribution industry.

AFC services approximately 600 auctions with 84 offices that are conveniently located at or within close
proximity of ADESA auctions and other auctions, which allows dealers to reduce transaction time by
providing immediate payment for vehicles purchased at auction. AFC provides availability lists on behalf
of its customers to auction representatives regarding the financing capacity of its customers, thereby
increasing the purchasing potential at auctions. Of AFC's 84 offices in North America, 52 are physically
located at auction facilities (including 42 at ADESA auctions). Each of the remaining 32 AFC offices is
strategically located in close proximity to at least one of the auctions that it serves. In addition, AFC has
the ability to send finance representatives on-site to most approved independent auctions during auction
sale-days. Geographic proximity to the customers gives the Company’s employees the ability to stay in
close contact with outstanding accounts, thereby better enabling them to manage credit risk.

AFC's procedures and proprietary computer-based system enable the Company to manage its credit risk
by tracking each loan from origination to payoff, while expediting services through its branch network.
Generally, each floorplan financed vehicle is treated as an individual loan. Typically, the Company
assesses a floorplan fee at the inception of a loan. AFC collects the fee along with interest (accrued
daily) when the loan is paid in full. In addition, AFC generally holds the title or other evidence of
ownership to all vehicles which are floorplanned except where not permitted by law. Typical loan terms
are 30 to 60 days, each with a possible loan extension. For an additional fee, this loan extension allows
the dealer to extend the duration of the loan beyond the original term for another 30 to 60 days if the
dealer makes payment towards principal, interest and fees.

The extension of a credit line to a dealer starts with the underwriting process. Credit lines up to
$200,000 (or Cdn$250,000) are extended using a proprietary scoring model developed internally by AFC
with no requirement for financial statements. Credit lines in excess of $200,000 (or Cdn$250,000) may
be extended using underwriting guidelines which require dealership and personal financial statements
and tax returns. The underwriting of each line of credit requires an analysis, write-up and
recommendation by the credit department and in case of credit lines in excess of $200,000 final review
by a credit committee.

AFC’s proprietary computer-based system facilitates day to day collateral management by providing real
time access to dealer information and enables branch and corporate personnel to assess and manage
potential collection issues. Restrictions are automatically placed on customer accounts in the event of a
delinquency, insufficient funds received or poor audit results. Branch personnel are proactive in
managing collateral by monitoring loans and notifying dealers that payments are coming due. In
addition, routine audits, or lot checks, are performed by an affiliated company. Poor results from lot
checks typically require branch personnel to take actions to determine the status of missing collateral,
including visiting the dealer personally, verifying units held off-site and collecting payments for units
sold. Audits also identify troubled accounts, triggering the involvement of AFC’s collections department.

AFC operates two divisions which are corganized into nine regions in North America. Each division and
region is monitored by managers who oversee daily operations. At the corporate level, AFC employs
full-time collection specialists and collection attorneys who are assigned to specific regions and monitor
collection activity for these areas. Collection specialists work closely with the branches to track trends




before an account becomes a-troubled account and to determine, together with collection attorneys,
the best strategy to secure the collateral once a troubled account is identified.

AFC emphasizes service, growth and management. All AFC employees at the management level
participate in a two-stage interactive training program at the Company’s corporate headquarters that
facilitates providing consistent services to AFC customers and consistent monitoring of accounts at local,
regional and central levels.

As of December 31, 2005, approximately 8,500 active accounts (those accounts with financing for at
least one vehicle outstanding) had an average line of credit of $122,000. An average of ten vehicles per
active dealer were floorplanned with an approximate: average value of $7,300 per vehicle at the end of
2005. Approximately 13,000 dealers utilize their lines of credit during any twelve month period. The
following table depicts a range of the lines of credit available to eligible dealers:

Number of Dealer Aggregate Managed
Number of Eligible Accounts with Amount Outstanding as

Available Line of Credit Active Dealer Accounts  Outstanding Balances of December 31, 2005
Less than or equal to $200,000 12,366 7,984 $440,672,875
$200,001 to $500,000 394 : 380 91,446,862
$500,001 to $2,500,000 142 115 90,589,827
$2,500,001 to $5,000,000 1 7 14,351,184
$5,000,001 to $10,000,000 2 1 3,815,527
$10,000,001 and greater 2 ' 2 14,890,932
Total 12,917 : 8,489 $655,767,207

As of December 31, 2005, no single line of credit accounted for more than 10 percent of the total
credit extended by AFC. AFC’s top five active dealers represented a total committed credit of $74 million
with a total outstanding principal amount of $25 million. The single largest committed line of credit
granted by AFC is for $45 million, for which the obligor had $3.5 million outstanding on December 31,
2005. This obligor operates outside of AFC’s normal floorplanning arrangements with specific covenants
that must be maintained, and borrows on a revolving-based line of credit with advances based on
eligible inventory.

SALES AND MARKETING

ADESA's approach toward sales of auction services to institutional customers consists of a centralized
process via the corporate sales teams. The corporate sales team is responsible for cultivating and
maintaining the majority of business from institutional customers. Most institutional customers follow
either a national or regional approach to the redistribution of their vehicles. As a result, matching the
Company‘s corporate sales representatives with an institutional customer’s decision makers is the most
efficient method of managing the volume of vehicles consigned to ADESA from existing and new
institutional customers. ADESA's sales representatives utilize the Company’s geographic coverage,
comprehensive service portfolio, size, attributes of the buying dealer population and the results of sales
at particular auctions to develop a solution for each «customer based upon its portfolio of vehicles.

The Company's approach for cultivating and maintaining business from franchised and independent
dealers in addition to smaller regional and local institutional customers includes focused initiatives
directed by a corporate team dedicated to directing the sales, marketing and best practice efforts in
dealer consignment. In addition, the auction managers, as well as the designated sales representatives at
their locations, are responsible for developing, implementing and maintaining the sales strategy for their
auctions.

Managers of individual auction locations are also responsible for providing services to the institutional
customers whose vehicles are directed to the auctions by the corporate sales team. Developing and
servicing the largest possible population of buying dealers for the vehicles consigned for sale at each
auction is integral to selling auction services and servicing institutional customers.




INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY
E-Business

ADESA has developed online tools to assist customers in redistributing their vehicles and establishing
wholesale vehicle values, while also offering an alternative to physically attending an auction. ADESA's
current online offerings include:

> ADESA LiveBlock™ - allows online bidders to compete in real time with bidders present at physical
auctions,

> ADESA DealerBlock™ - provides for either real-time or round the clock “builletin-board” type online
auctions of consigned inventory not scheduled for active bidding. This platform is also utilized for
“upstream selling” which facilitates the sale of vehicles prior to their arrival at a physical auction
site.

> ADESA Run Lists — provides a summary of consigned vehicles offered for auction sale, allowing
dealers to preview inventory prior to an auction event.

> ADESA Market Guide™ - provides wholesale auction prices, auction sales results, market data and
condition reports.

> ADESA Virtual Inventory — subscription-based service to allow dealers to embed ADESA Search
technology into a dealer’'s Web site to increase the number of vehicles advertised by the dealer.
Currently offered in Canada.

> ADESA Notify Me™ — email notification service for dealers looking for particular vehicles being run
at physical or electronic auction.

Onlire vehicle redistribution systems can be tailored and branded for a vehicle manufacturer or other
institutional customer to offer off-lease or other vehicles for sale directly to franchised or independent
dealers. ADESA plans to continue expanding its existing online service offerings and is committed to
investing additional capital and resources for emerging technologies and service offerings in the vehicle
redistribution industry.

Operating and financial systems

PeopleSoft® is the centralized financial software of the wholesale auctions, and Oracle® is the
centralized financial software for the dealer financing business. ADESA utilizes internally developed,
proprietary software to manage its auction processes and floorplan receivables.




INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
Vehicle redistribution industry

The vehicle redistribution industry encompasses the: activities designed to transfer used and salvage
vehicle ownership between sellers and buyers throughout the vehicle life cycle. In the U.S. and Canada
in 2005, there were approximately 258 million vehicles in operation (also referred to as vehicle “parc” or
“VIO"), approximately 239 million of which were located in the U.S. and 19 million of which were
located in Canada. Approximately 18 to 19 million inew vehicles (including medium and heavy trucks)
enter the vehicle parc each year (based on 2000-2005 data) while annual vehicle scrappage is
approximately 12 to 15 million vehicles, resulting in vehicle parc growth of approximately 3 to 7 million
vehicles per year. The growth in vehicle parc is affected by several factors, including sales of new
vehicles, population growth (especially those of legal driving age), growth in the number of vehicles per
household and the longer lifespan of vehicles currently on the road. Of the 258 million vehicles in
operation in the U.S. and Canada in 2005, approximately 46 million used vehicles (44 million in the U.S.
and 2 million in Canada) changed hands, up from 40 million vehicles in 1990. Total used vehicle sales
increased over 3 percent from 2004 to 2005. However, most of this growth occurred among private
sales by individuals, which bypass the wholesale remarketing process. In addition, discounts on new
vehicles generated attractive trade-ins at franchised dealerships, and many of these units were sold by
the dealerships rather than sold at auction. As a result, auction volumes declined slightly in 2005.
Approximately 21 percent of the 46 million vehicles sold (or approximately 10 million vehicles) passed
through National Auto Auction Association (“NAAA") member auctions in 2005. The Company projects
growth in the vehicle redistribution industry of more than one million vehicles over the next five years as
off-lease volumes recover, dealer consignment volumes grow and rental and commercial fleet vehicles
now in service are returned for remarketing.

The percentage of claims resulting in a total loss has risen significantly in recent years as a result of
higher-cost equipment, higher labor costs related to the complexity of vehicles being repaired, the
limited availability of like-kind and like-quality used parts and underwriting and claims practices among
insurance companies. It is anticipated that the vehicle redistribution industry will continue to benefit
from the increasing number of vehicles in operation, which should translate into increasing vehicle sales
at auction.

The following diagram summarizes the vehicle life cycle and redistribution industry in North America for
the year ended December 31, 2005.

The Vehlcle Life Cycle and Vehicle Remarketing in 2005
-U.S. & Canada-
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Used vehicle auctions

Auctions play a critical role in the vehicle redistribution industry. By capitalizing on economies of scale,
auctions efficiently transfer ownership and titles; administer the flow of funds between sellers and
buyers of vehicles; and facilitate the storing, transporting, reconditioning and selling of vehicles. in
addition, auctions serve as a real-time independent marketplace for the industry. The used vehicle
auction sector accounts for approximately 10 million of the 46 million vehicles that changed hands in
2005. The number of vehicles auctioned rose from approximately 7.4 million in 1997 to approximately
10 million in 2005. The percentage of used vehicles that were sourced at auction and sold to retail
customers by franchised dealers grew from 6 percent in 1982 to 33 percent in 2004,

The supply of used vehicles for sale at auction is provided by institutional customers and selling dealers.
Institutional customers supply the auctions mainly with off-lease, repossessed, and end of program term
vehicles in addition to fleet vehicles that have reached a predetermined mileage level, age or condition.
Program vehicles are vehicles used by rental car companies and other companies with individual
corporate fleets of vehicles that are returned to manufacturers through repurchase programs. It is
estimated that approximately 5 million of the vehicles sold at NAAA auctions in 2005 were institutional
vehicles (manufacturers, automotive finance companies, rental companies, commercial fleets, etc.), or
approximately 50 percent of the total vehicles sold at auction. Selling dealers accounted for a majority
of the remaining vehicles sold at NAAA affiliated auctions in 2005.

Typically, institutional customers and selling dealers select auction sites based upon market prices,
conversion rates, service and location. In addition, the volume of vehicles that dealers sell at auction is
affected by previous auction purchases by the dealers, unwanted trade-ins from customers and aged
inventory. Off-lease volumes presented for wholesale remarketing in the U.S. have been declining over
the last few years. ADESA anticipates that dealer supplied vehicles will be the primary source of auction
volume growth in the coming year, anticipating a mild decline in off-lease volumes in 2006, followed by
modest increases in off-lease volumes thereafter, although not at the rate experienced earlier in this
decade. Lease penetration rates hit a low peint in early 2004 and have generally been increasing since
then. Vehicle finance companies are expected to furnish more than one million units a year of
repossessed vehicles to the remarketing industry. In addition, the Company expects off-rental and
commercial fleet vehicles to supply steady volumes to the remarketing industry in the coming years.

The demand for used vehicles at auction is driven by the retail demand for used vehicles. Franchise and
used vehicle dealers in the U.S. sold approximately 30.7 million used vehicles in 2005, accounting for
approximately 69 percent of the total used vehicle sales in the U.S. The demand for used vehicles has
grown due to the increase in the number of households that have more than one vehicle, improvements
by manufacturers to the quality of vehicles that have extended vehicle lifespan and made used vebhicles
a more attractive option for retail vehicle buyers, and the affordability of used vehicles relative to new
vehicles. To satisfy the demand for used vehicles, dealers increasingly utilize used vehicle auctions to
stock their inventory in addition to various other sources of supply, including trade-ins from customers
on new and used vehicle purchases and purchases from other dealers, wholesalers, individuals or other
entities.

Salvage auctions

The salvage sector of the auction industry has shown moderate growth over the last several years, and
estimates indicate that approximately 3 million salvage vehicles were redistributed in the U.S. and
Canada in 2005. The remainder of the “scrappage” from the vehicle parc primarily consists of vehicles
that were unaccounted for in vehicle registration records. While salvage auctions play a similar
redistribution role in the salvage industry as used vehicle auctions, salvage auctions are usually loss
mitigators for the sellers of the vehicles.

Some factors that determine the supply of vehicles available for sale at a salvage auction include the
number of accidents, thefts and fires, as well as the occurrence of major weather events and natural
disasters. Increasing technological complexity of vehicles continues te lead insurers to declare more




vehicles as salvage than in the past due to heightened costs of repairs. The Company estimates the
percentage of claims resulting in a total loss has consistently increased over the last five years from

8.5 percent of claims in 2000 to 13 percent of claims in 2005. Insurance companies and other
institutional customers declare the ownership or title of a damaged vehicle as a total loss based upon
the extent of the damage, and the majority of these vehicles exit the vehicle parc as scrappage. Other
factors contributing to the increase in total losses as a percentage of claims include new and used parts
availability, cost of repairs, and new title branding and ownership legislation in many states and
provinces that require insurance companies to automatically brand vehicles as total losses once damages
reach a certain percentage of the vehicle’s value.

Market values can vary widely between units of the: same make, model and production year at salvage
auctions based upon the extent of damage to the vehicles and the type of damage title the vehicle
possesses. The demand for salvage recovery services is driven by the value placed upon the parts that
can be extracted from the vehicle and resold in order to repair vehicles that are still in operation and/or
the ability to resell the vehicle for rebuilding purposes. The insurance industry also utilizes the value of
these parts in determining the settlement of claims submitted by policyholders for vehicle repairs. Scrap
metal prices also play a role in salvage vehicle demand and pricing. As the number of vehicles in
operation grows and vehicle lifespan continues to lengthen, the demand for parts from salvage vehicles
should also grow, further driving demand upward for vehicles available for sale at salvage auctions.

The primary buyers of salvage vehicles are vehicle dismantlers, rebuilders, repair shop operators and
used vehicle dealers. Vehicle dismantlers, which are generally the largest group of salvage vehicle buyers
either dismantle salvage vehicles and sell parts individually or sell entire salvage vehicles to rebuilders,
used vehicle dealers or the public. Vehicle rebuilders and repair shop operators generally purchase
salvage vehicles to repair and resell subject to applicable disclosure laws and regulations.

Internet and online auctions

The wholesale vehicle redistribution industry has utilized the Internet for nearly a decade. Since the
mid-1990s, Internet access has been offered by many of the auction service providers in the industry
and is an accepted means of conducting business for sellers and buyers of used and salvage vehicles.
The industry utilizes the Internet for a number of purposes, including:

> Live, real time selling of vehicles via simultaneous bidding between online bidders and bidders at
the physical auction. '

> Online auctions with live, real time selling of vehicles.

> Bulletin board selling of vehicles at a set price or via an auction which is held for a set period of

time (for example, several hours, a day or a week) and during which bids are taken on the vehicles.

The highest bidder may then purchase the vehicle unless there is a floor price that has not been
met. ;

> The compilation of accurate, timely, wholesale market prices of used vehicles based upon sales at
auction. ‘

> Additional customer services including:
> Account information.

> Online reporting of consigned vehicle inventory, auction run lists, vehicle condition reports and
pictures of consigned vehicles.

> Posting of auction locations, policies, registration documents, promotions and other related
information. ‘

ADESA believes that the optimal aggregate market price for a seller’s inventory of vehicles can be
obtained by simultaneously utilizing online auctions with physical auctions. Online auction solutions that
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do not include any use of physical auctions potentially lack services that are integral to the redistribution
process. These services may include:

> Secure storage of consigned vehicle inventory in centralized locations whereby customers can view
the condition of multiple vehicles in person prior to sale at auction.

> Physical movement of each used vehicle through the auction building at the time of sale for
customers to view the driving condition of each vehicle.

> Low cost vehicle enhancement services, including detailing and repairing of used vehicles and shrink
wrapping of salvage units, all of which may increase the value of the vehicles prior to sale.

> Immediate on-site arbitration of disputes arising between the buyer and seller of a vehicle at
auction.

> Processing of and handling of vehicle logistics, titles, ownership transfer and funds transfer.

> Immediate availability of purchased vehicles at the time of sale to buyers for resale or use in their
business.

> On-site inspection and certification services.
> Large concentration of buyers competing for the purchase of each vehicle in real time.

The use of the Internet for conducting wholesale transactions in the vehicle redistribution industry is
growing. ADESA feels that simultaneously combining the physical auctions with online auctions in real
time offers a superior method of vehicle redistribution when compared with other online only auction
solutions; however, the Company still maintains online only auction technology to complement its
physical auction business. The Company believes it is well positioned to offer the appropriate mix of
physical and online auctions and services to its customers to ensure the most effective and efficient
redistribution of their vehicles.

Dealer financing

The used vehicle floorplan financing sector consists primarily of short-term inventory-secured financing
for dealers who purchase used vehicles for immediate resale. Common floorplan terms in the industry
range anywhere from 30 to 90 days with interest accruing on the outstanding principal balance. in
addition, a fee is usually charged per vehicle financed. The financing component of the vehicle
redistribution industry remains largely fragmented and includes traditional financial institutions, floorplan
financing companies, auctions which provide financing and the finance companies of vehicle
manufacturers. Franchised dealers primarily secure floorplan financing from the captive finance arms of
the manufacturers, as well as national, regional and local banks and financial institutions. The majority
of this financing is not available to independent dealers. Each wholesale vehicle transaction presents an
opportunity to provide a dealer with floorplan financing. Most lenders in the industry, including AFC,
take a security interest in the vehicles floorplanned and protect their security interest through audits of
dealer inventory. Floorplan financing is not a retail installment loan, but rather an inventory-secured
financing loan of a very short duration for dealer purchases.

COMPETITION

ADESA faces significant competition for the supply of used and salvage vehicles and for the buyers of
those vehicles. The Company's principal competitors include other used and/or salvage vehicle auction
companies, wholesalers, dealers, manufacturers and dismantlers, a number of whom may have
established relationships with sellers and buyers of vehicles and may have greater financial resources
than ADESA. The Company’s basis for competition includes both its physical auction sites and its
e-business service offerings. Due to the limited number of sellers of used and salvage vehicles, the
absence of long-term contractual commitments between ADESA and its customers and the increasingly




competitive market environment, there can be no assurance that the Company's competitors will not
gain market share at ADESA's expense.

In the used vehicle auction industry, ADESA competes with Manheim, a subsidiary of Cox

Enterprises, Inc., as well as several smaller chains of:auctions including Auction Broadcasting Company
and independent auctions, some of which are affiliated through their membership in an industry
organization named ServNet®. Due to ADESA’s national presence, competition is strongest with
Manheim for the supply of used vehicles from national institutional customers. The supply of vehicles
from dealers is dispersed among all of the auctions in the used vehicle market.

Due to the increased visibility of the Internet as a marketing and distribution channel, new competition
has arisen recently from Internet-based companies and the Company’s own customers who have
historically redistributed vehicles through various channels, including auctions. Direct sales of vehicles by
institutional customers and large dealer groups through internally developed or third party online
auctions have largely replaced telephonic and other non-auction methods, becoming an increasing
portion of overall used vehicle redistribution. The extent of use of direct, online systems varies by
customer. Typically, these online auctions redistribute vehicles that have come off lease. In addition, the
Company and some of its competitors have begun to offer online auctions as all or part of their auction
business and other online auction companies now include used vehicles among the products offered at
their auctions. Online auctions or other methods of redistribution could potentially diminish both the
quality and quantity and reduce the value of vehicles sold through traditional auction facilities.

In the salvage sector, ADESA competes with Copart; Inc., Insurance Auto Auctions, Inc., independent
auctions, some of which are affiliated through their membership in industry organizations to provide
broader coverage through network relationships and a limited number of used vehicle auctions that
regularly redistribute salvage vehicles. In 2005, Manheim indicated an intention to increase its presence
in the salvage auction industry launching a new salvage subsidiary, Total Resource Auctions. Additionally,
some dismantlers of salvage vehicles such as Greanleaf and LKQ Corporation and Internet-based
companies have entered the market, thus providing. alternate avenues for sellers to redistribute salvage
vehicles. ADESA anticipates further consolidation of the salvage auction services industry will occur and
is evaluating various means by which the Company ‘can continue its growth plan through further
deployment of its Internet auction tools, strategic acquisitions, shared facilities with the Company’s used
vehicle auctions and greenfield expansion. ‘

In Canada, ADESA is the largest provider of used and salvage vehicle auction services. ADESA's
competitors include vehicle recyclers and dismantlers, independent vehicle auctions, brokers, Manheim
and online auction companies. ADESA believes it is strategically positioned in this market by providing a
full array of value-added services to customers including auction and related services, online programs,
data analyses and consultation.

The used vehicle inventory floorplan financing sector is characterized by diverse and fragmented
competition. AFC primarily provides short-term dealer floorplan financing of wholesale vehicles to
independent vehicle dealers in North America. At the national level, AFC’s competition includes
Manheim Automotive Financial Services, Auto Use, Dealer Services Corporation, other specialty lenders,
banks and financial institutions. At the local level, AFC faces competition from banks and credit unions
who may offer floorplan financing to local auction customers. Such entities typically service only one or
a small number of auctions. Some of ADESA's industry competitors who operate used vehicle auctions
on a national scale may endeavor to capture a larger portion of the floorplan financing market.
Currently, the largest competitor generally does not provide floorplan financing outside of its own
auctions. AFC competes primarily on the basis of quality of service, convenience of payment, scope of
services offered and historical and consistent commitment to the sector.

VEHICLE REGULATION

ADESA’s operations are subject to regulation, superVision and licensing under various U.S., Canadian or
Mexican federal, state, provincial and local statutes, ordinances and regulations. Each auction is subject
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1o laws in the state or province in which it operates which regulate auctioneers and/or vehicle dealers.
Some of the transport vehicles used at the Company’s auctions are regulated by the U.S. Department of
Transportation or similar regulatory agencies in Canada and Mexico. The acquisition and sale of salvage
and theft recovered vehicles is regulated by governmental agencies in each of the locations in which
ADESA operates. In many states and provinces, regulations require that a salvage vehicle be forever
“branded” with a salvage notice in order to notify prospective purchasers of the vehicle’s previous
salvage status. Some state, provincial and local regulations also limit who can purchase salvage vehicles,
as well as determine whether a salvage vehicle can be sold as rebuildable or must be sold for parts only.
Such regulations can reduce the number of potential buyers of vehicles at salvage auctions. In addition
to the regulation of the sale and acquisition of vehicles, ADESA is also subject to various local zoning
requirements with regard to the location and operation of its auction and storage facilities.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION

ADESA's businesses are subject to regulation by various U.S. and Canadian federal, state, provincial and
local authorities concerning air quality, water quality, solid wastes and other environmental matters. In
the vehicle redistribution industry, large numbers of vehicles, including damaged vehicles at salvage
auctions, are stored at auction facilities and, during that time, releases of fuel, motor oil and other fluids
may occur, resulting in soil, air, surface water or groundwater contamination. In addition, the facilities
generate and/or store petroleum products and other hazardous materials, including wastewater waste
solvents and used oil, and body shops at the facilities may release harmful air emissions associated with
painting. ADESA could incur substantial expenditures for preventative, investigative or remedial action
and could be exposed to liability arising from its operations, contamination by previous users of acquired
facilities, or the disposal of waste at off-site locations. ADESA considers its businesses to be in
compliance, in all material respects, with those environmental regulations currently applicable to its
operations.

Management considers the likelihood of loss or the incurrence of a liability, as well as the ability to
reasonably estimate the amount of loss, in determining loss contingencies. The Company accrues an
estimated loss contingency when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss
can be reasonably estimated. Management regularly evaluates current information available to
determine whether accrual amounts should be adjusted. Accruals for contingencies including
environmental matters are included in “Other accrued expenses” and “Other liabilities” at undiscounted
amounts and generally exclude claims for recoveries from insurance or other third parties. These accruals
are adjusted periodically as assessment and remediation efforts progress, or as additional technical or
legal information becomes available. If the amount of an actual loss is greater than the amount accrued,
this could have an adverse impact on the Company’s operating results in that period.

The discussion of environmental matters in “Legal Proceedings” in Iltem 3 of this Form 10-K, is
incorporated herein by reference.

COMPANY HISTORY

ADESA entered the vehicle redistribution industry in 1989 and first became a public company in 1992.
ADESA remained a public company until 1996 when ADESA was acquired by ALLETE, Inc. (“ALLETE").
At that time, ADESA operated 19 used vehicle auctions and 19 AFC loan production offices. Since then,
ADESA has grown the business, organically and through acquisition, into a leading vehicle redistribution
company in North America, operating 53 used vehicle auctions, 37 salvage auctions and 84 AFC loan
production offices. Growth milestones for the Company include:

> 2006—Acquired N.E. Penn Salvage Company, an independently owned salvage auction in northeast
Pennsylvania.

> 2005—Acquired four salvage auctions in Ohio known as the Ohio Connection. Acquired an
independently owned salvage auction near Charlotte, North Carolina. Acquired a Washington, D.C.




area used vehicle auction. Opened new salvage auctions in Connecticut and Florida (both
Clearwater and Orlando area). Relocated Calgary salvage auction to a larger site.

> 2004—Opened a salvage auction in Sacramento, California co-located with ADESA.

> 2003—Relocated a used vehicle auction in Atlanta, Georgia and opened salvage auctions in Long
Island, New York and Fremont, California.

> 2002—Opened a new used vehicle auction in tong Island, New York and acquired an
independently owned salvage auction near Raleigh, North Carolina.

> 2001—Acquired eight salvage auctions from Auto Placement Center. These auctions are located in
Rhode Island, Massachusetts, Maine, New Hampshire, Vermont and New York.

> 2000—Acquired nine used vehicle auctions from Manheim Auctions, Inc. (“Manheim”) as part of a
required divestiture. These auctions are located in close proximity to Atlanta, Clearwater, Colorado
Springs, San Francisco, Kansas City, Orlando, Phoenix, Tampa and Seattle.

> 2000—Acquired Canadian Auction Group, Inc., a used vehicle auction chain consisting of 13
locations in Canada. These auctions are located in or near Calgary, Dartmouth, Edmonton,
Kitchener, Les Cedres, Saskatoon, St. John's, Toronto, Winnipeg, Moncton, Hamilton and Vancouver.

> 1995—Acquired Impact Auto Auctions, Ltd., a salvage auction chain in Canada was acquired in
four stages: 20 percent of the company was purchased in October 1995, 33.33 percent was
purchased in each of March 1999 and January 2000 and 13.34 percent was purchased in
May 2000. Impact Auctions, Ltd. consisted of nine auctions that are located in Calgary, Edmonton,
Halifax, London, Moncton, Montreal, Ottawa, Sudbury and Toronto.

> 1994—ADESA acquired AFC.

ADESA Corporation was incorporated in Indiana on October 4, 1991. ADESA, Inc., was incorporated in
the state of Delaware on lanuary 23, 2004. On May 24, 2004, ADESA Corporation, then a wholly
owned subsidiary of ALLETE, was merged into ADESA, inc., another wholly owned subsidiary of ALLETE.
ADESA's initial public offering of 6,250,000 shares of common stock was declared effective by the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on June 15, 2004, On September 20, 2004, ALLETE
completed the distribution of a stock dividend to al] ALLETE stockholders totaling 88,600,000 shares,
completing the separation of ADESA from ALLETE. .

EMPLOYEES

At December 31, 2005, ADESA had a total of 10,740 employees, with 8,447 located in the U.S. and
2,293 located in Canada. Approximately 71 percent of the Company’s workforce consists of full-time
employees. Currently, none of the Company's employees participate in collective bargaining agreements.

In addition to the employee workforce, ADESA also utilizes temporary labor services to assist in handling
the vehicles consigned to the Company during periods of peak volume. Nearly all of the Company’s
auctioneers are independent contractors, '

Some of the services ADESA provides are outsourced to third party providers that perform the services
either on-site or off-site. The use of third party providers depends upon the resources available at each
auction facility as well as peaks in the volume of vehicles offered at auction.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

ADESA's Web address is www.adesainc.com. ADESA's electronic filings with the SEC (including all Annual
Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and if applicable,
amendments to those reports) are available free of charge on the Web site as soon as reasonably
practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. The information posted on
the Company’s Web site is not incorporated into this Annual Report. In addition, the SEC maintains a
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Web site that contains reperts, proxy and information statements and other information filed with the
SEC. The Web site can be accessed at http:/Avww.sec.gov.

New York Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Matters

As a listed company with the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”), ADESA is subject to certain corporate
governance standards required by the NYSE. Among other requirements, each listed company CEQO is
required, under Section 303A.12 (a) of the NYSE Listed Company Manual, to certify to the NYSE each
year that he or she is not aware of any violation by the company of NYSE corporate governance listing
standards. ADESA filed the annual CEO certification with the NYSE, confirming its compliance with the
NYSE's corporate governance listing standards, on June 13, 2005.

Included as Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 of this 2005 Annual Report on Form 10-K, are the required CEO and
CFO Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 302 certifications filed with the SEC.

Item 1a. Risk Factors
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In particular, statements made in this report on

Form 10-K that are not historical facts (including, but not limited to, expectations, estimates,
assumptions and projections regarding the industry, business, future operating results, potential
acquisitions, and anticipated cash requirements) may be forward-looking statements. Words such as
"anticipates,” "expects,” “intends,” "plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” "estimates,” and similar expressions
identify forward-looking statements. Forward looking statements are not guarantees of future
performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially
from the results projected, expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Factors that could
cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed below under
“Risks Related to ADESA's Business” and “Risks Relating to ADESA's Former Relationship with and
Separation from ALLETE". Some of these factors also include:

7 [Tl

> significant changes in volume of vehicles bought, sold or financed by the Company’s customers;

the mix of vehicles sold (dealer vs. institutional) at the Company’s auctions and OEM pricing
programs,

\J

fluctuations and volatility in the market value of used and salvage vehicles;
changes in North America vehicle production;

the availability of used and salvage vehicles;

inability to implement price increases;

changes in buyer attendance at vehicle auctions;

the announcement of new vehicle supply agreements by ADESA or its competitors;
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the introduction by competitors of new services that make ADESA's services obsolete or less
valuable;

the introduction of new competitors;
the Company’s ability to integrate and manage its acquisitions successfully;

the timing and size of the Company’s new facility openings;

YV VYY

the amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures relating to the maintenance and
expansion of the Company’s business, operations and infrastructure;
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third-party claims for infringement of intellectual property rights by ADESA, and the outcome of
any litigation with respect thereto;

severity of weather and seasonality of weather patterns;
changes in the Canadian dollar;

changes in interest rates;
variations in vehicle accident rates and scrappage;
changes in scrap metal prices;

delays or changes in state title processing;

YY VY VYV YY

changes in state, provincial or federal laws or regulations affecting used or salvage vehicles or the
floorplan financing of used vehicles;

Y

the availability and cost of general business insurance;

\

labor costs; and

> other risks described from time to time in ADESA's filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC"), including the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q to be filed by ADESA in 2006.

Many of these risk factors are outside of ADESA’s control, and as such, they involve risks which are not
currently known to ADESA that could cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed or
implied herein. The forward-looking statements in this document are made as of the date hereof and
ADESA does not undertake to update its forward-looking statements.

RISKS RELATED TO ADESA’s BUSINESS

Because of the factors mentioned below and other variables affecting ADESA's operating results, past
financial performance may not be a reliable indicator of future performance, and historical trends should
not be used to anticipate results or trends in future'periods. If any of these risks actually occur, the
Company's business, financial condition or results of operations could suffer. The following discussion, as
well as discussion in other areas of item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” in this report on Form 10-K, highlight some of these risks. Other
areas of this Report on Form 10-K that discuss these risks include:

¢ The following sections under Item 1 “Business”
* Industry OvervieW; |
¢ Competition;
» Vehicle Regulation; and
¢ Environmental! Régulation.
¢ |tem 3 “Legal Proceedings”
¢ ltem 7a “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk”

Among the factors that could cause actual results to differ materially are the factors detailed below.
These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones: facing ADESA. Additional risks and uncertainties not
presently known to ADESA or currently believed to be immaterial also may adversely affect ADESA. Any
risks or uncertainties that develop into actual events could have material adverse effects on ADESAs
businesses, financial condition and results of operations.
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Fluctuations in consumer demand for used and leased vehicles impact auction sales volume
and conversion rates, which may adversely affect ADESA's revenues and profitability.

Used vehicle sales are driven by consumer demand. As consumer demand fluctuates, the volume and
prices of used vehicles may be affected and the demand for used vehicles at auction by dealers may
likewise be affected. The demand for used vehicles at auction by dealers may therefore affect wholesale
price of used vehicles and the conversion percentage of vehicles sold at auction.

The number of new and used vehicles that are leased by consumers affects the supply of vehicles
coming to auction. As manufacturers and other lenders have decreased the number of leases in the last
few years and extended the lease terms of some of the leases that were written, the number of
off-lease vehicles available at auction declined in 2003, 2004 and 2005 and that decline is expected to
continue in 2006. ADESA is not able to predict the manufacturers’ and other lenders’ approaches to
leasing and thus future volumes of off-lease vehicles may be affected based upon leasing terms and
trends. The supply of off-lease vehicles coming to auction is also affected by the market value of used
vehicles compared to the residual value of those vehicles per the lease terms. In most cases, the lessee
and the dealer have the ability to purchase the vehicle at the residual price at the end of the lease term.
Generally, as market values of used vehicles rise, the number of vehicles purchased at residual value by
the lessees and dealers increases, thus decreasing the number of off-lease vehicles available at auction.

The Company has experienced and expects to continue to experience fluctuations in its
quarterly results of operations.

The Company has experienced and expects to continue to experience fluctuations in its quarterly results
of operations due to a number of factors, many of which are beyond the Company’s control. Among
the factors that have in the past and/or could in the future affect the Company’s operating results are:
general business conditions; trends in new and used vehicle sales and incentives, including wholesale
used vehicle pricing; economic conditions including fuel prices and Canadian exchange rate and interest
rate fluctuations; trends in the vehicle remarketing industry; the introduction of new competitors;
competitive pricing pressures; and costs associated with the acquisition of businesses or technologies. As
a result of the above factors, operations are subject to significant variability and uncertainty from
quarter to quarter.

ADESA may not be able to grow if the Company is unable to successfully acquire and
integrate other auction businesses and facilities.

The vehicie redistribution industry is considered a mature industry in which low single-digit growth is
expected in industry unit sales. Acquisitions have been a significant part of the Company’s historical
growth and have enabled it to further broaden and diversify its service offerings. The Company’s
strategy involves the acquisition and integration of additional physical auction sites, technologies and
personnel. Acquisition of businesses requires substantial time and attention of management personnel
and may also require additional equity or debt financings. Further, integration of newly established or
acquired businesses is often disruptive. Since the Company has acquired or in the future may acquire
one or more businesses, there can be no assurance that the Company will identify appropriate targets,
will acquire such businesses on favorable terms, or will be able to successfully integrate such
organizations into its business. Failure to do so could materially adversely affect the Company’s business,
financial condition and results of operations. In addition, ADESA expects to compete against other
auction groups or new industry consolidators for suitable acquisitions. If ADESA is able to consummate
acquisitions, such acquisitions could be dilutive to earnings, and ADESA could overpay for such
acquisitions.

In pursuing a strategy of acquiring other auctions, ADESA faces other risks commonly encountered with
growth through acquisitions. These risks include, but are not limited to:

> incurring significantly higher capital expenditures and operating expenses,




entering new markets with which ADESA is unfamiliar;
incurring potential undiscovered liabilities at acquired auctions;

failing to maintain uniform standards, controls and policies;

VY VY

impairing relationships with employees and customers as a result of management changes; and

> increasing expenses for accounting and computer systems, as well as integration difficulties.

High fuel prices may have an adverse effect on the Company’s revenues and operating results,
as well as its earnings growth rates.

High fuel prices affect the demand for sport utility and full-sized vehicles which are generally not as fuel
efficient as smaller vehicles. In addition, high fuel prices could lead to a reduction in the miles driven per
vehicle which may reduce accident rates. Retail sales and accident rates are factors that affect the
number of used and salvage vehicles sold at auction, wholesale prices of those vehicles and the
conversion rates at used vehicle auctions. Additionally, high fuel costs increase the cost for the
transportation and towing of vehicles. The Company may not be able to pass on such higher costs to
the customers who supply vehicles to the Company’s auctions.

Weather-related and other events beyond ADESA’s control may adversely impact operations.

Extreme weather or other events, such as hurricanes, tornadoes, earthquakes, forest fires, floods, .
terrorist attacks or war, may adversely affect the overall economic environment, the markets in which
the Company competes, its operations and its profitability. These events may impact the Company’s
physical auction facilities, causing a material increase in costs, or delays or cancellation of auction sales,
which could have a material adverse impact upon the Company’s revenues and profitability.

The Company is, and may be in the future, subject to patent infringement claims, which could
have an impact on the Company'’s business or operating results due to a disruption in its
business operations, the incurrence of significant costs and other factors.

From time to time, the Company may receive notices from others claiming that it infringes their patent
or intellectual property rights, and the number of these claims could increase in the future. Claims of
patent infringement could require ADESA to enter into licensing agreements on unfavorable terms, incur
substantial monetary liability or be enjoined preliminary or permanently from further use of the
intellectual property in guestion, which could require ADESA to change its business practices and limit
its ability to compete effectively. Even if ADESA believes that claims are without merit, the claims can be
time-consuming and costly to defend and divert management’s attention and resources away from its
businesses. If ADESA is required to take any of these actions, it could have an adverse impact on the
Company’s business and operating results.

Pending litigation could have an adverse effect on the Company.

There is no guarantee that the Company will be successful in defending itself in legal and administrative
actions or in asserting its rights under various laws, including intellectual property laws. In addition, the
Company could incur substantial costs in defending itself or in asserting its rights in such actions. The
costs and other effects of pending litigation and administrative actions against the Company cannot be
determined with certainty. Although management currently believes that no such proceedings will have
a material adverse effect on the Company, there can be no assurance that the outcome of such
proceedings will be as expected. For a further discussion, see “Legal Proceedings” under Item 3 of this
Report on Form 10-K.
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ADESA faces significant competition.

ADESA faces significant competition for the supply of used and salvage vehicles and for the buyers of
those vehicles while the used vehicle inventory floorplan financing sector is characterized by diverse and
fragmented competition. The Company.faces current or potential competition from four primary
sources: (i) direct competitors, (ii) potential entrants, (iii) potential new vehicle remarketing venues and
dealer financing services and (iv) existing alternative vehicle remarketing venues. ADESA's auctions
provide a full range of services to sellers and buyers. In both the vehicle auction and dealer financing
businesses, both the Company and its competitors are working to develop new services and
technologies, or improvements and modifications to existing services and technologies. Some of these
competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging services and technologies,
evolving industry trends and changes in customer requirements and devote greater resources to the
development, promotion and sale of their services. Increased competition could result in price
reductions, reduced margins or loss of market share, any of which could materially and adversely affect
the Company’s business and results of operations. There can be no assurance that the Company will be
able to compete successfully against current and future competitors or that competitive pressures faced
by the Company would not have a material adverse effect on its business and results of operations.

Changes in technology could cause ADESA’s competitive position to be negatively impacted
and, as a result, ADESA may lose customers.

Technology is critical to ADESA's operating environment and competitive position. ADESA may not be
successful in structuring its technology infrastructure or developing, acquiring or implementing
technology which is competitive and responsive to the needs of its customers and ADESA might lack
sufficient resources to continue to make the necessary investments in technology to compete with its
competitors.

Increased use of online wholesale auctions may diminish ADESA's supply of vehicles.

Online auctions or other methods of redistribution may diminish both the quality and quantity as well as
reduce the value of vehicles sold through traditional auction facilities. Although ADESA offers online
auctions and services as part of its standard service offerings, ADESA cannot predict what portion of
overall sales will be conducted through online auctions or other redistribution methods in the future and
what impact this may have on its auction facilities.

The operation of the Company’s auction facilities poses certain environmental risks which
could adversely affect ADESA's results of operations and financial condition.

ADESA's businesses are subject to regulation by various U.S. and Canadian federal, state, provincial and
local authorities concerning air quality, water guality, solid wastes and other environmental matters. In
the vehicle redistribution industry, large numbers of vehicles, including damaged vehicles at salvage
auctions, are stored at auction facilities and, during that time, releases of fuel, motor oil and other fluids
may occur, resulting in soil, air, surface water or groundwater contamination. In addition, the facilities
generate and/or store petroleum products and other hazardous materials, including wastewater waste
solvents and used oil, and body shops at the facilities may release harmful air emissions associated with
painting. Further, the Company is subject to other safety and training regulations as required by local,
state and federal law. The Company has an environmental and safety compliance program that is
administered by the environmental and safety department of the Company and includes monitoring,
measuring and reporting compliance, establishing safety programs and training Company personnel in
environmental and safety matters. Any failure by the Company to obtain required permits or operate
within regulations for, control the use of, or adequately restrict the discharge of hazardous or regulated
substances or materials under present or future regulations could subject the Company to substantial
liability, require costly cleanup or require changes in the Company’s remarketing services or auction
facilities.




For a further discussion of the environmental regulation of ADESAs businesses, see “Business—
Environmental Regulation” under [tem 1 of this Report on Form 10-K.

ADESA assumes the settlement risk for all vehicles sold through its auctions.

ADESA does not have recourse against sellers for any buyer's failure to satisfy its debt. Since the
Company's revenues for each vehicle do not include the gross sales proceeds, failure to collect the
receivables in full would result in a net loss up to the gross sales proceeds on a per vehicle basis in
addition to any expenses incurred to collect the receivables and to provide the services associated with
the vehicle. Although ADESA takes steps to mitigate this risk, if ADESA is unable to collect payments on
a large number of vehicles, the resulting payment ébligations and decreased fee revenues may have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

ADESA has debt obligations that could restrict its operations.
The Company’s indebtedness could have adverse consequences, including:
> increasing its vulnerability to adverse economic, regulatory and industry conditions;

> limiting its ability to compete and its flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in the
business and the industry in which ADESA operates;

> limiting the Company's ability to borrow édditional funds for working capital, capital
expenditures, acquisitions and general corporate or other purposes; and

> limiting ADESA's ability to pay dividends. .

ADESA's debt service obligations will require the Company to use a portion of its operating cash flow to
pay interest and principal on debt instead of for other corporate purposes, including funding future
expansion and ongoing capital expenditures.

if ADESA is not able to retain its executive officers and key employees, ADESA may not be
able to implement its business strategy and the business could suffer.

The Company’s future performance is significantly dependent upon the continued service of its key field
and senior management personnel. The loss of the services of one or more of the Company's officers or
other key employees could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results
and financial condition. ADESA may have difficulty in retaining and attracting customers, developing
new services, negotiating favorable agreements with customers and providing acceptable levels of
customer service. Although leadership changes will occur from time to time, ADESA cannot predict
whether significant resignations will occur. The success of the business heavily depends on the
leadership of the executive officers, all of whom are employees-at-will and many of whom are not
subject to any agreements not to compete. Additionally, ADESA has no key person insurance on any of
its executive officers.

ADESA is dependent on good labor relations.

At December 31, 2005, ADESA had a total of 10,740 employees, with 8,447 located in the U.S. and
2,293 located in Canada. Approximately 71 percent of the workforce consists of full-time employees. In
addition to the workforce of employees, ADESA also utilizes temporary labor services to assist in
handling the vehicles consigned during periods of peak volume. Many of the Company’s employees,
both full- and part-time, are unskilled, and in periods of strong economic growth, ADESA may find it
difficult to compete for sufficient unskilled labor. If the Company is unable to maintain its full- or
part-time workforce or the necessary relationship$ with third party providers, its operations may be
adversely affected.
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In addition, auctioneers at the Company’'s auctions are highly skilled individuals who are essential to the
successful operation of its auction business. Nearly all of its auctioneers are independent contractors
who provide their services for a daily or weekly rate. If ADESA is unable to retain a sufficient number of
experienced auctioneers, its operations may be adversely affected.

A portion of ADESA’s net income is derived from Canada, which exposes the Company to
foreign exchange and other risks.

Fluctuations between U.S. and Canadian currency values may adversely affect the Company’s results of
operations and financial position. In addition, there may be tax inefficiencies in repatriating cash from
Canada. For the 12 months ended December 31, 2005, approximately 20 percent of the Company’s
revenues were attributable to its Canadian operations. A decrease in the value of the Canadian currency
relative to the U.S. dollar could reduce the Company’s profits from its Canadian operations and the
value of the net assets of its Canadian operations when reported in U.S. dollars in the Company's
financial statements. This could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial
condition or results of operations as reported in U.S. dollars.

In addition, fluctuations in currencies relative to currencies in which the earnings are generated may
make it more difficult to perform period-to-period comparisons of the Company’s reported results of
operations. For purposes of accounting, the assets and liabilities of the Company’s Canadian operations,
where the local currency is the functional currency, are translated using period-end exchange rates, and
the revenues and expenses of the Company’s Canadian operations are translated using average
exchange rates during each period. Translation gains and losses are reported in accumulated other
comprehensive income/loss as a component of stockholders’ equity.

For a further discussion of ADESA's foreign exchange risk, see "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures
About Market Risk” under ltem 7a of this Report on Form 10-K.

ADESA's operations may be restricted by vehicle-related or lending laws and other regulations,
including vehicle brokerage and auction laws.

ADESA's operations and sales of vehicles by its customers are subject to regulation, supervision and
licensing under various U.S. and Canadian federal, state, provincial and local statutes, ordinances and
regulations. For a further discussion of the vehicle regulations applicable to ADESA'S businesses, see
"Business—Vehicle Regulation” under Item 1 of this Report on Form 10-K.

The Company has a material amount of goodwill which, if it becomes impaired, would result
in a reduction in the Company’s net income.

Goodwill is the amount by which the cost of an acquisition accounted for using the purchase method
exceeds the fair value of the net assets acquired. Current accounting standards require that goodwill no
longer be amortized but instead be periodically evaluated for impairment based on the fair value of the
reporting unit. At December 31, 2005, approximately $533 million or 27%, of ADESA' total assets
represented goodwill. Declines in the Company’s profitability may impact the fair value of its reporting
units, which could result in a write-down of the Company’s goodwill and a reduction in net income.

New accounting pronouncements or new interpretations of existing standards could require
ADESA to make adjustments to accounting policies that could adversely affect the financial
statements.

The Financial Accounting Standards Board, the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or other accounting organizations or governmental entities issue
new pronouncements or new interpretations of existing accounting standards that sometimes require
changes to the Company’s accounting policies and procedures. To date, ADESA does not believe any
new pronouncements or interpretations have had an adverse effect on the Company’s financial




condition or results of operations, but future pronouncements or interpretations could require the
change of policies or procedures.

RISKS RELATING TO ADESA’s FORMER RELATIONSHIP WITH AND SEPARATION FROM ALLETE
ADESA may be required to indemnify ALLETE if the spin-off becomes taxable.

ADESA and ALLETE entered into a tax sharing agreement, effective on the date of the spin-off, which
governs ALLETE's and ADESA's respective rights, responsibilities and obligations after the spin-off with
respect to taxes for the periods ending on or before the spin-off. Under the tax sharing agreement, if
the spin-off becomes taxable to ALLETE, ADESA will be required to indemnify ALLETE for any taxes
which arise as a result of ADESA's actions or inaction. In addition, ADESA will be required to indemnify
ALLETE for 50 percent of any taxes that do not arise as a result of actions or inaction of either ADESA
or ALLETE. Consequently, to avoid causing the spin-off to be taxable to ALLETE under Section 355(e) of
the Internal Revenue Code, ADESA may be significantly limited in its ability to issue shares for the
two-year period following the spin-off.

ADESA faces risks associated with being a member of ALLETE’s consolidated group for federal
income tax purposes for the periods prior to the spin-off.

Under the existing tax sharing agreement, ADESA generally will pay ALLETE the amount of federal
income taxes that ADESA would be required to pay if ADESA were a separate taxpayer not included in
ALLETE's consolidated federal tax returns for the periods prior to the spin-off on September 20, 2004. In
addition, ALLETE effectively controlled substantially all of the Company’s tax decisions and has sole
authority to respond to and conduct all tax proceedings, including tax audits relating to ALLETE’s
consolidated returns in which ADESA is included; provided however, that no action will be taken by
ALLETE that would materially adversely affect ADESA without first obtaining ADESA's consent. Moreover,
notwithstanding the existing tax sharing agreement, federal law provides that each member of a
consolidated group has several liability for the group's entire tax obligation. Thus, if ALLETE or other
members of the group fail to pay taxes attributable to any period during which ADESA was a member
of ALLETE's consolidated group, including the taxable year of ALLETE that ended on December 31,
2004, or if the spin-off becomes taxable as a result of ALLETE's actions or inactions and ALLETE does
not satisfy the resulting tax liabilities for any reason, as required by law, notwithstanding the existing tax
sharing agreement, ADESA may be liable for any part of, including the whole amount of, such liabilities.

Item 1b. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties

ADESA's corporate headquarters are located in Carmel, Indiana. The Company’s corporate headquarters
and its Canadian office are leased properties. Properties utilized by the Company’s auction and related
services business segment include 53 used vehicle auction facilities in North America, which are either
owned or leased. Each auction is generally a multi-lane, drive-through facility, and may have additional
buildings for reconditioning, registration, maintenance, bodywork, and other ancillary and administrative
services. Each auction also has secure parking areas to store vehicles. ADESA also operates 37 salvage
vehicle auction facilities in the U.S. and Canada which are utilized by the Company’s auction and related
services business segment. Salvage auctions are generally smaller than used vehicle auctions in terms of

acreage and building size and some locations share facilities with the Company’s used vehicle auctions.

Of AFC’s 84 offices in North America, 52 are physically located at auction facilities (including 42 at
ADESA auctions). Each of the remaining 32 AFC offices is strategically located in close proximity to at
least one of the auctions that it serves. AFC generally leases its loan production offices.

The following tables list the used and salvage vehicle auctions owned or leased by ADESA:

Used Vehicle Auctions
us

Location

Number of
Auction Lanes

ADESA Boston‘@ Framingham, Massachusetts 14
ADESA Golden Gate@ Tracy, California 12
ADESA Phoenix® Chandler, Arizona 12
ADESA New Jersey@ Manville, New Jersey 12
ADESA Buffalo@@ Akron, New York 10
ADESA Birmingham©® Moody, Alabama 10
ADESA Indianapolis® Plainfield, Indiana 10
ADESA Little Rock®@ North Little Rock, Arkansas 10
ADESA Charlotte® Charlotte, North Carolina 10

ADESA Dallas
ADESA Atlanta®@

ADESA Cincinnati/Dayton®

ADESA Cleveland®
ADESA Pittsburgh®®
ADESA San Antonio@
ADESA Tampa

ADESA Houston@
ADESA Los Angeles©@
ADESA Kansas City@
ADESA Memphis®
ADESA Knoxville®
ADESA Jacksonvillet@Xd
ADESA Austin®
ADESA San Diego@
ADESA Long Island®
ADESA Lexington@
ADESA Washington®@

ADESA Colorado Springs®

ADESA Des Moines'd
ADESA Tulsa@@
ADESA Concord@@
ADESA Shreveport®
ADESA Sacramento®(@

Mesquite, Texas
Fairburn, Georgia
Franklin, Chio
Northfield, Ohio
Mercer, Pennsylvania
San Antonio, Texas
Tampa, Florida
Houston, Texas

Mira Loma, California
Lee's Summit, Missouri
Memphis, Tennessee
Lenoir City, Tennessee
Jacksonville, Florida
Austin, Texas

San Diego, California
Yaphank, New York
Lexington, Kentucky
Sterling, Virginia
Colorado Springs, Colorado
Grimes, lowa

Tulsa, Oklahoma
Acton, Massachusetts
Shreveport, Louisiana
Sacramento, California

MUV OO O 0000000000 0000 W




@)
b)
[}

(@

Used Vehicle Auctions

ADESA Ocala'®
ADESA Wisconsin'®
ADESA Lansing'®
ADESA Seattle!®
ADESA St. Louis'®
ADESA Southern Indiana
Canada ‘
ADESA Montreal®
ADESA Toronto®
ADESA Vancouver@®id)
ADESA Edmonton®
ADESA Ottawa@@
ADESA Halifax@'<xd
ADESA Calgary®
ADESA Winnipeg?
ADESA Kitchener
ADESA Saskatoon®
CAG Vancouver®
ADESA Moncton©
ADESA St. John's®
Mexico
ADESA Mexico®

Location

Ocala, Florida
Portage, Wisconsin
Dimondale, Michigan
Auburn, Washington
Barnhart, Missouri
Edinburgh, indiana

St. Eustache, Quebec
Brampton, Ontario
Richmond, British Columbia
Nisku, Alberta

Vars, Ontario

Enfield, Nova Scotia
Airdrie, ‘Alberta

Winnipeg, Manitoba

Ayr, Ontario

Saskatoon, Saskatchewan
Surrey, British Columbia
Moncton, New Brunswick
Mount Pearl, Newfoundland

Toluca, Mexico

Shares facilities with salvage auction at the same location.

Leased auction facilities.

ADESA currently leases part of the property on:which this auction is located.

Facility includes an AFC office.

Salvage Auctions

us ‘
ADESA Impact—Charlotte®
ADESA Impact—Clayton®

ADESA Impact—Orlando North®
ADESA Impact—Montgomery®

ADESA Impact—Fremont

ADESA Impact—Canton/Akron®

ADESA Impact—Clearwater®
ADESA Impact—Vermont
ADESA Impact—Taunton
ADESA Impact—Miami®
ADESA Impact—Loraine®
ADESA Impact—Albany®
ADESA Impact—Scranton®
ADESA Impact—Connecticut®
ADESA Impact—Columbus®
ADESA Impact—Buffalo®©

ADESA Impact—Orlando South®

ADESA Impact—Rhode Island
ADESA Impact—Cincinnati®

Location

Concord, North Carolina
Clayton, North Carolina
Sanford, Florida

Rock Tavern, New York
Fremont, California

New Philadelphia, Ohio
Clearwater, Florida

Essex, Vermont

East Taunton, Massachusetts
Opa-Locka, Florida

Loraine, Ohio

Colonie, New York

Pittston, Pennsylvania
Middletown, Connecticut
Grove City, Ohio

Akron, New York

Orlando, Florida

East Providence, Rhode Island
Amelia, Ohio

Number of

Auction Lanes

W huiuru
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Total Acreage

128
99
73
65
63
40
33
32
29
28
27
25
23
20
20
15
15
15
12

25
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Salvage Auctions

ADESA Impact—Salem

Location
Salem, New Hampshire

Total Acreage

ADESA Impact—Concord® Acton, Massachusetts 10
ADESA Impact—Long Island® Medford, New York 9
ADESA Impact—Saco Saco, Maine 9
ADESA Impact—Clinton Clinton, Maine 7
ADESA Impact—Jacksonville© Jacksonville, Florida 6
ADESA Impact—Sacramento®© Sacramento, California 6
Canada
Impact Montreal® Les Cedres, Quebec 50
Impact Toronto® Stouffville, Ontario 32
Impact Sudbury'® Sudbury, Ontario 20
Impact London® London, Ontario 17
Impact Calgary Calgary, Alberta 15
Impact Hamilton Hamilton, Ontario 12
Impact Edmonton(© Nisku, Alberta 10
Impact Ottawal® Vars, Ontario 9
Impact Moncton®© Moncton, New Brunswick 8
Impact Halifax9 Enfield, Nova Scotia 6
Impact Vancouver®X© Richmond, British Columbia 3

@) ADESA currently leases part of the property on which this auction is located.
® | eased auction facilities.
@  Shares facilities with used vehicle auction at the same location.

@  ADESA owns a 50 percent interest in this facility.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved in litigation and disputes arising in the ordinary course of business, such as
actions related to injuries; property damage; handling, storage or disposal of vehicles; environmental
laws and regulations; and other litigation incidental to the business such as employment matters and
dealer disputes. Such litigation is generally not, in the opinion of management, likely to have a material
adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. Legal and regulatory
proceedings which could be material are discussed below.

SEC Informal Inquiry

in December 2003, the staff of the SEC initiated an informal inquiry relating to ALLETE's internal audit
function and the internal financial reporting of ALLETE (ADESA's former parent), ADESA, AFC, a wholly
owned subsidiary of ADESA, and the loan loss methodology at AFC. ALLETE and the Company fully and
voluntarily cooperated with the informal inquiry and sent a response to the SEC in February 2004.
Management believes that the Company has acted appropriately and that this inquiry will not result in
action that has a material adverse impact on the Company or its reported results of operations. The
Company has had no further inquiries or correspondence with the SEC since the first quarter of 2004.

ADESA Impact Taunton facility

In December 2003, the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection ("MADEP") identified the
Company as a potentially responsible party regarding contamination of several private drinking water
wells in a residential development that abuts the Taunton, Massachusetts salvage auction facility
operated by the Company. The wells had elevated levels of methyl! tertiary butyl ether (“MTBE"). MTBE is
a chemical compound added to gasoline to reduce environmental emissions. In 2005, the EPA
preliminarily identified MTBE as a “likely” carcinogen.




The Company engaged Geolnsight, Inc. an environmental services firm, to conduct tests of the soil,
groundwater and ambient air on and adjacent to the Company’s salvage auction site. The results of the
soil and water tests indicated levels of MTBE exceeding MADEP standards with respect to certain
residential properties. In response to the empirical findings, the Company, with the approval of the
MADEP, installed granular activated carbon filtration systems in 33 residences that may be impacted by
MTBE.

In January 2004, the Company submitted an immediate response action plan (IRA) to the MADEP
describing the initial activities the Company performed, and the additional measures that the Company
used to further assess the existence of any imminent hazard to human health, In addition, as required
by the MADEP, the Company has conducted an analysis to identify sensitive receptors that may have
been affected, including area schools and municipal wells. Based on the analyses conducted, the
Company has advised the MADEP that it believes that an imminent hazard condition does not exist. The
Company is submitting periodic status updates to the MADEP.

The salvage auction facility was acquired from Auto Placement Center, Inc. in 2001. Although the
primary releases of gasoline and MTBE may have preceded the Company’s acquisition of the Taunton
salvage site, the Company voluntarily agreed to several remediation measures including the construction
of a municipal waterline to serve the residents of the area. The construction of the wateriine was
completed in the first quarter of 2005. In the second quarter of 2005, the Company entered into a
settlement agreement with its environmental insurance carrier with respect to certain coverage matters
which were in dispute relating to the Taunton site. The payment that was made to the Company under
the settlement agreement was not material to the Company’s results of operations or financial
condition. The Company has released its insurance carrier from any further claims with respect to
environmental conditions at the Taunton site.

In June 2005, 64 residents of Taunton, Massachusetts filed two separate lawsuits against ADESA Impact
in Massachusetts Superior Court, Bristol Division (Civil Action No.2005-00640 and Civil Action

No. 2005-00641). The complaints seek approximately $5.7 million in damages for ADESA' alleged
negligence, trespass, and creation of a public nuisance arising from elevated gasoline and contaminants
of MTBE in the ground water and water wells of the plaintiffs which plaintiffs contend resulted from an
above ground gasoline storage tank leak or spill at the Company’s Taunton salvage auction. In particular,
plaintiffs are seeking damages for: (1) diminution in the appraised value of their respective residences,
(2) well contamination, (3) damage to and loss of use of their property, (4) pain and suffering and

(5) reimbursement of certain expenses incurred as a result of the MTBE release.

ADESA Impact filed a Notice' of Removal with respect to both actions with the United States District
Court for the District of Massachusetts removing both of the cases pending in the Bristol County
Superior Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts to the U.S. District Court (Civil Actions

No. 05-11493 and 05-11494). In August 2005, Automotive Recovery Services, Inc. d/b/a ADESA Impact
filed answers, including defenses, to the pending actions. Although there is the potential for an adverse
judgment given the risk and, uncertainties of litigation, in the event of an adverse decision, the
Company does not believe that it would have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial
condition or liguidity but could possibly be material to its consclidated results of operations in any one
accounting period. The Company intends to vigorously defend itself against the claims of the plaintiffs.

The Company has a remaining accrual of $1.0 million at December 31, 2005 with respect to the
Taunton matter which includes ongoing filtration and monitoring costs. This amount is included in the
$3.1 million liability accrued for environmental matters at December 31, 2005,

Auction Management Solutions, Inc. ;

In March 2005, Auction Management Solutions, Inc. ("AMS”) filed a lawsuit against ADESA, Inc. in U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, Atlanta Division (Civil Action No. 05 CV 0638),
alleging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 6,813,612 (the "612 Patent”) which was issued November 2,
2004 and pertains to an audio/video system for streaming instantaneous and buffer free data to and
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from a live auction site. The AMS complaint was served upon ADESA in July 2005. The complaint seeks
unspecified damages and injunctive relief. The Company filed its answer, including its defenses, to the
complaint in August 2005. The Company continues to vigorously defend itself against the infringement
allegations. The litigation is currently in discovery.

In related litigation, AMS also filed a lawsuit against Manheim Auctions, Inc. (“Manheim"), Live Global
Communications USA Inc. and Live Global Bid, Inc. (collectively “LGB”) in U.S. District Court for the
Northern District of Georgia, Atlanta Division (Civil Action 05 CV 0639), alleging infringement of the
‘612 Patent and other causes of action against Manheim. The Company licenses technology used in its
LiveBlock Internet auction application from LGB. The complaint seeks unspecified damages and
injunctive relief. In May 2005, AMS withdrew its request for a preliminary injunction against Manheim
and LGB. In June 2005, Manheim filed a counterclaim against AMS alleging infringement of U.S. Patent
No. 5,774,873 related to online motor vehicle auction systems. This litigation has been consolidated
with the AMS lawsuit against the Company during the discovery phase. No trial date has been set.

Although ADESA believes it has substantial defenses to the AMS claims, there is the potential for an
adverse judgment given the risk and uncertainty inherent in litigation. In the event of an adverse
decision, ADESA does not believe that it would have a material adverse effect on its consolidated
financial condition or liquidity but could possibly be material to its consolidated results of operations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2005.

PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities

Market Information and Holders of Record

ADESA’s common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “KAR”
and has been traded on the NYSE since June 16, 2004. According to the records of the Company's
transfer agent, there were approximately 27,247 stockholders of record of ADESA common stock at
February 28, 2006.

The following table sets forth the range of high and low sales prices for each quarter since the
Company has been a public company:

2005

High Low
4% Quarter (October 1 —December 31) ... ................ $24.99 $20.68
3 Quarter (July 1 - September 30). .. ......... ... ...... $24.77 $21.50
2" Quarter (April 1 =June 30) ... ... ... .. $2465 $21.40
1t Quarter January T—=March 31) .. ........... . ... ..... $24.41 $19.20

2004

High Low
4% Quarter (October 1 — December 31) .. ................. $21.50 $15.11
3 Quarter (July 1 ~ September 30) . .. ... ... ... ... .. ..... $24.85 $15.75
2" Quarter June 16 =June 30) . ... ... $25.90 $24.00

Dividend Information

ADESA intends to pay a regular quarterly dividend to holders of its common stock. Payment of future
dividends or the establishment of a dividend reinvestment plan will be at the discretion of the board of
directors in accordance with applicable law after taking into account various factors, including ADESA’s




financial condition, operating results, current and anticipated cash needs, plans for expansion and
contractual restrictions with respect to the payment of dividends.

ADESA paid a quarterly dividend of $0.075 per common share in 2005 ($0.30 per common share in
total). ADESA paid a $17.5 million dividend to ALLETE, the sole holder of record of the Company’s
common stock, through a wholly owned subsidiary, 'on March 31, 2004. ADESA also paid a

$100 million dividend to ALLETE on May 25, 2004, in the form of an intercompany note. On
December 15, 2004, the Company paid its first quarterly dividend of $0.075 per common share.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On May 12, 2005, the Company completed its $130 million share repurchase program, which had been
approved by the Company’s board of directors on August 30, 2004. The Company repurchased a
cumulative total of 6.2 million shares at a weighted average price of $20.83 per share and an aggregate
cost of $128.2 million pursuant to the program.

The following table provides information about purchases by ADESA of its shares of common stock
during the quarter ended December 31, 2005 (actual shares):

ADESA Common Stock Repurchases(®

Approximate

Dollar Value
Total Number of Shares That
of Shares May
Total Average Purchased as Yet Be

Number of Price Part of Publicly Purchased

Shares Paid per Announced Under the
Period Purchased(1) Share(1) Plan Plan
October 1 = October 31 . ... ... .. ... ... © 540 $22.04 - -
November 1 — November 30 . ... ...... .. + 779 $21.93 - -
December 1 - December 31 . ... ........ " 240 $24.41 - =
Total ... 1,559 $22.35 - E

M Primarily reflects shares surrendered in the fourth fiscal quarter to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with the
vesting of restricted stock awards issued to employees.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the audited consclidated financial
statements and related notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Operating results of ComSearch, inc., as well as the Company’s former vehicle transport and vehicle
importation businesses are included in discontinued operations and amounts have been adjusted
accordingly for all periods presented. Also, 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005 operating results do not include
goodwill amortization as required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 “Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets.”

The Company incurred various charges and incremental expenses in 2004 and 2005 related to its initial
public offering of its common stock and a registered public offering of its unsecured 7%:% senior
subordinated notes, subsequent separation from ALLETE and subseguent restructuring of its debt that
affect the comparability of its reported results of operations. As a result of these transactions and the
transition to an independent public company, 2004 and 2005 operating results might not be
comparable to previous periods or ongoing operations. See the “Footnotes to Selected Financial Data”
below for the amounts and descriptions of the various charges and incremental expenses incurred by
the Company in 2004 and 2005.

(Dollars in millions except per share and as otherwise noted)

For the year ended December 31, 2005"  2004@  2003® 2002 2001

Operations:
Operating revenues

Auction and related services. . . . . $ 8428 $ 8089 3% 8002 $ 7229 §$ 6793

Dealer financing . . . ...... . ... 126.0 116.6 104.3 99.9 95.1
Total operating revenues. . . . .. ... 968.8 925.5 904.5 822.8 774.4
Operating expenses (exclusive of

depreciation and amortization) . . . 700.6 676.6 668.2 617.3 577.9
Operating profit .. ....... ... .. 227.4 213.0 201.3 173.2 154.6
Interest expense . . ...... ... ... 31.2 254 16.0 22.5 38.6
Loss on extinguishment of debt . . . . 29 14.0 - - -
income from continuing operations . 126.1 109.0 113.9 92.8 75.0

Earnings per share—basic and
diluted from continuing operations $ 140 $ 119 $ 129 $ 105 § 085

Weighted average shares

outstanding ’
Basic {millions)® .. ... ..... .. .. 89.9 91.2 88.6 88.6 88.6
Diluted (millions)® . ... . ... .. ... 90.3 915 88.6 88.6 88.6

Cash dividends declared per share® . $ 030 §$ 0.075 - - -




December 31,

2005

2004 2003

2002 2001

Financial Position:
Working capital (deficit) ... ... ...

$ 3020 $ 3582 $ 5638

$ (86.1) $ (169.2)

Currentratio. . ............... 1.7:1 2.0:1 1.1:1 0.8:1 0.8:1
Debt as a percentage of total :

capitalization .. .......... ... 28.4% 33.8% 28.1% 34.2% 46.1%
Total assets . . . ........... .. .. $1,9455 $1,915.0 $1,656.8 $1,4916 $1,531.1
Total debt. ... ............... $ 4325 $ 5161 $ 3709 $ 4097 $ 5657
Total stockholders’ equity . . ... ... $1,089.9 $1,011.4 $ 9502 ¢ 7837 $§ 6605
Book value per share .. ... ...... $ 1207 $ 1105 $ 1072 § 890 $ 745
For the year ended December 31, 20057  2004® 2003 2002 2001
Other Financial:
Net cash provided by operating

activities . ... ... ... ... $ 1365 $ 1755 $ 1319 § 1817 § 773
Capital expenditures. . . ... ... ... $ 553 § 312 $ 268 $ 665 $ 572
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . $ 408 $ 359 $ 350 $ 323 § 419
EBITDA® . .. ... .. . L. $ 2739 $ 2394 $ 2391 $ 2068 $ 19838
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges'? 6.2 6.5 8.9 6.0 3.5
For the year ended December 31, 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Other Operating: ;
Used vehicles sold (thousands). . . .. 1,733 1,759 1,810 1,741 1,761
Salvage vehicles sold (thousands) . . . 201 200 191 172 145
Total vehicles sold (thousands) . . . .. 1,934 1,959 2,001 1,913 1,906
Used vehicle conversion rate"” . ... 63.1% 62.5% 61.0% 59.0% 58.1%
Revenue per vehicle sold"? . ... ... $ 43¢ $ 413 § 400 $ 378 § 356
Loan transactions (thousands) . .. .. 1,096 1,073 950 946 904
Revenue per loan transaction®™ ... ¢ 115 $ 109 $ 110 $ 106 $ 105
Facilities:
Number of auction facilities at end

of period j
Used vehicle . ... ... L -53 53 53 54 54
Salvage . ........ ... .. .. .. .. 36 28 27 25 20
Number of loan production offices :

atend of period. ... ....... .. -84 83 80 81 83
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The following table reconciles EBITDA to income from continuing operations and net income (in
millions):

For the year ended December 31, 20057  2004® 2003 2002 2001

Netincome.................. $ 1255 $ 1053 $ 115.1 88.3 67.4
Add back:
Loss (income) from discontinued
operations . .............. 0.6 37 (1.2) 4.5 7.6
Income from continuing operations . $ 126.1 $ 1090 $ 1139 § 928 $ 750
Add back:
Income tax expense . ......... 75.8 £9.1 74.2 59.2 433
Interest expense . . ... ...... .. 31.2 25.4 16.0 22.5 38.6
Depreciation and amortization . . . 40.8 35.9 35.0 32.3 41.9
EBITDA® . .. ... .. $ 2739 $ 2394 3 2391 § 2068 $ 19838

A reconciliation of net cash provided by operating activities, another comparable GAAP measure, to
EBITDA for each of the fiscal periods indicated is presented below (in millions):

For the year ended December 31, 2005 2004® 2003®) 2002 2001
Net cash provided by operating activities . ... $136.5 $1755 $1319 $181.7 §$ 77.3
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net

of acquisitions. . ... ... ... .. . ... ... 67.8 (8.5) 304 {41.8) 46.5
Bad debtexpense . . . ................. (1.2) (4.2) (3.4) (6.3) (7.3)
Interest expense . . ... .. ... L 31.2 25.4 16.0 22.5 38.6
Income tax expense . ................. 75.8 69.1 74.2 59.2 43.3
Deferred income tax . . ................ (27.9) (3.1 (115 (8.2) 0.1
Discontinued operations, net of taxes . ... .. 0.6 3.7 (1.2) 45 7.6
Non-cash loss from discontinued operations . . - - - (2.8) (6.7)
Compensation associated with equity

Programs . . . oo (2.8) (1.6) - - -
Loss on extinguishment of debt . . ... ... .. (29 (14.0) - - -
Other non-cash, net . .. ............ ... (3.2) (2.9) 2.7 (2.0) (0.4)
EBITDA® . . $273.9 $239.4 $239.1 $206.8 $198.8

Footnotes to Selected Financial Data

2005 operations include:

* Loss on extinguishment of debt totaling $2.9 million ($1.8 million after tax or $0.02 per share). The loss on
extinguishment of debt consists of a charge for the write-off of certain unamortized debt issuance costs associated
with the Company’s June 2004 credit facility and certain expenses related to the amended and restated credit
facility.

e Gain on termination of swap of $0.5 million ($0.3 million after tax). The interest rate swap agreement related to the
former Term Loan B facility was terminated in the third quarter of 2005.

¢ [ncremental corporate expenses compared to 2004, of $3.9 million ($2.4 million after tax or $0.03 per share).
Incremental corporate expenses were incurred in the first half of 2005 and consisted of salaries, benefits and other
expenses due to the addition of corporate level personnel, professional fees, incremental insurance and other costs
necessary to support an independent public company.

¢ Incremental interest expense compared to 2004, of $7.9 million ($4.8 million after tax or $0.05 per share) incurred
in the first half of 2005 resulting from the Company’s recapitalization and transition to an independent public
company.
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2004 operations include:

i

*  Transaction costs totaling $3.0 million ($1.8 million ‘after tax or $0.02 per share). Transaction costs consist primarily
of legal and professional fees associated with the Company’s initial public offering and separation from ALLETE.

e Loss on extinguishment of debt totaling $14.0 million ($8.5 million after tax or $0.09 per share). The loss on
extinguishment of debt consists of an early termination penalty related to the prepayment of the Company’s senior
notes and write-off of related unamortized debt issuance costs.

* Incremental corporate expenses compared to 2003, of $11.9 million ($7.3 million after tax or $0.08 per share).
Incremental corporate expenses consist of salaries, beneﬁts and other expenses due to the addition of corporate
level personnel, professional fees, incremental msurance and other costs necessary to support an independent public
company.

* Incremental interest expense compared to 2003, of: $8 7 million ($5.3 million after tax or $0.06 per share) resulting
from the Company’s recapitalization in June of 2004.

2003 operating expenses include a gain on sale of real estate of $3.4 million-(32.1 million after tax or $0.03 per share).

Weighted average shares outstanding were 14,086,000 prior to the merger of ADESA, Inc. and ADESA Corporation on
May 24, 2004. See Note 2 (Basis of Organization and Presentation) in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Cash dividends decfared per share does not include dividendﬁ declared and paid to ALLETE totaling $117.5 miflion prior to
ADESA becoming an independent public company.

EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. The Company believes
that EBITDA is a useful supplement and meaningful indicator of earnings performance to be used by its investors, financial
analysts and others to analyze the Company’s financial performance and results of operations over time. In addition, EBITDA
is a useful supplement to net cash provided by operating activities to help investors understand the Caompany’s ability to
generate cash flows from operations that are available for taxes, debt service and capital expenditures. EBITDA is also used by
the Company’s creditors in assessing debt covenant compliance. The Company also uses EBITDA as a segment performance
measure. While the Company believes that EBITDA is an important financial measure, it is not presented as an alternative to
cash flow, income from continuing operations or net income as indicators of liquidity or operating performance, and should
not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of performance prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP). This measure may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies.

EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2005 reflects incremental corporate expenses, compared to 2004, of $3.9 million
and a loss on extinguishment of debt and gain on termination of swap totaling $2.4 million.

EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2004 reflects incremental corporate expenses, compared to 2003, of $11.9 million
and transaction costs and a loss on extinguishment of debt totaling $17.0 million.

EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2003 includes a galn on sale of real estate of $3.4 million.

For purposes of determining the ratio of earnings to fixed charges earnings consist of income before income taxes and fixed
charges. Fixed charges consist of interest on indebtedness, amortization of debt issuance costs which are charged to interest
expense and one-third of rent expense which is deemed representative of an interest factor. Fixed charges for 2005 include
incremental interest expense compared to 2004, of $7.9 million, incurred in the first half of 2005 resulting from the
Company's recapitalization and transition to an independent public company. Fixed charges for 2004 include incremental
interest expense compared to 2003, of $8.7 million resulting from the Company’s recapitalization in June 2004,

The used vehicle conversion rate represents the number of vehicles sold as a percentage of the number of vehicles entered or
offered for sale at used vehicle auctions. This measure may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other
companies.

Revenue per vehicle sold is derived by taking auction and related services revenues divided by the number of vehicles sold.
Revenue per vehicle sold does not include dealer financing revenues. This measure may not be comparable to similarly titled
measures reported by other companies. .

Revenue per loan transaction is computed by taking dealer financing revenues divided by the number of loan transactions.
This measure may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such statements are subject to certain risks, trends, and
uncertainties. In particular, statements made in this report on Form 10-K that are not historical facts
(including, but not limited to, expectations, estimates, assumptions and projections regarding the
industry, business, future operating results, potential acquisitions, and anticipated cash requirements)
may be forward-looking statements. Words such as “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,”
“believes,” "seeks,” “estimates,” and similar expressions identify forward-looking statements. Forward
looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results projected, expressed or implied by
these forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include,
but are not limited to, those discussed in Item 1a "Risk Factors” of this Report on Form 10-K. Some of
these factors include:

e general business conditions;
* trends in new and used vehicle sales and incentives, including wholesale used vehicle pricing;

¢ economic conditions including fuel prices and Canadian exchange rate and interest rate
fluctuations;

e competition;

¢ trends in the vehicle remarketing industry;

* business development activities, including acquisitions;
* investments in technology;

¢ litigation developments;

* weather;

¢ changes in applicable tax laws and regulations (including significant accounting and tax
matters),

¢ vehicle production; and

 other risks described from time to time in ADESA' filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC"), including the Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q to be filed by ADESA in
2006.

Many of these risk factors are outside of ADESA's control, and as such, they involve risks which are not
currently known to ADESA that could cause actual results to differ materially from those discussed or
implied herein. The forward-looking statements in this document are made as of the date hereof and
ADESA does not undertake to update its forward-looking statements.

The Company’s future growth depends on a variety of factors, including its ability to increase volume,
acquire additional auctions, manage expansion and integration of acquisitions, control costs in its
operations, introduce modest fee increases, expand its product and service offerings including
technological development and retain its executive officers and key employees. In addition, the
Company’s indebtedness will require it to use a portion of its operating cash flow to pay interest and
principal on debt instead of for other corporate purposes, including funding future expansion and
ongoing capital expenditures. Accordingly, the Company cannot predict whether its growth strategy will
be successful. In addition, the Company cannot predict what portion of overall sales will be conducted
through online auctions or other redistribution methods in the future and what impact this may have on
its auction business.




Executive Overview
Business

ADESA, Inc. is North America’s largest publicly traded provider of wholesale vehicle auctions and used
vehicle dealer floorplan financing. ADESA's business'is divided into two reportable business segments
that are integral parts of the vehicle redistribution industry: auction and related services and dealer
financing. The auction and related services segment consists primarily of ADESA's used vehicle and
salvage auctions. The Company is the second largest used vehicle auction network in North America
with 53 ADESA used vehicle auction sites and 37 salvage vehicle auction sites, and also provides services
such as inbound and outbound logistics, reconditioning, vehicle inspection and certification, titling,
administrative and salvage recovery services. Automotive Finance Corporation (“AFC") comprises the
dealer financing segment and is primarily engaged in the business of providing short-term, inventory-
secured financing, known as floorplan financing, to independent used vehicle dealers. AFC conducts
business at 84 loan production offices in the U.S. and Canada. A holding company is maintained
separately from the two reportable segments and inciudes expenses associated with being a public
company, such as salaries, benefits, and travel costs for the corporate management team, board of
directors’ fees, investor relations costs, and corporate insurance, treasury, legal, accounting, and risk
management costs.

ADESA believes it is well positioned in the used vehicle auction industry which has demonstrated
long-term stability. The Company is one of the top'three players in most markets in which it operates in
an industry with high barriers (facilities, technology and expertise) to entry. ADESA is able to serve the
diverse and multi-faceted needs of its customers through the wide range of services offered at its
facilities and is striving to differentiate itself as the premier diversified vehicle remarketing services
company. The Company's business model consistently generates substantial operating cash flow, which
can be used to fund growth initiatives, with minimal inventory risk.

Overview of 2005 Performance

ADESA completed its first full year as a stand-aloné public company in 2005. Similar to 2004, 2005 was
a year of change and challenge for ADESA and the vehicle remarketing industry. The Company
experienced continued constraints in the institutional vehicle supply, pressure on the wholesale used
vehicle market from original equipment manufacturers’ incentive pricing programs and weather-related
disruptions, along with volatile fuel prices due to the hurricanes in the gulf coast. Despite the
challenging operating environment, ADESA achieved several noteworthy accomplishments during 2005:

¢ Achieved record annual revenues of $968.8 million, representing growth of 5 percent (includes
1.3 percent growth from changes in Canadian currency)

¢ Income from continuing operations increased 16 percent to $126.1 million

* Achieved all-time record loan transaction volume of 1.1 million, representing growth of over
2 percent

» Acquired a used vehicle auction in Washington D.C. and salvage auctions in North Carolina and
Ohio

¢ Organically added one location for AFC and one salvage auction

¢ Improved efficiencies and increased capacity utilization at key fadilities including facility
expansions in Boston, Montreal and New Jersey auctions

e Expanded the Company's real-time interactive Internet bidding system, LiveBlock™ (offered over
1 million vehicles for sale on lanes equipped with the technology)

» Improved technology offerings with the roll-out of Auction Access® dealer registration program
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e Completed $130 million share repurchase program (repurchased 1.8 million shares for
approximately $42 million in 2005)

* Increased financial flexibility and lowered funding costs via amended and restated credit facility
* Reduced debt by almost $84 million including $50 million of discretionary payments
* Paid a total of $27 million in quarterly dividends ($0.075 per common share)

For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company reported record annual revenue of $968.8 million
and income from continuing operations of $126.1 million or $1.40 per diluted share, compared with
revenue of $925.5 million and income from continuing operations of $109.0 million or $1.19 per
diluted share for 2004. Results for 2005 included a net $1.5 million after-tax charge related to the
refinancing of the Company’s senior credit facility. Results for 2004 included $10.3 million of after-tax
debt prepayment charges, as well as initial public offering and spin-related charges. Cash provided by
operations was $136.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, compared with $175.5 million
for 2004.

Industry Outlook and Trends

Vehicles in operation (“VIO”) in North America and used vehicle sales continued to increase in 2005.
North America VIO increased approximately 3 percent in 2005 to 258 million vehicles. Used vehicle sales
also increased 3 percent to 46 million vehicles; however, the increase in used vehicle sales was primarily
due to the employee pricing initiatives in 2005 which primarily benefited the franchise dealers as
opposed to independent dealers. As a result, auction industry volumes decreased slightly from

9.7 million vehicles to an estimated 9.6 million in 2005.

ADESA is optimistic about the long-term outlook for the used vehicle auction industry. The Company
estimates that industry auction volumes should increase to 9.8 million vehicles in 2006. Industry sales of
rental and commercial fleet vehicles increased approximately 10 percent in 2005 and the Company
expects these vehicles will begin to impact auction industry volumes in 2006. While off-lease vehicles are
expected to decline again in 2006, lease penetration rates have been on the rise and the Company
expects that industry off-lease auction volumes will begin increasing in 2007. In addition, the Company
expects lower, stable new vehicle sticker prices in 2006 to result in less volatile used vehicle pricing
which should support auction conversion rates compared to the volatility driven by a pricing
environment that included heavy new vehicle incentives in 2005.

ADESA’s Vision and Strategic Initiatives

ADESA aims to be the industry leader in diversified remarketing and financing services based on
sustainable, profitable growth and best in class services. The Company is pursuing strategic initiatives
that are designed to capitalize on its underlying business strengths, improve profitability and position the
Company to take advantage of the expected growth in the vehicle remarketing industry. These initiatives
include: investing for growth; improving technology capabilities; operational improvement; enhancing
the dealer consignment focus and human resource development.

Investing for Growth

ADESA has committed to geographic expansion opportunities while also exploring complementary new
products and services. ADESA is seeking continued growth through various channels, including
acquisitions of independent auctions, developing combination used vehicle and salvage auction sites,
relocating existing facilities in growth markets and greenfield development. ADESA has been an active
consolidator in used vehicle auctions, which has fueled much of the Company’s historical growth.
ADESA continues to consider acquiring independent used vehicle auctions in markets where ADESA
does not have a presence or hopes to increase its penetration. ADESA also expects that consolidation
opportunities will be available for salvage auctions. In February 2006, ADESA purchased certain assets of
the N.E. Penn Salvage Company, an independently owned salvage auction in northeast Pennsylvania. In




addition, the Company is actively investing in complementary products and services. In February 2006,
ADESA purchased 15 percent of Finance Express, a start-up company which has developed dealer
management software that facilitates the loan origination process between independent dealers and a
variety of consumer lending institutions. The Company believes this investment provides a competitive
advantage to AFC relative to other floorplan companies and will enhance future product development
efforts targeted at its core customers, the independent used vehicle dealer. ADESA is optimistic about its
acquisition and investment opportunities and is focused on accelerating its deployment of capital.

Improving Technology Capabilities

ADESA is committed to investing additional capital and resources for emerging technologies and service
offerings in the vehicle redistribution industry. In the fourth quarter of 2005, the Company commenced
its roll-out of Auction Access®, a nationwide dealer registration program that eliminates the need for
dealers to re-register at multiple auction locations. In early 2006, the Company began rolling-out its
AutoVision® wireless vehicle inspection technology to its used vehicle auction operations. During 2005,
ADESA increased the number of dealers registered for online auctions and the number of lanes
equipped with LiveBlock, resulting in more than 1,075,000 vehicles being offered for sale in a dual
bidding forum during 2005, an increase of 59 percent compared to 2004. ADESA will continue to tailor
online services to each of its customers to include an optimal mix of physical auctions and online
services. Management believes that these areas of investment are critical to both maintaining the
Company's competitive position and positioning itself for growth.

Operational Improvement

ADESA believes centralization of certain activities such as purchasing, and standardization of best
practices such as auction vehicle processing, are vital to optimizing the Company’s service offerings for
customers and to driving long-term success. ADESA has committed to centralization and standardization
activities through the creation of a new corporate group solely dedicated to these opportunities. Current
initiatives aim at providing better information throughout the auction process and moving vehicles
faster, more accurately and more efficiently through the auction process to reduce the time-to-cash cycle
for vehicle sellers. ADESA's strategy for better leveraging the existing infrastructure includes efforts to
increase the utilization rates of its auction facilities by organizing more auctions per facility, conducting
auctions of trucks, boats, other recreational vehicles, and equipment and combining some of the
Company’s used vehicle and salvage auction operations.

Dealer Consignment Focus

The Company expects the volume of vehicles sold by dealers at auction to grow over the next year.
ADESA believes there is an opportunity to generate more business from dealers by increasing the
first-time conversion rates of their consignments and providing more attractive services and economics
as compared with other redistribution channels. Current initiatives include the roll-out of Auction Access
throughout the U.S. auction sites. Auction Access allows dealers to utilize a single identification card to
register at any of the Company’s auction locations. In addition, in early 2006 ADESA started the roll-out
of a customer relationship management software which enhances the ability of the Company’s sales
staff to match buyers and sellers while improving ADESA's target marketing.

Human Resource Development

The Company believes in the value of investing in its employees. In 2005, the Company initiated a
tuition reimbursement program and a leadership development program that will involve more key
employees in 2006. The Company will continue to.invest in training throughout the organization in
2006 including formalized sales and other types of training to enhance core competencies and various
skill sets. :
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Seasonality

Generally, the volume of vehicles sold at the Company’s auctions is highest in the first and second
calendar quarters of each year and slightly lower in the third quarter. Fourth quarter volume of vehicles
sold is generally lower than all other quarters. This seasonality is affected by several factors including
weather, the timing of used vehicles available for sale from selling customers, holidays, and the
seasonality of the retail market for used vehicles, which affect the demand side of the auction industry.
Used vehicle auction volumes tend te decline during prolonged periods of winter weather conditions. In
addition, mild weather conditions and decreases in traffic volume can each lead to a decline in the
available supply of salvage vehicles because fewer traffic accidents occur, resulting in fewer damaged
vehicles overall. As a result, revenues and operating expenses related to volume will fluctuate
accordingly on a quarterly basis, and the Company’s earnings are generally highest in the second
calendar quarter. The fourth calendar quarter typically has the lowest earnings as a result of the lower
auction volume and additional costs associated with the holidays and winter weather.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth operations data for the periods indicated (in milfions):

December 31, Change December 31, Change
2005 2004 $ % 2004 2003 $ %

Operations Data:
Auction and related services Revenue

US $661.2 3647.4 $647.4 $638.7
Canada . ........ ... ... .. ... ... ... 181.6 1615 1615 161.5
Dealer financing revenue
U 117.2 109.7 109.7 97.3
Canada .. ...... .. ... ... ... ... ... 8.8 6.9 6.9 7.0
Total revenue . . ... ... L 968.8 9255 433 5% 9255 9045 210 2%
Cost of services* . ... ... ... . ... . ... . 4735 4544 191 4% 454.4 471.7 (17.3) (4%)
Selling, general and administrative. . ... ... .. 2271 2222 49 2% 2222 1965 257 13%
Depreciation and amortization ... ......... 408 359 49 14% 359 350 09 3%
Operating profit . .. ........ ... ... .... 2274 2130 144 7% 213.0 2013 117 __§%
Netincome ........ ... ... ... ... ..... $125.5 $105.3 $20.2 E%$105.3 $115.1 ($9.8) ﬁ%)

* Exclusive of depreciation and amortization

The following table sets forth operations data as a percentage of total revenue for the periods
indicated:

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2005 2004 2003

" Operations Data:

Auction and related services revenue . . .. ... ... ... .. 87.0% 87.4% 885%
Dealer financing revenue . . ... ....... .. .. .. ... .. 13.0% 126% 11.5%

Total revenue . ... ... .. 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Costof services* ... ... ... . ... . ... ... . ... .. 48.9% 491% 52.1%
Selling, general and administrative .......... ...... 23.4% 24.0% 21.7%
Depreciation and amortization ... .......... ... ... 4.2% 3.9% 3.5%
Operating profit . . ... ... ... ... 23.5% 23.0% 22.3%

* Exclusive of depreciation and amortization




The Company’s revenue is derived from auction fees and related services at its auction facilities and
dealer financing services at AFC. AFC's net revenue consists of gain on sale of finance receivables sold
and interest and fee income less provisions for credit losses. This net presentation of AFC’s revenues is
customary for finance companies. Operating expenses for the Company consist of cost of services,
selling, general and administrative expenses and depreciation and amortization. Cost of services is
composed of payroll and related costs, subcontract services, supplies, insurance, property taxes, utilities,
maintenance and lease expense related to the auction sites and loan offices. Cost of services excludes
depreciation and amortization. Selling, general and administrative expenses are composed of indirect
payroll and related costs, sales and marketing, information technology services and professional fees.

Year Ended December 31, 2005
Operating Revenue

Auction and Related Services

December 31,

(In millions except volumes aﬁd per vehicle amounts) ' 2005 2004 Growth
Auction and related services revenue . ... ... ... ...... $ 8428 % 8089 4%
Vehicles sold
Used. .. ... 1,732,519 1,759,371 (2%)
Salvage . . ....... J R 201,312 200,092 1%
Total vehiclessold . . . ... ... ... . ... .. .. .. ... ... 1,933,831 1,959,463 (1%)
Used vehicle conversion percentage . ... ............. 63.1% 62.5%
Revenue per vehiclesold. . .. ....... ... ... ... ..... $ 436 § 413 6%

Revenue from auction and related services increased $33.9 million, or 4 percent, to $842.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2005, compared with $808.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2004. This increase in revenue was a result of a 6 percent increase in revenue per vehicle sold during
2005, offset by a 1 percent decrease in vehicles sold.

Revenue per vehicle sold increased $23, or 6 percent, for the year ended December 31, 2005 compared
with the year ended December 31, 2004, The 6 percent increase in revenue per vehicle sold resulted in
increased auction and related services revenue of approximately $44.5 million including fluctuations in
the Canadian exchange rate, which positively impacted revenue by approximately $12.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2005, compared with the year ended December 31, 2004. The increase in
revenue per vehicle sold is primarily attributable to selected fee increases driven in part by higher
wholesale used vehicle prices, the favorable effect of changes in the Canadian currency exchange rates
and increased transportation revenue. The continuing mix shift from institutional vehicles to dealer
vehicles could constrain growth in revenue per vehicle sold as institutional sellers generally exhibit a
higher demand for ancillary services for logistics and reconditioning.
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The total number of vehicles sold decreased 1 percent in 2005 compared with 2004, resulting in a
decrease in auction and related services revenue of approximately $10.6 million. The industry-wide
decline in off-lease vehicles and declines in repossessed vehicle volumes available for sale at auctions
continued during 2005, but was partially offset by revenues from the Company’s 2005 acquisitions
totaling $11.3 million. The used vehicle conversion percentage, calculated as the number of vehicles
sold as a percentage of the number of vehicles entered for sale at the Company’s used vehicle auctions,
increased to 63.1 percent for the year ended December 31, 2005 from 62.5 percent for the year ended
December 31, 2004.

Dealer Financing

December 31,

(In millions except volumes and per loan amounts) 2005 2004 % Change
Dealer financing revenue

Gain on sale of finance receivables . . .. ... ....... ... .. $ 69.3 $ 67.5

Interest and fee income . . . ... ... ... .. L 56.2 48.6

Other revenue . .. .. o 0.5 1.7

Provision for credit losses . . . . . ... . ... ... ... .. — (1.2)
Total dealer financing revenue . . . .......... .. .. . ...... $ 126.0 3 116.6 8%
Loan transactions. . . . . . . o e 1,096,432 1,072,838 2%
Revenue per loan transaction ... ..................... $ 115 § 109 6%

Dealer financing revenue increased to $126.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, compared
with $116.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. The 8 percent increase in dealer financing
revenue was driven by a 6 percent increase in revenue per loan transaction and a 2 percent increase in
the number of loan transactions for the year ended December 31, 2005, compared with the year ended
December 31, 2004. The increase in loan transactions was primarily the result of an increase in floorplan
utilization by AFC’s existing dealer base.

Revenue per loan transaction increased $6, or 6 percent, primarily driven by an increase in gain on sale
of $1.8 million, increased interest of $4.2 million (the Federal Funds rate increased approximately 200
basis points since December 31, 2004), increased fee income of $3.4 million and a decrease in the
provision for credit losses of $1.2 million, partially offset by a reduction in other revenue of $1.2 million
compared with the year ended December 31, 2004.

Cost of Services

Cost of services increased $19.1 million, or 4 percent, for the year ended December 31, 2005,
compared with the year ended December 31, 2004. Fluctuations in the Canadian exchange rate
increased cost of services by approximately $6.1 million. Cost of services was also impacted by increased
transportation costs due to higher fuel prices and incremental cost of services from the Company’s 2005
acquisitions.

Cost of services at the auction and related services segment increased $17.3 million, or 4 percent, to
$448.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005. Fluctuations in the Canadian exchange rate
increased cost of services at the auction and related services segment by approximately $6.0 million. A
$5.8 million increase in transportation costs, which include fuel costs, was also a leading driver
increasing cost of services. The addition of the Washington D.C., used vehicle auction, the Charlotte
salvage auction and the Ohio salvage auctions also contributed to the increase in cost of services, along
with slight mix change in the salvage business. This activity was partially offset by the impact of fewer
vehicles sold, the used vehicle market mix shift toward more dealer vehicles and an increase in the used
vehicle conversion percentage compared to 2004.

Cost of services at the dealer financing segment increased $1.8 million, or 8 percent, to $25.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2005 primarily due to increased compensation and related employee
benefit cost and vehicle verification and collection expense associated with increased volume.




Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $4.9 million, or 2 percent, for the year ended
December 31, 2005, compared with the year ended December 31, 2004, This increase was primarily
due to compensation and related employee benefit cost increases, the impact of 2005 acquisitions, and
an increase of $2.2 million associated with fluctuations in the Canadian exchange rate.

Selling, general and administrative expenses at the auction and related services segment increased

$1.1 million, or less than 1 percent, to $185.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 primarily
due to the impact of 2005 acquisitions and an increase of $2.0 million associated with fluctuations in
the Canadian exchange rate, partially offset by decreases in incentive compensation.

Selling, general and administrative expenses at the dealer financing segment increased $0.8 million, or
4 percent, to $21.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 primarily due to certain legal and
transaction costs, employee training, travel and relocation costs.

Selling, general and administrative expenses at the holding company increased $3.0 million, or

18 percent, to $19.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 primarily due to compensation and
related employee benefit cost increases and increased travel expenses. Selling, general and administrative
expenses for the first six months of 2004 did not include approximately $3.9 million of incremental
corporate expenses incurred in the first six months of 2005 to support ADESA as an independent public
company. Incremental corporate expenses consisted of salaries, benefits and other expenses due to the
addition of corporate level personnel, professional fees, incremental insurance and other costs necessary
to support an independent public company. In addition, 2004 included $3.0 million of transaction costs
(primarily legal and professional fees) associated with the Company’s initial public offering.

As the company initiates strategic actions such as corporate development, standardization and
centralization, and dealer consighment sales and training initiatives, selling, general and administrative
expenses are expected to increase in the short-term. However, the Company believes the long-term
benefits justify the current investments and should help the Company capitalize on the expected
increase in industry volumes in 2007.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization totaled $40.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2005,
representing an increase of $4.9 million, or 14 percent, from the $35.9 million reported for the year
ended December 31, 2005. The increase in depreciation and amortization is a result of the Company’s
increased capital spending in 2005 including over $20 million related to information technology which
generally has a shorter depreciable life. The Company continues to invest in its core information
technology capabilities, as well as new technology service offerings, lane and capacity expansion,
relocations and acquisitions. As a result of this investment, the Company expects upward pressure on
depreciation and amortization expense in the short-term as many of the expenditures have been in
hardware and software with relatively short depreciable lives.

Operating Profit

Operating profit increased $14.4 million, or 7 percent, for the year ended December 31, 2005,
compared with the year ended December 31, 2004. As a percentage of revenue, operating profit
increased to 23.5 percent in 2005, compared with 23.0 percent in 2004. Operating profit at the auction
and related services segment increased $10.6 million, or 7 percent, to $172.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 primarily as a result of the 4 percent increase in revenue. Operating profit at the
dealer financing segment increased $7.4 million, or 11 percent, to $75.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2005 primarily as a result of the 8 percent increase in revenue and a 1.6 percent
decrease in operating expenses as a percentage of revenues. The increases in operating profit at the
reportable segments were offset by a $3.6 million increase in operating expenses, consisting primarily of
compensation and related employee benefit costs and travel expenses at the holding company.

As the Company continues to acquire other independent auctions, it expects these acquisitions to be
financially accretive in their first full year of operation. However, integration expenses could cause
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short-term pressure on operating margins, particularly during the integration and maturation time
periods. In addition, as a result of current real estate valuations, the Company has noted an increase in
assumed leases in conjunction with its acquisitions. Historically, the Company generally purchased the
real estate and facilities in conjunction with its acquisitions. This trend could have a longer-term impact
on operating profit margins.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $5.8 million, or 23 percent, for the year ended December 31, 2005,
compared with the year ended December 31, 2004, as the Company carried additional debt in the first
half of 2005 relative to the first half of 2004.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

In the third quarter of 2005, the Company recorded a $2.9 million pretax charge for the write-off of
certain unamortized debt issuance costs associated with the Company’s June 2004 credit facility and
certain expenses related to the July 2005 amended and restated credit facility. The Term Loan B facility
was repaid in conjunction with the amended and restated credit facility and the related interest rate
swap agreement was terminated in the third quarter of 2005 resulting in a pretax gain of $0.5 million.
The $0.5 million gain was recorded in "Other income, net” and when combined with the $2.9 million
charge, resulted in a net pretax charge of $2.4 million related to the amendment and restatement of
the credit facility.

in the third quarter of 2004, ADESA redeemed its $90 million 7.7 percent Series A Senior Notes due
2006 and its $35 million 8.1 percent Series B Senior Notes due 2010, which resulted in expenses of
$14.0 million before taxes, including an early termination penalty and the write-off of unamortized debt
issuance costs. ‘

Income Taxes

The effective income tax rate on income from continuing operations declined to 37.5 percent for the
year ended December 31, 2005, compared with an effective tax rate of 38.8 percent for the year ended
December 31, 2004. The decrease in the effective tax rate was primarily the result of the following: the
recognition of certain 2004 provision to tax return differences, the elimination of valuation allowances
for state net operating losses and tax credits, and changes in estimates regarding tax contingencies. The
Company continues to implement certain tax planning strategies as a result of its ongoing review of its
tax structure and tax position in both the United States and Canada as an independent public company.

Discontinued Operations

In August 2005, ADESA sold ComSearch, Inc. a non-core business providing professional claims
outsourcing services, automotive parts-locating and desk-auditing services to the property and casualty
insurance industry. In February 2003, ADESA approved a plan to discontinue the operations of its vehicle
importation business. The financial results of ComSearch and the vehicle importation business have been
classified as discontinued operations. Net loss from discontinued operations for the year ended
December 31, 2005 includes the operating loss of ComSearch, the loss on sale of the ComSearch
business and interest on the vehicle importation business adverse judgment. Net loss from discontinued
operations for the year ended December 31, 2004 includes a $6.9 million pretax charge, $4.2 million
net of tax, related to the vehicle importation business adverse judgment, including the related accrued
interest and legal costs, partially offset by $0.8 million in pretax income generated by ComSearch. See
Note 21 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further description of the importation
legal matter. ‘




The following summarizes financial information for the discontinued operations (in millions):

December 31,

2005 2004
Operating revenues . ... ............... e $29 $6.1
Loss from discontinued operations before income taxes . . . ...... ... ... .. $(0.7) 36.1)
Net loss from discontinued operations . . . . ... ... ... ... ... ....... $(0.6) $(3.7)

Significant Items Affecting Comparability

The Company incurred various charges and incremental expenses in 2004 and 2005 related to its initial
public offering, subsequent separation from ALLETE and subsequent restructuring of its debt that affect
the comparability of its reported resuits of operations. The impact of these transactions on income from
continuing operations is as follows (in millions):

December 31,

72005 2004
Charges:

Transaction-related and debt prepayment expenses .................. $29 $170
Gain on termination of swap . . . . . ... L (0.5) -
24 170

Incremental expenses:
Corporate exXpensesS . . . .o e 3.9 -
Interest expense. . . . ... ... ... ... P 7.9 -
‘ ' 11.8 -
Tax benefit of above items . ... ... ... .... e (5.5) (6.7)
Decrease to income from continuing operations: ... ... ... ... ...... $ 8.7 10.3

In the third quarter of 2005, the Company recorded a charge for the write-off of certain unamortized
debt issuance costs associated with the Company’s June 2004 credit facility and certain expenses related
to the amended and restated credit facility. In addition, an interest rate swap agreement related to the
former Term Loan B facility was terminated in the third quarter of 2005. Debt prepayment expenses in
2004 consisted of an early termination penalty related to the prepayment of the Company’s senior notes
and write-off of related unamortized debt issuance ¢osts. The transaction-related expenses in 2004
consisted primarily of legal and professional fees assouated with the Company’s initial public offering
and separation from ALLETE.

Incremental corporate expenses were incurred in the first half of 2005 and consisted of salaries, benefits
and other expenses due to the addition of corporaté level personnel, professional fees, incremental
insurance and other costs necessary to support an independent public company, while incremental
interest expense incurred in the first half of 2005 is the result of the Company's recapitalization and
transition to an independent public company.
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Year Ended December 31, 2004
Operating Revenue

Auction and Related Services

December 31,

(In millions except volumes and per vehicle amounts) 2004 2003 Growth
Auction and related services revenue. . ... .. ... .. ... $ 808.9 § 800.2 1%
Vehicles sold
Used . . ... 1,759,371 1,809,975 (3%)
Salvage . .. .. 200,092 190,911 5%
Total vehiclessold . .. ... ... ... ... .. ... ... ... 1,959,463 2,000,886 (2%)
Used vehicle conversion percentage . . ............. 62.5% 61.0%
Revenue per vehiclesold . . ... ... ... ... .. ... .. $ 413 § 400 3%

Revenue for auction and related services increased $8.7 million, or 1 percent, to $808.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2004, compared with $800.2 million for the same period in 2003. A

.3 percent increase in revenue per vehicle sold resulted in increased auction and related services revenue
of approximately $25.3 million including fluctuations in the Canadian exchange rate which increased
revenue by approximately $11.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared with the year
ended December 31, 2003. Total auction vehicles sold decreased 2 percent for the year ended
December 31, 2004, resulting in an offsetting decrease in auction and related services revenue of
approximately $16.6 million compared with the year ended December 31, 2003.

Revenue per vehicle sold grew 3 percent for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared with the
year ended December 31, 2003 primarily due to selected price increases implemented earlier in the year
and favorable changes in the Canadian exchange rate. In addition, the Company’s increased penetration
rate for vehicle inspections and e-business services such as AutoVin and LiveBlock contributed to the
increase in revenue per vehicle sold for the year ended December 31, 2004. The shift in mix from
institutional vehicles to dealer vehicles resulted in a decrease in ancillary services for logistics and
reconditioning for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared with the year ended December 31,
2003, which offset some of the increases due to pricing and the increased penetration of other services.

The total number of vehicles sold decreased 2 percent in the year ended December 31, 2004 compared
with the same period in 2003. The number of used vehicles sold in 2004 declined from the number
sold in 2003 primarily due to the industry decline in off-lease vehicles and a decline in vehicles
repossessed by the Company’s customers available for redistribution, which were partially offset by an
increase in dealer vehicles sold and salvage vehicles sold. The used vehicle conversion percentage
increased to 62.5 percent for 2004 from 61.0 percent in 2003, driven by an unusually high first quarter
2004 conversion percentage of 68.4 percent compared with 62.4 percent in 2003.

Dealer Financing

December 31,

{In millions except volumes and per foan amounts) 2004 2003 Growth
Dealer financing revenue

Gain on sale of finance receivables. .. ... ... ... ... $ 675 % 606

Interest and fee income . . . ... ..., 48.6 41.0

Other revenue . . . . ... .. .. . . .. 1.7 2.4

Provision for credit losses . . ... ... . ... ... ... ... (1.2) 0.3
Total dealer financing revenue ... ................. $ 116.6 $ 1043 12%
Loan transactions .. ... ... ... . .. . ... . ... 1,072,838 850,090 13%

Revenue per loan transaction . .................... $ 109 § 110 (1%)




Dealer financing revenue increased $12.3 million, or 12 percent, for the year ended December 31,
2004, compared with the year ended December 31, 2003. The increase in dealer financing revenue was
driven by a 13 percent increase in loan transactions for the year ended December 31, 2004 compared
with the year ended December 31, 2003. Increases in loan transactions were a result of an increase in
the number of active dealers combined with an increase in floorplan utilization by the existing dealer
base.

Revenue per loan transaction decreased $1 primarily due to an increase in the provision for credit losses
of approximately $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2004.

Cost of Services

Cost of services (excluding dépreciation and amortization) decreased $17.3 million, or 4 percent, for the
year ended December 31, 2004 compared with the year ended December 31, 2003. The impact of the
used vehicle market mix shift toward more dealer vehicles (fewer ancillary services are utilized by dealer
sellers), higher average used vehicle conversion rates and management cost controls favorably impacted
cost of services by approximately $11.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2004. In addition,
lower vehicle volumes also accounted for a $9.2 million decrease in cost of services for the year ended
December 31, 2004 compared with the year ended December 31, 2003. These favorable impacts on
cost of services as compared with the year ended December 31, 2003 were partially offset by the
impact of fluctuations in the Canadian exchange rate, which increased cost of services by approximately
$5.7 million. :

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $25.7 million, or 13 percent, for the year ended
December 31, 2004, compared with the same period in 2003, primarily due to incremental expenses
associated with the June 2004 transactions (initial public offering, notes offering and new credit facility)
and the Company's September 2004 separation from ALLETE. Selling, general and administrative
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2003 did not include approximately $3.0 million of
transaction costs and $11.9 million of incremental corporate expenses to support ADESA as an
independent public company that were incurred in 2004. Transaction costs consist primarily of legal and
professional fees associated with the initial public offering and the Company’s separation from ALLETE.
Incremental corporate expenses consist of salaries, benefits and other expenses due to the addition of
corporate level personnel, professional fees, incremental insurance and other costs necessary to support
an independent public company. Additionally, a $3.4 million gain on the sale of real estate was
recognized in 2003, which decreased selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended
December 31, 2003.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased $0.9 million, or 3 percent, for the year ended
December 31, 2004, compared with the year ended December 31, 2003, primarily due to increased
depreciation expense associated with owning certain auction facilities previously leased and the addition
of new facilities and equipment. “

QOperating Profit

Operating profit increased $11.7 million, or 6 percent, for the year ended December 31, 2004,
compared with the same period in 2003. As a percentage of revenue, operating profit increased to
23.0 percent in 2004 compared with 22.3 percent in 2003, primarily as a result of increased revenues
and lower cost of services, partially offset by increased selling, general and administrative expenses from
incremental corporate costs and transaction costs incurred in 2004. The mix shift from institutional to
dealer vehicles combined with higher average used vehicle conversion rates and management cost
controls contributed to the improvement in operating profit margin in 2004. The improvement in
operating profit also reflects management'’s success in reducing direct costs at the auction sites to match
volumes while also modestly increasing revenue.
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Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $9.4 million, or 59 percent, in the year ended December 31, 2004, compared
with the year ended December 31, 2003, as the Company is carrying additional debt related to its 2004
recapitalization (notes offering and 2004 credit facility).

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

ADESA redeemed its $90 million 7.7 percent Senior Notes, Series A, due 2006 and its $35 million

8.1 percent Senior Notes, Series B, due 2010 on August 18, 2004. The redemption resulted in debt
prepayment expenses of $14.0 million before income taxes. The expenses included an early termination
penalty and the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs.

Income Taxes

The effective income tax rate was 38.8 percent for the year ended December 31, 2004, a decrease from
the effective rate of 39.4 percent for the year ended December 31, 2003. The decrease in the effective
tax rate in 2004 is attributable to the restructuring of certain tax planning strategies and other tax
components associated with the Company’s separation from ALLETE.

Discontinued Operations

In August 2005, ADESA sold ComSearch, Inc. a non-core business providing professional claims
outsourcing services, automotive parts-locating and desk-auditing services to the property and casualty
insurance industry. In February 2003, ADESA approved a plan to discontinue the operations of its vehicle
importation business. In addition, ADESA management committed to a plan to sell its vehicle auto
transportation business which was completed in June 2002. The financial results of ComSearch, the
vehicle importation business and the vehicle auto transportation business have been classitied as
discontinued operations.

Net loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2004 includes a $6.9 million
pretax charge, $4.2 million net of tax, related to the vehicle importation business adverse judgment,
including the related accrued interest and legal costs, partially offset by $0.8 million in pretax income
generated by ComSearch. See Note 21 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further
description of the importation legal matter. Net income from discontinued operations for the year ended
December 31, 2003 includes $1.5 million in pretax income generated by ComSearch, in addition to
$0.4 million pretax resulting from a litigation settlement in the Company’s discontinued vehicle transport
business partially offset by exit charges incurred related to the Company’s vehicle importation business.

The following table summarizes financial information for the discontinued operations (in millions):

Year Ended

December 31,
. 2004 2003
Operating revenues . . .. ... . $6.1 394
(Loss) income from discontinued operations before income taxes ... ... ... .. $(6.1) $1.9
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations . . ... .................. $(3.7) $1.2

Significant Items Affecting Comparability

The Company incurred various charges and incremental expenses in 2004 related to its initial public
offering and subsequent separation from ALLETE that affect the comparability of its reported results of
operations. In 2003 the Company recognized a gain on sale of real estate that also affected the




comparability of its results. The impact of these transactions on income from continuing operations is as
follows (in millions):

2004 2003
Charges:
Gainon sale of real estate’. . .. ............ e $ — 334
Transaction-related eXpenses . . .. .. .. ... 3.0 —
Debt prepayment @Xpenses . . . . ... 14.0 —
170 (3.4)
Incremental expenses
Corporate eXPENSES . . . . 11.9 —
INterest eXPense . . . . o 8.7 —
20.6 —
Tax (benefit) expense of above items .. ... ... . ... (14.7) 1.3
Decrease (increase) to income from continuing operations . .. . ................. $22.9 (2.1)

The transaction-related expenses consisted primarily of legal and professional fees associated with the
Company’s initial public offering and separation from ALLETE. The debt prepayment expenses in 2004
consisted of an early termination penalty related to the prepayment of the Company's senior notes and
write-off of related unamortized debt issue costs. Incremental corporate expenses for 2004, in
comparison to 2003, consisted of salaries, benefits and other expenses due to the addition of corporate
level personnel, professional fees, incremental insurance and other costs necessary to support an
independent public company; while incremental interest expense is the result of the Company’s
recapitalization and transition to an independent public company.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The Company believes that the strongest indicators of liquidity for its business are cash on hand, cash
flow from operations, working capital and amounts available under its credit facility.

December 31,

(Dollars in milfions) . 2005 2004

Cash and cash equivalents ... ........... e $240.2 33045
Restricted cash . ... .. e e $ 57 § 49
Working capital . .. ....... ... ... ... .. e $302.0 $358.2
Amounts available under credit facility . . ........ ... . ... .. ... .. .. $199.3 $139.0
Cash flow from operations . . ... ... ... . .. .. ... $136.5 $175.5

Working Capital

A substantial amount of the Company’s working capital is generated internally from payments for
services provided. In addition, ADESA has a $350 million revolving line of credit pursuant to the
amended and restated $500 million credit facility, from which $138 million was drawn as of
December 31, 2005. There were outstanding letters of credit totaling approximately $12.7 million at
December 31, 2005, which reduce the available borrowings under the credit facility. The Company’s
Canadian operations have additional letters of credit outstanding totaling $2.5 million at December 31,
2005, which do not impact available borrowings under the credit facility. The credit facility contains
certain financial covenants including a covenant requiring ADESA to maintain a minimum fixed charge
coverage ratio. These financial covenants affect the Company’s operating flexibility by, among other
things, restricting its ability to incur expenses and indebtedness that could be used to grow the
business, as well as to fund general corporate purposes. At December 31, 2005, the Company was in
compliance with the covenants contained in the credit facility.

On July 25, 2005, the Company entered into an amended and restated $500 million credit facility,
pursuant to the terms and conditions of an amended and restated credit agreement (the “Credit
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Agreement”) with Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, and a syndicate of lenders. The Credit
Agreement amends and restates ADESA's $525 million credit facility, dated as of June 21, 2004. The
Credit Agreement has a five year term that expires on June 30, 2010. Under the terms of the Credit
Agreement, the lenders committed to provide advances and letters of credit in an aggregate amount of
up to $500 million. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement, ADESA may request
that the lenders’ commitments under the Credit Agreement be increased (or additional lenders be
added to the Credit Agreement that provide additional commitments), provided that in no event may
the aggregate amount of the lenders’ commitments under the Credit Agreement at any time exceed
$825 million. Borrowings under the Credit Agreement may be used to refinance certain of ADESAS
outstanding debt, to finance working capital, capital expenditures and acquisitions permitted under the
Credit Agreement and for other corporate purposes.

The Credit Agreement provides for a five year $150 million term loan and a $350 million revolving
credit facility. The term loan will be repaid in 20 quarterly installments, with the final payment due on
June 30, 2010. The revolving credit facility may be used for loans, and up to $25 million may be used
for letters of credit. The revolving loans may be borrowed, repaid and reborrowed until june 30, 2010,
at which time all amounts borrowed must be repaid.

The revolving credit facility and the term loan facility bear interest at a rate equal to LIBOR plus a
margin ranging from 87.5 basis points to 150 basis points depending on the Company’s total leverage
ratio. As of December 31, 2005, ADESA’s margin based on its leverage ratio was 125 basis points. The
Term Loan B facility was eliminated in the amended $500 million facility.

On December 31, 2005, $135.0 million was outstanding on the term loan and $138 million was
outstanding on the revolving credit facility. As a result of amending the credit agreement, the Company
incurred a third quarter pretax charge of approximately $2.9 million related to the write-off of certain
unamortized debt issue costs and certain related expenses associated with the amended and restated
senior credit agreement. The Company expects that cash on hand together with cash generated from
operations and amounts available under its amended and restated $500 million senior credit facility will
allow ADESA to meet its current working capital needs and those of its subsidiaries in the foreseeable
future.

The majority of the Company’s working capital needs are short-term in nature, usually less than a week
in duration. Due to the decentralized nature of the business, payments for services are received at each
auction and loan production office and are deposited locally. Most of the financial institutions place a
temporary hold on the availability of the funds deposited that can range anywhere from one to five
business days, resulting in cash in the Company’s accounts and on its balance sheet that is unavailable
for use until it is made available by the various financial institutions. QOver the years, the Company has
increased the amount of funds that are available for immediate use and is actively working on initiatives
that will continue to decrease the time between the deposit of and the availability of funds received
from customers. There are outstanding checks (book overdrafts) to sellers and vendors included in
current liabilities. Because the majority of these outstanding checks for operations in the U.S. are drawn
upon bank accounts at financial institutions other than the financial institutions that hold the
unavailable cash, the Company cannot offset the cash and the outstanding checks on its balance sheet.

AFC offers short-term inventory-secured financing, also known as floorplan financing, to used vehicle
dealers. Financing is primarily provided for terms of 30 to 60 days. AFC principally generates its funding
through the sale of its U.S. dollar denominated receivables. For further discussion of AFC’s securitization
arrangements, see “Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements”.




Summary of Cash Flows

The Company strives to continuously improve cash flow from operations. ADESA's strategy includes
growing its vehicle auction and dealer financing businesses both internally by expanding facilities,
services and operations, and externally through acquisitions.

Year Ended
i December 31,
(in millions) : 2005 2004 Change
Net cash provided by {(used for): :
Operating activities . ... ... ... .. ... . . ... ... $136.5 31755 % (39.0)
Investing activities . . .. ... ... . ... ... (79.1) (28.9) (50.2)
Financing activities . ... . ... ... ... ... .. . . ... (122.3) 453 (167.6)
Effect of exchange rateoncash . ...... ... ... ... ... .. 0.6 0.1) 0.7
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . .. ... .. $ (64.3) $191.8 $(256.1)

Cash flow from operating activities was $136.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2005,
compared with $175.5 million for the same period in 2004. The primary reason for the decrease in cash
flow from operations was the change in operating assets and liabilities. Operating cash flow was
unfavorably impacted by a $49.2 million decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses, an

$8.9 million increase in finance receivables held for sale, a $2.5 million increase in retained interests in
finance receivables sold, as well as a $15.7 million increase in trade receivables and other assets.
Operating activities were also negatively impacted by an $11.1 million decrease in losses on
extinguishment of debt, offset by a $24.8 million increase in deferred income taxes and a $20.2 million
increase in net income.

On an annual basis, the Company’s auctions and loan production offices handle over $20 billion of sales
proceeds and revenues. As part of the fees earned for the services ADESA provides relative to the sale
of each vehicle at auction, ADESA assumes the risk-associated with collecting the gross sales proceeds
from buyers and likewise assumes responsibility for distributing to sellers the net sales proceeds of
vehicles. The fees for each vehicle are collected by adding the buyer-related fees to the gross sales
proceeds due from the buyer and deducting the seller-related fees from the gross sales proceeds prior to
distributing the net sales proceeds to the seller. The amount ADESA reports as revenue for each vehicle
only represents the fees associated with the Company’s services and does not include the gross sales
price of the consigned vehicle. As a result, the accounts receivable from buyers are much larger on a
per vehicle basis than the combined seller and buyér-related fees associated with each transaction. While
ADESA' revenues primarily include the fees earned for the services provided, the Company’s working
capital cash flows include the full purchase price of the vehicles along with the fees earned by the
Company. !

Net cash used for investing activities was $79.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2005,
compared with net cash used by investing activities of $28.9 million for 2004, This change is primarily
the result of cash disbursements for acquisitions totaling $29.1 million, as well as an increase in capital
expenditures of $24.1 million. In addition, the Company received $9.8 million more from the sale of
property, equipment and computer software in 2004 compared to 2005. For a discussion of the
Company's capital expenditures, see “Capital Expenditures” below. There were no significant investing
cash flows related to discontinued operations in the periods presented.

Cash used by financing activities was $122.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2005, compared
with cash provided by financing activities of $45.3 million for the same period in 2004. During 2005 the
Company has reduced its outstanding debt by $83.6 million. In contrast, the Company increased its
debt by $145.2 million during 2004 as the Company’s separation from ALLETE and related restructuring
of its debt was completed. In addition, the Company repurchased $43.6 million of its common stock
and paid dividends to stockholders totaling $27.0 million during 2005. There were no significant
financing cash flows related. to discontinued operations in the periods presented.
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Other Financial Data

EBITDA is defined as earnings before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization. The
Company believes that EBITDA is a useful supplement and meaningful indicator of earnings
performance to be used by its investors, financial analysts and cthers to analyze the Company’s financial
performance and results of operations over time. In addition, EBITDA is a useful supplement to net cash
provided by operating activities to help investors understand the Company’s ability to generate cash
flows from operations that are available for taxes, debt service and capital expenditures. EBITDA is also
used by the Company’s creditors in assessing debt covenant compliance. The Company also uses EBITDA
as a segment performance measure.

While the Company believes that EBITDA is an important financial measure, it is not presented as an
alternative to cash flow, income from continuing operations or net income as indicators of liquidity or
operating performance, and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for measures of
performance prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“"GAAP”). This
measure may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies.

The following table reconciles EBITDA to income from continuing operations and net income
{in miflions):

For the Year Ended
December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Netincome . ... ... . . . . .. . . .. .. ... $125.5 $105.3 $115.1
Add back:

Loss (income) from discontinued operations . . ... ......... 0.6 3.7 (1.2)
Income from continuing operations . . . .. ...... ... ..., $126.1 $109.0 31139
Add back:

(NCOMe tax eXPeNnsSe . . . . . . . e 75.8 69.1 74.2

INterest eXpense . . . .. . .. 31.2 25.4 16.0

Depreciation and amortization ... ...... ... ...... ... ... 40.8 35.9 35.0
EBITDA . . .. . . $273.9 32394 $239.1

EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2005 reflects incremental corporate expenses (in comparison
to 2004) of $3.9 million and a loss on extinguishment of debt and gain on termination of swap totaling
$2.4 million, EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2004 reflects incremental corporate expenses (in
comparison to 2003) of $11.9 million, and transaction costs and a loss on extinguishment of debt
totaling $17.0 million. EBITDA for the year ended December 31, 2003 includes a gain on sale of real
estate of $3.4 million.




A reconciliation of net cash piovided by operating activities, another comparable GAAP measure, to
EBITDA for each of the fiscal periods indicated is presented below (in millions):

For the Year Ended
December 31,

. 2005 2004 2003
Net cash provided by operating activities ... ....... ... .. $136.5 31755 $131.9

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions . . . 67.8 (8.5) 30.4
Bad debt expense . ... ....... . ... ..... S (1.2) 4.2) (3.4)
Interest expense . . . ... ... ... e 31.2 254 16.0
INCoOMe tax exXpPense . . .. . . .. 75.8 69.1 74.2
Deferred income tax . . ................. L (27.9) (3.1  (11.5)
Discontinued operations, net of taxes . .. .......... ... ..., 0.6 3.7 (1.2)
Compensation associated with equity programs . . ... ... ... .. (2.8) (1.6) -
Loss on extinguishmentofdebt . .. ...... ... ... ... . .... (2.9) (14.0) -
Other non-cash, net . .. . ... ... ... . ... . ... ... . ... .... (3.2) (2.9) 2.7

EBITDA . . . $273.9 $239.4 $239.1

Capital Expenditures

Capital expenditures (excluding acquisitions) for the year ended December 31, 2005 totaled

$55.3 million compared with $31.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2004 and were funded
primarily from internally generated funds. The Company continues to invest in its core information
technology capabilities, as well as in lane and capacity expansion and real estate. Capital expenditures
are expected to total between approximately $150 and $200 million for 2006 through 2008.
Anticipated expenditures are primarily attributable to lane expansions and ongoing improvements at

existing vehicle auction facilities and improvements in information technology systems and infrastructure.

Future capital expenditures could vary substantially based on capital project timing and if the Company
is required to undertake corrective action or incur environmental costs in connection with any
outstanding or future liabilities.

Acquisitions

On May 3, 2005, the Company completed the purchase of certain assets of ABC Washington
Dulles, LLC to gain access to the Washington, D.C. auction market. The Company assumed an
operating lease through 2025 for the 83-acre auction facility located in Sterling, Virginia, which
commenced operations in 2001, offering six auction lanes and reconditioning facilities. The assets
purchased included the related operating equipment and all customer relationships related to the
auction. Initial annual lease payments for the facility are approximately $1.9 million per year. The
Company did not assume any other material liabilities or indebtedness in connection with the
acquisition. Financial results for this acquisition have been included in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements since the date of acquisition.

On June 30, 2005, the Company acquired an independently owned salvage auction facility serving
Charlotte and western North Carolina to expand its reach in the southeastern U.S. The assets included
an 128-acre facility, the related operating equipment, accounts receivable, and all customer relationships
related to the auction. The Company did not assume any material liabilities or indebtedness in
connection with the acquisition. Commencing in the third guarter of 2005, financial results for this
acquisition have been included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

On November 2, 2005, the Company completed the purchase of certain assets of the “Chio
Connection,” a group of four independently owned salvage auctions that handle approximately 20,000
salvage units annually to expand ADESA Impact’s regional coverage. The assets include the operating
equipment and all customer relationships related to the auctions. In addition, the Company has
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operating lease obligations related to the four facilities through 2015. Initial annual lease payments for
the facilities total approximately $0.5 million per year. Two of the purchase agreements include
contingent payments related to the volume of certain vehicles sold subsequent to the purchase date.
The Company did not assume any other material liabilities or indebtedness in connection with the
acquisition. Financial results for this acquisition have been included in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements since the date of acquisition.

in 2005, ADESA acquired the previously mentioned auctions for a total cost of $29.1 million, in cash.
The purchase price of the acquisitions was allocated to the acquired assets based upon fair market
values, including $7.3 million to other intangible assets, representing the fair value of acquired customer
relationships and non-compete agreements, which will be amortized over their expected useful lives
ranging from 2 to 20 years. The purchase price allocations resulted in aggregate goodwill of

$17.2 million. The goodwill was assigned to the auction and related services reporting segment and is
expected to be fully deductible for tax purposes. Pro forma financial results for the acquisitions were not
material.

Contractual Obligations

The table below sets forth a summary of the Company’s contractual debt and operating lease
obligations as of December 31, 2005. Some of the figures included in this table are based on
management’s estimates and assumptions about these obligations, inciuding their duration, the
possibility of renewal and other factors. Because these estimates and assumptions are necessarily
subjective, the obligations the Company may actually pay in future periods could vary from those
reflected in the table. The following summarizes the Company’s contractual cash obligations as of
December 31, 2005 (in millions):

Payments Due by Period

Less than More than
Contractual Obligations Total 1year 1-3Years 4-5 Years 5 Years
Long-term debt
Senior subordinated notes (a) . . . . . $125.0 $ - $ - $ - $125.0
Term loan facility (o) ... ... .. .. 135.0 30.0 60.0 45.0 -
Revolving credit facility (b) . . .. . .. 138.0 - - 138.0 -
Capital lease obligation (©). ... . .. 34.5 - ~ - 345
Interest payments relating to long-
termdebt(d) ...... ... ..... 120.1 24.9 46.4 34.9 13.9
Interest rate swaps (e) .. ......... (0.8) (0.9) 0.1 - -
Operating leases f) ... .......... 157.0 16.4 26.6 18.1 95.9
Total contractual cash obligations . . $708.8 $70.4 $133.1 $236.0 $269.3

@ This borrowing is further explained in Note 12 “Long-Term Debt” of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. The table assumes the long-term debt is held to maturity.

®  The credit facility is further explained in Note 12 “Long-Term Debt” of the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements and in "Working Capital”. The table assumes (i) the term
loan facility will be repaid in 20 quarterly installments as provided in the Credit Agreement,
(i) the Company will not draw any further amounts on the revolving credit facility and (iii) the
current outstanding amount on the facility is held to maturity.

©  This obligation, related to the Atlanta auction facility, is further explained in Note 11 “Property
and Equipment” of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

@ Interest payments on long-term debt are projected based on the contractual rates of the debt
securities. (Note: interest on the capital lease is not included as it is offset by interest received
from the related bonds.) Interest rates for the variable rate debt instruments were projected




through 2006 based on information available from lenders and held constant at the 2006
projected rates for 2007 — 2010 due to their unpredictable nature. These amounts assume no
additional borrowings on the $350 million revolver due to the amount of cash the Company is
expected to generate; however, unused revolver fees are included in the interest payments as
are standby letter of credit fees and net swap income.

©  The fair value of the interest rate swap agreements is estimated using pricing models widely
used in financial markets and represents the estimated amount the Company would receive/
pay to terminate the agreements at the reporting date. The $105 million notional amount
swap agreement does not mature until December 2006 and the $40 million notional amount
swap agreement does not mature until May 2008. The interest rate swaps are further
explained in Note 13 “Financial Instruments” of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements and in Item 7a "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk”.

®  QOperating leases are entered into in the normal course of business. ADESA leases some of its
auction facilities, as well as other property and equipment under operating leases. Some lease
agreements contain options to renew the lease or purchase the leased property. Future
operating lease obligations would change if the renewal options were exercised and/or if the
Company entered into additional operating lease agreements. For additional information, see
Note 14 “Leasing Agreements” of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company believes its sources of liquidity from its cash and cash equivalents on hand, working
capital, cash provided by operating activities, and availability under its credit facility are sufficient to
meet its short and long-term operating needs for the foreseeable future. In addition, the Company
believes the previously mentioned sources of liquidity will be sufficient to fund the Company’s capital
requirements, debt service and dividend payments for the next five years.

On February 8, 2006, the Company’s board of directors declared a first quarter dividend of $0.075 per
common share payable March 15, 2006, to shareholders of record on February 21, 2006. The Company
anticipates paying guarterly dividends at a rate of $0.075 per common share in 2006 resulting in total
cash payments for dividends of approximately $6.7 million each quarter.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

AFC sells the majority of its U.S. dollar denominated finance receivables on a revolving basis and
without recourse to a wholly owned, bankruptcy remote, consolidated, special purpose subsidiary

(AFC Funding Corporation), established for the purpose of purchasing AFC’s finance receivables.
Effective July 8, 2005, AFC and AFC Funding Corporation amended their securitization agreement. As
part of the amendment, the expiration date of the agreement was extended from January 2006 to
June 30, 2008. This agreement is subject to annual renewal of short-term liquidity by the liquidity
providers and allows for the revolving sale by AFC Funding Corporation to a bank conduit facility of up
to @ maximum of $5C0 million in undivided interests in certain eligible finance receivables subject to
committed liquidity. AFC Funding Corporation had $425 million of committed liquidity at December 31,
2005 and 2004. On February 1, 2006, committed liquidity was increased to $450 million. Receivables
that AFC Funding sells to the bank conduit facility qualify for sales accounting for financial reporting
purposes pursuant to SFAS 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishment of Liabilities and as a result are not reported on the Company’s consolidated balance
sheet. '

The following chart depicts the typical process:

Bankruptcy I Off-Balance
Remote Sheet Transaction
I Transaction I
I Interest in I -
Receivables I ) , Receivables I | Securities
AFC Funding Bank Conduit >
AFC I Corparation | " Facility Investors
Special Pu Entit e
Proceeds I (Speci "pose Entity) Proceeds ' Proceeds
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At December 31, 2005 and 2004, AFC managed total finance receivables of $655.7 million and

$583.8 million, of which $581.9 million and $510.8 million had been sold without recourse to AFC .
Funding Corporation. Undivided interests in finance receivables were sold by AFC Funding Corporation
to the bank conduit facility with recourse totaling $399.8 million and $359.8 million at December 31,
2005 and 2004. The outstanding receivables sold, the retained interests in finance receivables sold and a
cash reserve equal to 1 percent of total sold receivables serve as security for the receivables that have
been sold to the bank conduit facility. After the occurrence of a termination event, as defined in the
agreement, the bank conduit facility may, and could cause the stock of AFC Funding Corporation to be
transferred to the bank conduit facility, though as a practical matter the bank conduit facility would look
to the liquidation of the receivables under the transaction documents as its primary remedy.

Receivables under management, sold, held and retained interests in finance receivables sold were as
follows {in millicns):

December 31,

Finance Receivables 2005 2004
Total receivables managed ... ... ... .. ... ... $655.7 $5838
Less: amountssold. . . ... ... ... (399.8) (359.8)
Less: retained interests in finance receivables sold. . . .. ... .. (56.8) (50.4)
Finance receivables held . . . .. ... ... .. ... .. .. .. .. .. .. 199.1 173.6
Less: allowance forlosses . .. ... ... . . ... ... .. ... (2.4) (3.9
Net finance receivables . ... ... . ... ... ... ... .. ... .. $196.7 $169.7

Finance receivables held include $51.1 million and $34.4 million classified as held for sale and

$148.0 million and $139.2 million classified as held for investment at December 31, 2005 and 2004.
AFC's allowance for losses of $2.4 million and $3.9 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004 includes an
estimate of losses for finance receivables held for investment.

Proceeds from the revolving sale of receivables to the bank conduit facility were used to fund new loans
to customers. AFC and AFC Funding Corporation must maintain certain financial covenants including,
among others, limits on the amount of debt AFC can incur, minimum levels of tangible net worth, and
other covenants tied to the performance of the finance receivables portfolio. The securitization
agreement also incorporates the financial covenants of ADESA's credit facility. At December 31, 2005,
the Company is in compliance with the covenants contained in the securitization agreement.

Critical Accounting Estimates
It is important to understand ADESA's accounting policies in order to understand its financial statements,

In preparing the financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
management must often make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues, expenses and related disclosures at the date of the financial statements and during
the reporting period. Some of those judgments can be subjective and complex. Consegquently, actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Management has discussed the development and selection of its critical accounting estimates with the
Audit Committee of ADESA's board of directors. In addition to the critical accounting estimates, there
are other items used in the preparation of ADESA's consolidated financial statements that require
estimation, but are not deemed critical. Changes in estimates used in these and other items could have
a material impact on ADESA's financial statements.

ADESA continually evaluates the accounting policies and estimates it uses to prepare the consolidated
financial statements. In cases where management estimates are used, they are based on historical
experience, information from third-party professionals, and various other assumptions believed to be
reasonable. The following summarizes those accounting policies that are most subject to important




estimates and assumptions and are most critical to the reported results of operations and financial
condition. See Note 3 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further description of these
items and the Company’s other accounting policies.

Uncollectible Receivables and Allowance for Credit Losses and Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for credit losses and doubtful accounts for estimated losses
resulting from the inability of customers to make required payments. The allowances for credit losses
and doubtful accounts are based on management's evaluation of the receivables portfolio under current
economic conditions, the volume of the portfolio, overall portfolio credit quality, review of specific
collection matters and such other factors which, in management's judgment, deserve recognition in
estimating losses. Specific collection matters can be impacted by the outcome of negotiations, litigation
and bankruptcy proceedings.

Due to the nature of the business at ADESA's auctions, substantially all of the Company’s trade
receivables are due from vehicle dealers, salvage buyers, institutional customers and insurance
companies. ADESA generally has possession of vehicles or vehicle titles collateralizing a significant
portion of these receivables. At the auction sites, risk. is mitigated through a pre-auction registration
process that includes verification of identification, bank accounts, dealer license status, acceptable credit
history, buying history at other auctions and the written acceptance of all of the auction’s policies and
procedures.

AFC’s allowance for credit losses includes an estimate of losses for finance receivables currently held on
the balance sheet of AFC and its subsidiaries. Additionally, an accrued liability is recorded for the
estimated losses for loans sold by AFC's subsidiary, AFC Funding Corporation. These loans were sold to
a bank conduit facility with recourse to AFC Funding Corporation and will come back on the balance
sheet of AFC Funding Corporation at fair market value if they become ineligible under the terms of the
collateral arrangement with the bank conduit facility. AFC controls credit risk through credit approvals,
credit limits, underwriting and collateral management monitoring procedures, which includes holding
vehicle titles where permitted.

A 10 percent increase in the allowance for credit losses and doubtful accounts and the accrued liability
for loans sold to the bank conduit facility would result in an increase in the provision for credit losses of
$0.6 million and a $0.3 million reduction in revenues: and an aggregate decrease in earnings of

$0.6 million. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources”, “Off-balance Sheet Arrangements” and Note 9 in
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

Impairment of Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, Goodwill and Other
- Intangible Assets, the Company assesses goodwill for impairment at least annually and whenever events
or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the goodwill may not be recoverable. Important
factors that could trigger an impairment review include significant under-performance relative to
historical or projected future operating results; significant negative industry or economic trends;
significant decline in the Company’s stock price for a sustained period; and the Company’s market
valuation relative to its book value. In assessing the recoverability of goodwill, ADESA must make
assumptions regarding estimated future cash flows and earnings, changes in the Company’s business
strategy and economic conditions affecting market valuations related to the fair values of ADESA's four
reporting units (U.S. used vehicle auctions, Canada used vehicle auctions, Impact salvage auctions and
AFC) which are aggregated into its two reportable business segments, auction and related services and
dealer financing. If the fair value of a reporting unit is determined to be less than the carrying amount,
an impairment charge would be recorded in the periéd identified. In response to changes in industry
and market conditions, ADESA may be required to strategically realign its resources and consider
restructuring, disposing of or otherwise exiting businesses, which could result in an impairment of
goodwill. As of December 31, 2005, ADESA had $532.6 million in goodwill that will be subject to
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future impairment tests. The Company completed its annual goodwill impairment testing in the second
guarter of 2005 and management concluded there was no resulting impairment. No significant changes
in events or circumstances have occurred that would indicate the carrying amount of the Company’s
goodwill has been impaired since the test was completed.

The Company reviews long-lived assets for possible impairment whenever circumstances indicate that
their carrying amount may not be recoverable. If it is determined that the carrying amount of a
long-lived asset exceeds the total amount of the estimated undiscounted future cash flows from that
asset, the Company would recognize a loss to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the fair
value of the asset. Management judgment is involved in both deciding if testing for recovery is
necessary and in estimating undiscounted cash flows. The Company's impairment analysis is based on
the current business strategy, expected growth rates and estimated future economic conditions. No
material adjustments were made to the carrying value of long-lived assets in 2005, 2004 or 2003. See
Note 3 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

Self-Insurance Programs

ADESA self-insures a portion of employee medical benefits under the terms of its employee health
insurance program, as well as a portion of its automobile, general liability and workers’ compensation
claims. The Company purchases individual stop-loss insurance coverage that limits the exposure on
individual claims. The Company also purchases aggregate stop-loss insurance coverage that limits the
total exposure to overall automobile and general liability claims. The cost of the stop-loss insurance is
expensed over the contract periods.

ADESA records an accrual for the claims expense related to its employee medical benefits, automobile,
general liability and workers’ compensation claims based upon the expected amount of all such claims.
Trends in healthcare costs could have a significant impact on anticipated claims. If actual claims are
higher than anticipated, the Company’s accrual might be insufficient to cover the claims costs, which
would have an adverse impact on the operating results in that period.

Legal Proceedings and Other Loss Contingencies

ADESA is subject to the possibility of various legal proceedings and other loss contingencies, many
involving litigation incidental to the business and a variety of environmental laws and regulations.
Litigation and other loss contingencies are subject to inherent uncertainties and the outcomes of such
matters are often very difficult to predict and generally are resolved over long periods of time. The
Company considers the likelihood of loss or the incurrence of a liability, as well as the ability to
reasonably estimate the amount of loss, in determining loss contingencies. Estimating probable losses
requires the analysis of multiple possible outcomes that often are dependent on the judgment about
potential actions by third parties. Contingencies are recorded in the consolidated financial statements, or
otherwise disclosed, in accordance with SFAS 5, Accounting for Contingencies. ADESA accrues for an
estimated loss contingency when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss
can be reasonably estimated. Management regularly evaluates current information available to
determine whether accrual amounts should be adjusted. If the amount of an actual loss is greater than
the amount accrued, this could have an adverse impact on the Company’s operating results in that
period. Legal fees are expensed as incurred. See Note 21 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for further discussion.

Income Taxes

All income tax amounts reflect the use of the liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial and income tax reporting purposes.

ADESA operates in multiple tax jurisdictions with different tax rates and must determine the allocation
of income to each of these jurisdictions based on estimates and assumptions. In the normal course of




business, the Company will undergo scheduled reviews by taxing authorities regarding the amount of
taxes due. These reviews include gquestions regarding the timing and amount of deductions and the
allocation of income among various tax jurisdictions. Tax reviews often require an extended period of
time to resolve and may result in income tax adjustments if changes to the allocation are required
between jurisdictions with different tax rates.

ADESA records its tax provision based on existing laws, experience with previous settlement agreements,
the status of current IRS (or other taxing authority) examinations and management’s understanding of
how the tax authorities view certain relevant industry and commercial matters. Although the Company
has recorded all probable income tax liabilities in accordance with SFAS 5 and SFAS 109, Accounting for
Income Taxes, these accruals represent accounting estimates that are subject to inherent uncertainties
associated with the tax audit process, and therefore include certain contingencies. ADESA establishes
reserves when, despite management’s belief that tax return positions are fully supportable, the Company
believes that certain positions are likely to be challenged and that the Company may not prevail. The
Company adjusts these reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances. See Note 3 in the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

New Accounting Standards

ADESA discloses pro forma net income and earnings per share in accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and SFAS 148,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure. In December 2004, the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS 123(R), Share-Based Payment. This statement revises
SFAS 123 and supersedes Accounting Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees. SFAS 123(R) requires that the cost of employees’ services received in exchange for
an award of equity instruments be recognized in the income statement. Compensation cost will be
measured based on the grant-date fair value of the equity instruments issued. The cost will be
recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the
award.

In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin 107 (“SAB 107"), which offers guidance on
SFAS 123(R). SAB 107 was issued to assist issuers by simplifying some of the implementation challenges
of SFAS 123(R) while enhancing the information that investors receive. Key topics of SAB 107 include
discussion on the valuation models available to issuers and guidance on key assumptions used in these
valuation models, such as expected volatility and expected term, as well as guidance on accounting for
the income tax effects of SFAS 123(R) and disclosure considerations, among other topics.

On March 9, 2005, the board of directors of the Company (the “board’) accelerated the vesting of
certain unvested and "out-of-the-money” stock options previously awarded to employees and officers
that have an exercise price of $24. The awards accelerated were made under the ADESA, Inc. 2004
Equity and Incentive Plan in conjunction with ADESA's initial public offering (“IPO”) in June 2004. As a
result, options to purchase approximately 2.9 million shares of the Company’s common stock became
exercisable immediately. The options awarded in conjunction with the IPQ to the Company’s named
executive officers and the majority of the other officers would have vested in equal increments at
June 15, 2005, 2006 and 2007. The options awarded to certain other executive officers and employees
had different vesting terms. One-third of the options awarded to the other executive officers and
employees vested on December 31, 2004. The remaining two-thirds of the options awarded to these
executive officers and other employees in conjunction with the IPO would have vested in equal
increments at December 31, 2005 and 2006. All of these options expire in June 2010. All other terms
and conditions applicable to the outstanding stock option grants remain in effect.

The Company and its board considered several factors in determining to accelerate the vesting of these
options. Primarily, the acceleration will enhance the comparability of the Company’s financial statements
in prior and subsequent periods. The options awarded to the executive officers were special, one-time
grants in conjunction with the Company’s IPO. As such, these grants are not indicative of past grants
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when ADESA was a subsidiary of ALLETE prior to June 2004 and are not representative of the
Company’s expected future grants. The Company and beard also believe that the acceleration is in the
best interest of the stockholders as it will reduce the Company’s reported stock option expense in future
periods mitigating the impact of SFAS 123(R).

As a result of the acceleration, the Company disclosed incremental, pro forma stock-based employee
compensation expense of approximately $7.7 million, net of tax, in the first quarter of 2005. The
acceleration also resulted in a $2.0 million, $1.1 million and $1.1 million reduction in the after-tax pro
forma stock-based employee compensation expense disclosed in the second, third and fourth quarters
of 2005, respectively. The Company did not record any stock-based employee compensation expense in
the consolidated statements of income associated with the acceleration of these options because the
intrinsic value (excess of market price of common stock over the exercise price of option) of the options
at the date of acceleration was not greater than the original intrinsic value of the options. The Company
expects that the acceleration will reduce the stock option expense it otherwise would have been
required to recognize in its consolidated statements of income in conjunction with adopting SFAS 123(R)
by approximately $4.8 million in 2006 and $1.2 million in 2007 on a pretax basis.

On April 14, 2005, the SEC approved a new rule for public companies that delayed the effective date of
SFAS 123(R) to annual, rather than interim, periods that begin after June 15, 2005. As such, the
Company will adopt SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006. Once adopted, the Company will be required to
record compensation cost as expense for the portion of outstanding unvested awards, based on the
grant-date fair value of those awards. The Company expects to apply the modified prospective transition
method of SFAS 123(R), which would allow the Company to prospectively record expense for the
compensation costs related to the portion of outstanding unvested awards at January 1, 2006 and new
awards granted after the date of adoption, without restating any prior periods. In adopting SFAS 123(R),
companies must choose among alternative valuation models and amortization assumptions. The
Company expects to continue utilizing the Black-Scholes valuation model to determine the fair value of
its stock options. The Company currently amortizes compensation expense for stock options using a
graded-vesting approach. For new stock option grants after adoption, the Company expects to record
compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. The impact of adopting
SFAS 123(R) may vary from the pro forma disclosure presented in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements for the reasons described herein.

The Company’s stock-based compensation awards, including both stock options and restricted stock
units, have a retirement eligible provision, whereby awards granted to employees who have reached the
age of 55 and met certain service requirements with either ADESA and or its former parent, ALLETE,
automatically vest when they retire from the Company. The Company has previously accounted for this
type of arrangement by recognizing compensation cost (for both pro forma and recognition purposes)
over the nominal vesting period (i.e. over the full stated vesting pericd of the award) and, if the
employee retired before the end of the vesting period, recognizing any remaining unrecognized
compensation cost at the date of retirement. Upon adoption of SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006, new
awards will be subject to the non-substantive vesting period approach, which specifies that an award is
vested when the employee’s retention of the award is no longer contingent on providing subsequent
service. Recognizing that many companies followed the nominal vesting period, the SEC issued guidance
for converting to the non-substantive vesting period approach. The Company has revised its approach to
apply the non-substantive vesting period approach to all new grants after adoption, but will continue to
follow the nomina! vesting period approach for the remaining portion of unvested cutstanding awards.
The transition to the non-substantive vesting period approach will have an insignificant impact going
forward due to the decision to accelerate the vesting of underwater IPO stock options. An additional
requirement of SFAS 123(R) is that estimated forfeitures be considered in determining compensation
expense. As previously permitted, the Company recorded forfeitures when they occurred. Because of the
change to the non-substantive vesting period approach, the application of estimated forfeitures, the
acceleration of vesting of the underwater IPO stock options, the fact that our options vest over three
years and additional option grants are expected to be made subsequent to January 1, 2006, the results




of expensing stock-based co‘mpensation after adoption of SFAS 123(R) may have a materially different
effect on net income in future years than that presented in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements. 3

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 153, Fxchanges of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of
APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions. SFAS 153 requires that exchanges of
nonmonetary assets be measured based on the fair value of the assets exchanged. Further, it expands
the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets to nonmonetary assets that do
not have commercial substance. The provisions of the Statement are effective for nonmonetary asset
exchanges occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of the provisions of
SFAS 153 is not expected to have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements or results
of operations. ! ‘

In May 2005, the FASB issued SFAS 154, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections. SFAS 154 replaces
Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 20 ("APB 20"), Accounting Changes, and SFAS 3, Reporting
Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements, and changes the requirements for the accounting
for and reporting of a change in accounting principle. This Statement applies to all voluntary changes in
accounting principle and changes required by a new accounting pronouncement in the unusual instance
that the pronouncement does not include specific transition provisions. SFAS 154 requires retrospective
application of changes in accounting principle to prior periods’ financial statements, unless it is
impracticable to determine either the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change.
SFAS 154 also requires that any change in accounting method of depreciation, amortization or depletion
for long-lived assets be accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate. SFAS 154 is
effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors made in fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2005. The Company will adopt SFAS 154 on January 1, 2006.

Item 7a. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Foreign currency

The Company's foreign currency exposure is limited and arises from transactions denominated in foreign
currencies, particularly intercompany loans, as well as from translation of the results of operations from
the Company’s Canadian and, to a much lesser extent, Mexican subsidiaries. However, fluctuations
between U.S. and non-U.S. currency values may adversely affect the Company’s results of operations
and financial position. In addition, there are tax inefficiencies in repatriating cash from non-U.S.
subsidiaries. To the extent such repatriation is necessary for ADESA to meet its debt service or other
obligations, these tax inefficiencies may adversely affect ADESA. The Company has not entered into any
foreign exchange contracts to hedge changes in the Canadian or Mexican exchange rates. The 2005
average exchange rate for the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar increased 7 percent as compared
with 2004. As a result, Canadian currency translation positively affected net income by approximately
$2.1 million in 2005. The 2004 average exchange rate for the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar
increased 8 percent as compared with 2003. As a result, Canadian currency translation positively
affected net income by approximately $1.3 million in 2004. Currency exposure of the Company's
Mexican operations is not material to the results of operations.

Interest rates

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on borrowings. Accordingly, interest rate fluctuations affect
the amount of interest expense the Company is obligated to pay. The Company uses interest rate swap
agreements to manage its exposure to interest rate risk. The Company designates its interest rate swap
agreements as cash flow hedges. The earning impact of interest rate swaps designated as cash flow
hedges is recorded upon the recognition of the interest related to the hedged debt. Any ineffectiveness
in a hedging relationship is recognized immediately into earnings. There was no significant
ineffectiveness in 2005 or 2004.
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In June 2004, the Company entered into two interest rate swap agreements with notional amounts of
$105 million and $60 million to manage its exposure to interest rate movements on its variable rate
debt. In conjunction with the amended and restated senior credit facility, the Company terminated its
interest rate swap for the former Term Loan B facility (swap agreement with notional amount of

$60 million) in the third quarter of 2005. As a result, the unrealized gain of approximately $0.5 million
recorded in "Other comprehensive income” was realized in “Other income, net” during the third quarter.
The remaining interest rate swap agreement contains amortizing provisions and matures in

December 2006.

in November 2005, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount
of $40 million to manage its exposure to interest rate movements on its variable rate credit facility. The
new swap has been designated as a cash flow hedge and matures in May 2008.

The fair value of the interest rate swap agreements is estimated using pricing models widely used in
financial markets and represents the estimated amount the Company would receive or pay to terminate
the agreements at the reporting date. At December 31, 2005, the fair value of the interest rate swap

- agreements consisted of a $0.9 million gain recorded in “"Other assets” and a $0.1 million loss recorded

in “Other liabilities” on the consolidated balance sheet. At December 31, 2004, the fair value of the
interest rate swap agreements was a $0.2 million loss which was recorded in “Qther liabilities” on the
consolidated balance sheet. In accordance with the provisions of SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities, changes in the fair value of the interest rate swap agreements
designated as cash flow hedges are recorded in "Other comprehensive income”. Unrealized gains or
losses on interest rate swap agreements are included as a component of "Accumulated other
comprehensive income”. At December 31, 2005, there was a net unrealized gain totaling $0.5 million,
net of taxes of $0.3 million. At December 31, 2004, there were unrealized losses totaling $0.1 million,
net of taxes of $0.1 million. The Company is exposed to credit loss in the event of non-performance by
the counterparties; however, non-performance is not anticipated. The Company has only partially
hedged its exposure to interest rate fluctuations on its variable rate debt. A sensitivity analysis of the
impact on the Company’s variable rate debt instruments to a hypothetical 100 basis point increase in
short-term interest rates for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 would have resulted in an
increase in interest expense of approximately $2.1 million and $2.0 million.
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Management'’s Report to Stockholders
Management’s Report on Financial Statements and Practices

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of ADESA, Inc., (the "Company”) were prepared by
management, which is responsible for their integrity and objectivity. The statements were prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and include amounts that are based on
management’s best judgments and estimates. The other financial information included in the annual
report is consistent with that in the financial statements. Management also recognizes its responsibility
for conducting the Company’s affairs according to the highest standards of personal and corporate
conduct.

To comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Company
designed and implemented a structured and comprehensive compliance process to evaluate its internal
control over financial reporting across the enterprise.

Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The
Company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and preparation of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

> pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company;

> provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the Company; and

> provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of
compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2005. In making its assessment, management utilized the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in Internal Control—integrated
Framework. Based on our assessment and those criteria, management concluded that the Company
maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005.




PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, has issued a
report on management’s assessment of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control éver financial reporting as of December 31, 2005.
This report appears under “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” on the following
page of this Form 10-K. j :

/s/ David G. Gartzke

David G. Gartzke
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of ,
the Board (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Cameron C. Hitchcock

Cameron C. Hitchcock
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer .
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Scott A. Anderson

Scott A. Anderson
Controller (Principal Accounting Officer)
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_Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of ADESA, Inc.:

We have completed an integrated audit of ADESA, Inc.’s 2005 consolidated financial statements and
financial statement schedule and of its internal control over financiat reporting as of December 31, 2005
and audits of its 2004 and 2003 consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Our opinions, based on our audits, are
presented below.

Consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule

in our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements
of income, cash flows and changes in stockholders’ equity present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of ADESA, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the Company) at December 31, 2005 and 2004,
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2005 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial statement schedule appearing under Item 15(a)2)
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with
the related consolidated financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. QOur responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits. We
conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Qversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Internal control over financial reporting

Also, in our opinion, management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 8, that the Company maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005 based on criteria established
in Internal Control—integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO), is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on those criteria.
Furthermore, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2005, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the COSO. The Company's management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal contro! over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express opinions on management’s assessment
and on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reperting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with the standards of
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in ali material respects. An audit of internal control over financial
reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal
control, and performing such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal




control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (i) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely. detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the
risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Gueolel donlongen) LL?

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Indianapolis, Indiana
March 15, 2006
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ADESA, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income
{(In millions, except per share data)

Operating revenues
Auction and related services . . . ... .. L
Dealer financing . . ... ... .. ..

Total operating revenues . .. ... ... . ...

Operating expenses
Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) . ... ...
Selling, general and administrative . . . ... ... ... ... ... . ....
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . e

Total operating @Xpenses . .. . .. . ..

Operating profit . . ... ... ... . .

Interest expense . . . . .. ..
Other income, net. . ... ... .. . . . . .
Loss on extinguishment of debt . . ... ..... ... . ... .. ... .. ...

Income from continuing operations before income taxes ...........
Income taxes . . . . . . ... e

Income from continuing operations . . .. . ... ... . L L
{Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes ... ..
Net income . .. ... . .

Earnings per share—basic
[ncome from continuing operations . . . ... ... ...
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes . . . .

Net inCome . . . .. . ..
Earnings per share—diluted

Income from continuing operations . . ... ... ... ...
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes . . . .

Net income . . . .. .. .

Dividends declared per common share (Note 18) . . . ......... ... ..

See notes to consolidated financial statements

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
$842.8 $8089  $800.2
126.0 116.6 104.3
968.8 925.5 904.5
473.5 454.4 471.7
227.1 222.2 196.5
40.8 359 35.0
741.4 712.5 703.2
227.4 213.0 201.3
31.2 25.4 16.0
(8.6) (4.5) (2.8)
29 14.0 -
201.9 178.1 188.1
75.8 69.1 74.2
126.1 109.0 113.9
(0.6) (3.7) 1.2
$125.5 $1053  $115.1
$140 $119 $1.29
- (0.04) 0.01
$140 $ 115 $ 1.30
$140 $1.19 $1.29
(0.01) (0.04) 0.01
$139 $1.15 $ 130
$ 030 $0.075 -




ADESA, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In millions, except share data)

Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents . .. ............... e
Restricted cash . ... ... ... . ... ... ... .... e
Trade receivables, net of allowances of $3.9 (2005) and $7.5 (2004) . . ... ...
Finance receivables, net of allowances of $2.4 (2005) and $3.9 (2004} . . ... ..

Retained interests in finance receivables sold . . . .. ........ ... ... .. ..
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . .
Other current @ssets . . . .. ...
Current assets of discontinued operations. . . . . . . e

Total current assets .. ... R R

Other assets

Goodwill . . e,

Other intangible assets, net of accumulated amortization of $29.8 (2005)

and $25.1 (2004) . . . .. e
Other assets . . . . . . o

Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $155.2 (2005)

and $129.1 (2004) . . . . .
Total @SSets . . . .

See notes to consolidated financial statements

December 31,

2005

2004

$ 240.2 $§ 3045

5.7 49
188.6 160.2
196.7 169.7

56.8 50.4
21.6 28.0
14.5 13.7
- 0.9
7241 732.3
532.6 514.6
42.0 315
50.9 58.2
- 1.8
625.5 606.1
595.9 576.6

$1,945.5 $1,915.0
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In millions, except share data)

December 31,

2005 2004

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable . ... .. $ 2703 § 2273
Accrued employee benefits and compensation expenses . . .. ... ... ... ... .. 35.0 40.2
Other accrued expenses . . . . . .. . .. . 36.7 37.4
Income taxes payable .. ... . 33 254
Current maturities of long-termdebt . .. . ... ... ... .. L 70.0 371
Current liabilities of discontinued operations . . ... ... ... ............ 6.8 6.7

Total current liabilities . . . . ... .. L 422.1 374.1
Non-current liabilities
Long-term debt . .. . . .. 362.5 479.0
Deferred tax liabilities . . ... ... ... ... . 63.6 421
Other liabilities . . . .. . .. 7.4 8.4

Total non-current liabilities. . . . . ... ... ... L 433.5 529.5
Commitments and contingencies (Note 21). . ... .. .. ... ... ... ......... - -
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value: Authorized shares: 50,000,000 Issued shares:

NONE ettt - -
Common stock, $0.01 par value: Authorized shares: 500,000,000 Issued shares:

94,868,104 (2005 & 2004) . . . ... ... 1.0 1.0
Additional paid-in capital .. .. ... ... . 671.0 675.1
Retained earnings . . . . ... . . . e " 480.7 382.2
Unearned compensation . ... ... ... . ... .. (2.7) (3.1
Treasury stock, at cost:

Shares: 5,275,585 (2005)

4,343,478 (2004) . . .. .. (110.7) (85.9)
Accumulated other comprehensive income . . ... ... L 50.6 421

Total stockholders' equity . ... . ... .. .. . 1,089.9 11,0114

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .. ....... .. ... ... .. ... ... ... $1,945.5 $1,915.0

See notes to consolidated financial statements




Comprehensive income:
Netincome . .........
Other comprehensive

income, net of tax:
Foreign currency
translation . . . ... ...

Other comprehensive
income .. .........

Comprehensive income . . . .
Capital contributions

Comprehensive income:
Netincome . .. ... .. ..
Other comprehensive

income, net of tax:
Foreign currency

translation . .. ... ...
Unrealized loss on interest

rate swaps . . ... ....

Other comprehensive
income . . ...... ...

Comprehensive income . . . .

Issuance of common stock . .

Capital contributions

Cash dividends paid to
ALLETE

Cash dividends paid to
stockholders _
Unearned compensation . . .
Issuance of common stock
under stock plans . . . . ..
Tax benefits from employee
stock plans . . ... ... ..
Repurchase of common
stock

Comprehensive income:
Netincome. ..., .....
Other comprehensive

income, net of tax:
Foreign currency

translation . © . . ... ..
Unrealized gain on interest

rate swaps. ... ... ..

Other comprehensive
income .. .........

Comprehensive income . . . .
Cash dividends paid to
stockholders
Issuance of common stock
under stock plans . . . . . .
Tax benefits from employee
stockplans . ... ... ...
Repurchase of common
stock

ADESA, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(In milfions)

Accumulated

Common Common Additional' Other

Stock Stock Paid-In ' Retained Unearned  Treasury Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Compensation Stock  Income (Loss) Total
88.6 $0.9 $517.3 = $286.2 $ - $ - $(15.7) $ 7837
1151 1151
392
39.2
154.3
7.2 7.2
88.6 0.9 5245 . 4013 -~ - 235 950.2
105.3 105.3
18.7
_©on
18.6
‘ 123.9
6.3 0.1 135.9 136.0
6.2 6.2
(117.5) (117.5)
(6.9) 6.9
3.1 §3.1;
7.2 0.8 8.0
1.3 1.3
{86.7) (86.7)
94.9 1.0 675.1 382.2 (3.1 (85.9) 421 1,011.4
125.5 125.5
79
0.6
8.5
134.0
(27.0) (27.0)
(6.2) 0.4 18.8 13.0
2.1 2.1
(43.6) (43.6)
94.9 $1.0 $671.0  $480.7 $(2.7) $(110.7) $ 50.6 $1,089.9

See notes 10 consolidated financial statements
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ADESA, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In millions)

Operating activities

NEt INCOME . . . e e

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:

Depreciation and amortization. . . . . ... ... ... o
Bad debt expense . . . . .. ..
Deferred income taxes . . . . . .. . ...
Compensation associated with equity programs . .. . ... ... ... ... ....
Loss on extinguishment of debt . . . ... ... .. ... ... ... . ... . ...
Other non-cash, net . . . .. ... . . .

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Finance receivables held forsale . ... .. ... .. .. .. . ... .. ... .. .. ...
Retained interests in finance receivablessold . ... ........... ... . ... ..
Trade receivables and other assets . . . .. ...... . ... ... . . ... .. . ... ..
Accounts payable and accrued expenses . . .. ... ... Lo

Net cash provided by operating activities . . ... . ... ... ... .. ... ... .

Investing activities

Net (increase) decrease in finance receivables held for investment . . . ... ... ..
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired . . . .. ... ... ... . ... ... ..
Purchases of property, equipment and computer software . . ... ..... .. ... .
Purchase of otherintangibles . .. ...... . .. ... . . ... ... . ... .. .. ...
Proceeds from the sale of property, equipment and computer software . . ... ..
Proceeds from the sale of discontinued operations. . . .. ......... . ......
Purchase of investments. . .. .. . ... ... .
Purchase of bonds . .. . . ... .. . e

Net cash used by investing activities . . . . . .. ... .. ... ... ... ... . ...

Financing activities

Net increase in book overdrafts . . . . ....... .. ... .. .. ... . . ... ... ..
Net increase (decrease) in lines of credit . ... ... ... ... . .. .. .. .. .. ..
Payments on fongtermdebt. . . . . . ...
Proceeds from long-termdebt . . . . . . ... ... ... .o
Payments for debt issuance costs . . . . ... ... ... .
Net proceeds from issuance of commonstock . .......... ... ... .....
Issuance of common stock under stock plans . . . .. .. L
(Dividends paid to) capital contribution from ALLETE . . .................
Dividends paid to stockholders . . .. ...... ... ... ... .. ...
Repurchase of common stock . . ... ... ... .. .. ...
Transfertorestricted cash . . . .. .. ... ... .. ...

Net cash (used by) provided by financing activities . ... . .... ... ......

Effect of exchange rate changesoncash .. ....... ... ... ... ... ... ..

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents . .. ... ... ..... ...
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period . ... ...... ... ... .. .....

Cash and cash equivalents atend of peried .. ... ... ... ... . ... ... ..

Cash paid for interest . . . . . . . . . . e
Cash paid for taxes, netof refunds . . .. ... ... ... ... ... ... . ... ... .

See notes to consolidated financial statements

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2003
$ 1255 $115.1
40.8 35.9 35.0
1.2 4.2 34
27.9 3.1 11.5
2.8 1.6 -
2.9 14.0 -
3. 29 (2.7)
204.3 167.0 162.3
(24.2) {15.3) (8.5)
(6.4) (3.9) 2.8)
(28.3) 12.6) (27.8)
(8.9) 8.7
136.5 131.9
4.6 9.0
(29.1) (1.6)
(55.3) (26.8)
(1.2) -
0.6 15.4
33 -
(2.0) -
- (22.0)
(79.1) 28.9 (26.0)
24.2 0.2 17.7
138.0 (45.8) (134.1)
(371.6) (323.1) (12.7)
150.0 500.0 -
(1.7) (9.9) -

- 136.0 -

10.2 0.5 -
- (117.5) 4.0
(27.0) (6.9 -
(43.6) (86.7) -
(0.8) (1.5) -
(122.3) (125.1)
0.6 6.5
(64.3) (12.7)
304.5 125.4
$ 240.2 $112.7
$ 276 $ 16.7
$ 67.7 $ 63.1




ADESA, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 - Business and Nature of Operations

ADESA, Inc. ("ADESA” or the “Company”) is a leading, national provider of wholesale vehicle auction
and related vehicle redistribution services for the automotive industry in North America. Redistribution
services include a variety of activities designed to transfer used and salvage vehicles between sellers and
buyers throughout the vehicle life cycle. The Company facilitates the exchange of these vehicles through
an auction marketplace, which aligns sellers and buyers. As an agent for customers, ADESA generally
does not take title to or ownership of the vehicles sold at the Company’s auctions. The Company
generally earns fees from the seller and buyer on each successful auction transaction in addition to fees
earned for ancillary services.

ADESA is the second largest used vehicle auction network in North America, based upon the number of
used vehicles passing through auctions annually, and also provides services such as inbound and
outbound logistics, reconditioning, vehicle inspection, and certification, titling, administrative and salvage
recovery services. Through its wholly owned subsidiary Automotive Finance Corporation ("AFC"), the
Company also provides short-term inventory-secured financing, known as floorplan financing, to used
vehicle dealers. ADESA is able to serve the diverse and multi-faceted needs of its customers through the
wide range of services offered at its facilities.

The Company operates a network of 53 wholesale used vehicle auctions, 37 salvage auctions and 84
AFC loan production offices. Used vehicle auctions provide services such as inbound and cutbound
logistics, reconditioning, vehicle inspection and certification and titling in addition to auctioning of the
consigned vehicles. Salvage auctions facilitate the redistribution of damaged vehicles deemed a total loss
for insurance or business purposes, as well as recovered stolen vehicles for which an insurance
settlement with the vehicle owner has already been made. The Company’s salvage auction business
specializes in providing services such as inbound and outbound logistics, inspections, evaluations, titling
and settlement administrative:services.

Note 2 - Basis of Organization and Presentation

ADESA was a wholly owned subsidiary of ALLETE Automotive Services, Inc. (“ALLETE Auto”), a wholly
owned subsidiary of ALLETE, Inc. ("ALLETE") until the second quarter of 2004. ADESA was incorporated
in the state of Delaware on January 23, 2004. On May 24, 2004, ADESA Corporation, then a wholly
owned subsidiary of ALLETE, was merged into ADESA. Because ADESA Corperation and the Company
were entities under common control and the Company is the successor entity, the number of shares of
common stock disclosed in these financial statements and the earnings per share information have been
adjusted retroactively to reflect the merger and the Company’s capital structure. The authorized capital
stock of the Company consists of 500,000,000 sharés of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, and
50,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share. ADESA Corporation had

14,086,000 shares of common stock outstanding prior to its merger with ADESA. ADESA had
88,600,000 common shares outstanding as of the date of the merger.

Initial Public Offering and Subsequent Spin-off from ALLETE

ADESA's initial public offering of 6,250,000 shares of common stock in June 2004, resulted in proceeds
of $136.0 million, net of transaction costs of $14.0 million. The Company used the net proceeds from
this offering, together with the net proceeds from the senior subordinated notes offering (proceeds of
$121.7, net of transaction costs of $3.3 million) and $275.0 million borrowed under the Company’s
credit facility, to repay $75.1 million of outstanding debt to unaffiliated third parties, to pay accrued
interest and principal on the $100.0 million intercompany note representing a dividend paid to ALLETE,
and to repay all of the Company’s other outstanding intercompany debt owed to ALLETE and its
subsidiaries, totaling $105.0 million. In addition, the:Company’s two existing senior notes were
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redeemed on August 18, 2004, for $139.0 million, including $14.0 million of prepayment expenses. The
remaining net proceeds from the initial public offering, notes offering and new credit facility were used
for general corporate purposes, including the repurchase of 6.2 million shares of the Company’s
common stock pursuant to a share repurchase program approved by the Company’s board of directors
on August 30, 2004. The repurchase program was completed on May 12, 2005, and resulted in
aggregate expenditures of $128.9 million from the fourth quarter 2004 through the second quarter
2005.

On September 20, 2004, ALLETE completed the distribution of a stock dividend to all ALLETE
stockholders. One share of ADESA common stock was distributed to ALLETE stockholders of record as
of September 13, 2004, for each share of ALLETE common stock outstanding, resulting in a total
distribution of 88.6 million common shares of ADESA. The distribution was structured to qualify as a
tax-free stock dividend to ALLETE shareholders.

Note 3 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of ADESA and all of its wholly owned
subsidiaries. Significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the U.S. requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. Actual
results could differ from these estimates.

Business Segments

The Company's operations are grouped into four operating segments: U.S. used vehicle auctions,
Canada used vehicle auctions, Impact salvage auctions and AFC. As permitted by Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards ("SFAS") 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information, the Company aggregates its four operating segments into two reportable business
segments: auction and related services and dealer financing. Auction and Related Services include used
vehicle and salvage auctions. Dealer Financing includes the results of operations of AFC and its related
subsidiaries. Operations are measured through careful budgeting and monitoring of contributions 1o
consolidated income from continuing operations and consolidated EBITDA (earnings before interest
expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization) by each business segment. Discontinued
operations include the operating results of the Company’s vehicle transport businesses, its vehicle
importation business and ComSearch, Inc., which were discontinued in June of 2002, February of 2003
and August of 2005, respectively.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activity

The Company recognizes all derivative financial instruments in the consclidated financial statements at
fair value in accordance with SFAS 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.
The Company currently uses interest rate swaps that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges to
manage its exposure to interest rate movements on its variable rate debt. The Company does not,
however, enter into hedging contracts for trading or speculative purposes. The fair value of the interest
rate swap agreements is estimated using pricing models widely used in financial markets and represents
the estimated amount the Company would receive or pay to terminate the agreement at the reporting
date. The fair value of the swap agreements is recorded in "Other assets” or “Other liabilities” on the
consolidated balance sheet based on the gain or loss position of the contracts. Changes in the fair value
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of the interest rate swap agreements designated as cash flow hedges are recorded as a component of
"Accumulated other comprehensive income”. Gains and losses on interest rate swap agreements are
subsequently included in earnings as an adjustment to interest expense in the same periods in which
the related interest payments being hedged are recognized in earnings. The Company uses the change
in variable cash flows method to assess hedge effectiveness in accordance with SFAS 133.

Foreign Currency Translation

Revenues and expenses denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at average
exchange rates in effect during the year. Assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated using
the exchange rates in effect at year end. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in
the consolidated statements of income within “Other income, net”. Adjustments arising from the
translation of net assets located outside the U.S. (gains and losses) are shown as a component of
“Accumulated other comprehensive income”. Accumulated other comprehensive income was comprised
of gains from foreign currency translation totaling $50.1 million and $42.2 million at December 31,
2005 and 2004, and unrealized gains (losses) on interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges
totaling $0.5 million and ($0.1) million at December 31, 2005 and 2004. At December 31, 2003,
accumulated other comprehensive income was comprised entirely of changes in foreign currency
translation.

Cash Equivalents ‘
All highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less are considered to be cash
equivalents. These investments are valued at cost, which approximates fair value.

Restricted Cash

AFC Funding Corporation, a wholly owned, bankruptcy remote, consolidated, special purpose subsidiary
of AFC, is required to maintain a cash reserve approximating 1 percent of total sold receivables to the
bank conduit facility as security for the receivables sold.

Receivables _

Trade receivables include the unremitted purchase price of vehicles purchased by third parties at the
auctions, fees to be collected from those buyers and amounts for services provided by the Company
related to certain consigned vehicles in the Company’s possession. These amounts due with respect to
the consigned vehicles are generally deducted from the sales proceeds upon the eventual auction or
other disposition of the related vehicles.

Finance receivables include floorplan receivables created by financing dealer purchases of vehicles in
exchange for a security interest in those vehicles and special purpose loans. Floorplan receivables
become due at the earlier of the dealer subsequently selling the vehicle or a predetermined time period
(generally thirty to sixty days). Floorplan receivables include (1) eligible receivables that are not yet sold
to the bank conduit facility (see Note 9), (2) Canadian floorplan receivables, (3) U.S. floorplan receivables
not eligible for the bank conduit facility, and (4) receivables that were sold to the bank conduit facility
that come back on the balance sheet of the Company at fair market value if they become ineligible
under the terms of the collateral arrangement with the bank conduit facility. Special purpose loans
relate to loans that are either line of credit loans or working capital loans that can be either secured or
unsecured based on the facts and circumstances of the specific loans.

Due to the nature of the Company’s business, substantially all trade and finance receivables are due
from vehicle dealers, salvage buyers, institutional sellers and insurance companies. The Company has
possession of vehicles or vehicle titles collateralizing a significant portion of the trade and finance
receivables. ‘ .

73



74

ADESA, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Trade receivables and finance receivables held for investment are reported net of an allowance for
doubtful accounts and credit losses. The allowances for doubtful accounts and credit losses are based
on management’s evaluation of the receivables portfolio under current conditions, the volume of the
portfolio, overall portfolio credit quality, review of specific collection issues and such other factors which
in management’s judgment deserve recognition in estimating losses. Finance receivables held for sale are
carried at lower of cost or market. Fair value is based upon estimates of future cash flows including
estimates of anticipated credit losses. Estimated losses for receivables sold by AFC Funding Corporation
to the bank conduit facility with recourse to AFC Funding Corporation (see Note 8) are recorded as an
accrued expense.

Classification of finance receivables in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is dependent on the
initial balance sheet classification of the finance receivable. Finance receivables initially classified as held
for investment are included as investing activity in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and
finance receivables initially classified as held for sale are included as an operating cash flow.

Retained Interests in Finance Receivables Sold

Retained interests in finance receivables sold are carried at estimated fair value with gains and losses
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Fair value is based upon estimates of future cash
flows, using assumptions that market participants would use to value such investments, including
estimates of anticipated credit losses over the life of the finance receivables sold. The cash flows were
discounted using a market discount rate.

Other Current Assets

Other current assets consist of inventories, notes receivable and prepaid expenses. The inventories,
which consist of vehicles, supplies, and parts are accounted for on the specific identification method,
and are stated at the lower of cost or market.

Notes receivable consist of amounts due from dealers, purchasers of assets sold and work-out loans
established with customers unable to meet the repayment schedule of the finance receivables. The
accrual of interest ceases upon the establishment of the work-out loans. Gross notes receivable balances
in “Other current assets” were $0.8 million and $1.0 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004. The
allowance for losses on notes receivable is based on management’s evaluation of the notes receivable
given current conditions, payment history, the credit-worthiness of the borrower and review of specific
collection issues and such other factors which in management’s judgment deserve recognition in
estimating losses. The allowance for losses on notes receivable was approximately $0.4 million and

$0.5 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004. Additions to the allowance are charged to bad debt
expense. This amount totaled $0, $0.1 million and $0.4 million for 2005, 2004 and 2003.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of cost over fair value of identifiable net assets of businesses acquired.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently as impairment indicators arise. The test
for impairment involves the use of estimates related to the fair values of ADESA's four reporting units
(U.S. used vehicle auctions, Canada used vehicle auctions, Impact salvage auctions and AFC) based on
projected discounted cash flows. If the fair value is calculated to be less than the carrying amount, an
impairment charge is recorded in the period identified.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets consist primarily of customer relationships, computer software and non-compete
agreements, and are amortized using the straight-line method. Customer relationships are amortized
over the life determined in the valuation of the particular acquisition. Costs incurred related to software
developed or obtained for internal use are capitalized during the application development stage of
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software development and amortized over their estimated useful lives. The non-compete agreements are
amortized over the life of the agreements and are written off upon being fully amortized. The lives of
other intangibles assets are re-evaluated periodically'when facts and circumstances indicate that revised
estimates of useful lives may be warranted.

Property and Equipment ;

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost; Depreciation is computed using the straight-line
method at rates intended to depreciate the costs of assets over their estimated useful lives. Upon
retirement or sale of property and equipment, the cost of the disposed assets and related accumulated
depreciation is removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is credited or charged to
selling, general and administrative expenses. Expenditures for normal repairs and maintenance are
charged to expense as incurred. Additions and expenditures for improving or rebuilding existing assets
that extend the useful life are capitalized. Leasehold improvements made either at the inception of the
lease or during the lease term are amortized over the shorter of their economic lives or the lease term
including any renewals that are reasonably assured.

Other Assets

Other assets consist of investments held to maturity; debt issuance costs, notes receivable, deposits, cost
and equity method investments and other long-term assets. Investments at December 31, 2005 and
2004 included $34.5 million of Fulton County Taxable Economic Development Revenue Bonds purchased
in connection with the capital lease for the Atlanta facility that became operational in the fourth quarter
of 2003. The bonds will be held to maturity (December 1, 2017) and bear a fixed interest rate of

5 percent.

Debt issuance costs reflect the expenditures mcurred in the first half of 2004 to issue the $125 million
senior subordinated notes and to obtain the bank credit facility. In addition, debt issue costs reflect the
expenditures incurred in the third quarter of 2005 to amend and restate the bank credit facility. The
debt issuance costs are being amortized over their respective lives to interest expense and had a carrying
amount of $6.5 million and $9.0 million at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004.

Long-Lived Assets

ADESA applies SFAS 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. Management
reviews its property and equipment and other intangible assets for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. The determination
includes evaluation of factors such as current market value, future asset utilization, business climate, and
future cash flows expected to result from the use of the related assets. If the carrying amount of a
long-lived asset exceeds the total amount of the estimated undiscounted future cash flows from that
asset, a loss is recognized in the period when it is determined that the carrying amount of the asset
may not be recoverable to the extent that the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the asset. The
impairment analysis is based 'on the Company’s current business strategy, expected growth rates and
estimated future economic and regulatory conditions.

Accounts Payable

Accounts payable include amounts due sellers from the proceeds of the sale of their consigned vehicles
less any fees, as well as outstanding checks to sellers and vendors. Book overdrafts, representing
outstanding checks in excess of funds on deposit, are recorded in “Accounts payable” and amounted to
$144.5 million and $120.3 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004.
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Environmental Liabilities

Accruals for environmental matters are recorded when it is probable that a liability has been incurred
and the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated, based on current law and existing
technologies. These accruals are adjusted periodically as assessment and remediation efforts progress, or
as additional technical or legal information become available. Accruals for environmental liabilities are
included in “Other accrued expenses” (current portion) and “Other liabilities” (long-term portion) at
undiscounted amounts and generally exclude claims for recoveries from insurance or other third parties.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues and the related costs are recognized when the services are performed. Auction fees from
sellers and buyers are recognized upcn the sale of the vehicle through the auction process. Many of the
vehicles that are sold at auction are consigned to the Company by the seller and held at the Company’s
facilities. The Company does not take title to these consigned vehicles and recognizes revenue when a
service is performed as requested by the owner of the vehicle. The Company does not record the gross
selling price of the consigned vehicles sold at auction as revenue. Instead, the Company records only its
auction fees as revenue because it does not take title to the consigned vehicles, has no influence on the
vehicle auction selling price agreed to by the seller and buyer at the auction and the fees that the
Company receives for its services are generally a fixed amount. Revenues from reconditioning, logistics,
vehicle inspection and certification, titling, evaluation and salvage recovery services are generally
recognized when the services are performed.

AFC's revenue is comprised primarily of gains on sale of finance receivables and interest and fee income.
As is customary for finance companies, AFC's revenues are reported net of a provision for credit losses.
AFC generally sells its U.S. dollar denominated finance receivables through a revolving private
securitization structure. Gains and losses on the sale of receivables are recognized upon transfer to the
bank conduit facility. Interest on finance receivables is recognized based on the number of days the
vehicle remains financed. AFC ceases recognition of interest on finance receivables when the loans
become delinquent, which is generally 31 days past due. AFC fee income is recognized over the life of
the finance receivable. The following table summarizes the components of AFC's revenue:

Year Ended December 31,

AFC Revenue (in millions) 2005 2004 2003

Gain on sale of finance receivables . . . .. ... ... .. .. ..., $ 69.3 $ 67.5 $ 60.6
Interest and fee income . ... ... ... 56.2 48.6 41.0
Other revenue . . . . .. .. 0.5 1.7 2.4
Provision for credit losses. . . . ... ... - 1.2) 0.3

$126.0 31166 $104.3

Income Taxes

The Company will file a consolidated federal income tax return for the year ended December 31, 2005
and has filed a consolidated federal income tax return for the period that began on September 21,
2004 and ended December 31, 2004. The Company is included in the consolidated federal income tax
return of ALLETE for the period that began January 1, 2004 and ended September 20, 2004 and for the
year ended December 31, 2003. The Company files state income tax returns in accordance with the
applicable rules of each state. The Company accounts for income taxes under the liability method in
accordance with SFAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. The provision for income taxes includes
federal, foreign, state and local income taxes currently payable, as well as deferred taxes. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between
the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable
income in years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. If it is
more likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized, a valuation
allowance is recognized.

Earnings per Share ‘

Earnings per share-basic is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average common shares
outstanding during the year. Earnings per share-diluted represents net income divided by the sum of the
weighted average common shares outstanding plus potential dilutive instruments such as stock options
and unvested restricted stock. The effect of stock options on earnings per share-diluted is determined
through the application of the treasury stock method, whereby proceeds received by the Company
based on assumed exercises are hypothetically used to repurchase the Company's common stock at the
average market price during the period. Stock options that would have an anti-dilutive effect on
earnings per share are excluded from the calculations.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, as amended by SFAS 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and
Disclosure. The Company accounts for stock-based compensation under Accounting Principles Board
("APB") Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations, using
the intrinsic value method. Accordingly, the Company has not recognized compensation expense for
employee stock options that have been granted.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had
applied the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to all stock-based employee compensation,
including options to purchase ALLETE common stock held by employees of ADESA, which were
converted into options to purchase approximately 1.5 million shares of ADESA common stock, with
exercise prices ranging from $8.40 1o $18.71, on September 20, 2004 in conjunction with the
separation from ALLETE. At December 31, 2005, approximately 0.8 million of the converted ALLETE
options remained outstanding and exercisable. The fair value of stock options was estimated as of the
grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and the attribution method. The Black-Scholes
option-pricing model does not consider the non-traded nature of employee stock options, the lack of
transferability or a vesting period. If the model took these items into consideration, the resulting
estimate for fair value of the stock options could be different. These pro forma amounts may not be
representative of the effects on reported net income for future years due to the uncertainty of stock
option grant volume and potential changes in assumptions driven by market factors.
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Year Ended December 31,

(in miflions except per share amounts) 2005 2004 2003
Reported net income . ... .. P $125.5 $105.3 $115.1
Add: stock-based employee compensation included in

reported net income, net of tax™ . ... ... ... ... 1.4 1.2 1.1
Deduct: total stock-based employee compensation

expense, netoftax ......... ... ... ... ... ... .. (12.9) (5.8) (1.8)
Pro forma netincome . . ... ... ... ... .. . ... . ... .. $114.0 $100.7 $114.4
Earnings per share:

Basic—as reported . . ... ... ... ... $ 1.40 $ 1.15 $ 1.30

Basic—pro forma . ... ... ... .. ... .. .. L. $ 1.27 $ 1.10 $ 1.29

Diluted—as reported . ... ..... ... ... .. ....... $ 1.39 $ 1.15 $ 1.30

Diluted—proforma . ......... ... ............. $ 1.26 $1.10 $ 1.29

(" Reported amounts include expense associated with restricted stock units and performance share
awards.

In the previous table, the expense for employee stock options granted is comprised of ALLETE options
held by ADESA employees that were converted into options to purchase ADESA common stock in the
third quarter of 2004 and ADESA options granted effective with and subsequent to the initial public
offering of ADESA's common stock. The expense noted above for employee stock options granted,
determined under SFAS 123, was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the
following assumptions for the ADESA options granted in 2005 and 2004 and converted ALLETE options
granted in 2003:

ADESA ADESA ALLETE

Assumptions 2005 2004 2003
Risk-free interestrate . .. ........... .. ... .. ... ....... 3.6% 3.6% 3.1%
Expected life—years . . .. ... .. ... 4 4 5
Expected volatility . . ... ... . . .. .. 41.0% 39.0% 25.2%
Dividendvyield . ... ... ... .. . .. . ... . 1.34% 1.25% 2.0%

Risk-free interest rate — This is the yield on U.S. Treasury Securities posted at the date of grant
having a term equal to the expected life of the option. An increase in the risk-free interest rate will
increase compensation expense.

Expected life—years — This is the period of time over which the options granted are expected to
remain outstanding. Options granted by ADESA have a maximum term of six years, while the
options converted from ALLETE to ADESA have a maximum term of ten years. An increase in the
expected life will increase compensation expense.

Expected volatility — Actual changes in the market value of the Company’s stock are used to
calculate the volatility assumption. An increase in the expected volatility will increase compensation
expense.

Dividend yield — This is the annual rate of dividends per share over the exercise price of the option.
An increase in the dividend yield will decrease compensation expense.




‘ ADESA, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS 123(R), Share-Based
Payment. This statement revises SFAS 123 and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25. SFAS 123(R) requires
that the cost of employees’ services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments be
recognized in the income statement. Compensation cost will be measured based on the grant-date fair
value of the equity instruments issued. The cost will be recognized over the period during which an
employee is required to provide service in exchange,for the award.

In March 2005, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin 107 ("SAB 107"), which offers guidance on
SFAS 123(R). SAB 107 was issued to assist issuers by simplifying some of the implementation challenges
of SFAS 123(R) while enhancing the information that investors receive. Key topics of SAB 107 include
discussion on the valuation models available to issuers and guidance on key assumptions used in these
valuation models, such as expected volatility and expected term, as well as guidance on accounting for
the income tax effects of SFAS 123(R) and disclosure considerations, among other topics.

On March 9, 2005, the board of directors (the “board”) of the Company accelerated the vesting of
certain unvested and “out-of-the-money” stock options previously awarded to employees and officers
that have an exercise price of $24. The awards accelerated were made under the ADESA, Inc. 2004
Equity and Incentive Plan in conjunction with ADESA's initial public offering (“IPO”) in June 2004. As a
result, options to purchase approximately 2.9 million shares of the Company’s common stock became
exercisable immediately. The options awarded in conjunction with the IPO to the Company’s named
executive officers and the majority of the other ofﬁcers would have vested in equal increments at
June 15, 2005, 2006 and 2007 The options awarded to certain other executive officers and employees
had different vesting terms. One-third of the options awarded to the other executive officers and
employees vested on December 31, 2004. The remaining two-thirds of the options awarded to these
executive officers and other employees in conjunction with the IPO would have vested in equal
increments at December 31, 2005 and 2006. All of these options expire in June 2010. All other terms
and conditions applicable to the outstanding stock option grants remain in effect.

The Company and its board considered several factors in determining to accelerate the vesting of these
options. Primarily, the acceleration will enhance the comparability of the Company’s financial statements
in prior and subsequent periods. The options awarded to the executive officers were special, one-time
grants in conjunction with the Company’s IPO. As such, these grants are not indicative of past grants
when ADESA was a subsidiary of ALLETE prior to June 2004 and are not representative of the
Company’s expected future grants. The Company and board also believe that the acceleration is in the
best interest of the stockholders as it will reduce the Company's reported stock option expense in future
periods mitigating the future impact of SFAS 123(R).

As a result of the acceleration, the Company disclosed incremental, pro forma stock-based employee
compensation expense of approximately $7.7 million, net of tax, in the first quarter of 2005. The
acceleration also resulted in a $2.0 million, $1.1 million and $1.1 million reduction in the after-tax pro
forma stock-based employee compensation expense disclosed in the second, third and fourth quarters
of 2005, respectively. The Company did not record any stock-based employee compensation expense in
the consolidated statements of income associated with the acceleration of these options because the
intrinsic value (the excess of the market price of the common stock over the exercise price of option) of
the options at the date of acceleration was not greater than the original intrinsic value of the options.
The Company expects that the acceleration will reduce the stock option expense it otherwise would
have been required to recognize in its consolidated statements of income in conjunction with adopting
SFAS 123(R) by approximately $4.8 million in 2006 and $1.2 million in 2007 on a pretax basis.

On April 14, 2005, the SEC approved a new rule for public companies that delayed the effective date of
SFAS 123(R) to annual, rather than interim, periods'that begin after June 15, 2005. As such, the
Company will adopt SFAS 123(R) on January 1, 2006. Once adopted, the Company will be required to
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record compensation cost as expense for the portion of outstanding unvested awards, based on the
grant-date fair value of those awards. The Company expects to apply the modified prospective transition
method of SFAS 123(R), which would allow the Company to prospectively record expense for the
compensation costs related to the portion of outstanding unvested awards at January 1, 2006 and new
awards granted after the date of adoption, without restating any prior periods. The Company expects to
continue utilizing the Black-Scholes valuation model to determine the fair value of its stock options. The
Company currently amortizes compensation expense for stock options using a graded-vesting approach.
For new stock option grants after adoption, the Company expects to record compensation expense on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service period. Because of changes to the non-substantive vesting
period approach, the application of estimated forfeitures, the acceleration of vesting of the underwater
IPO stock options, the fact that our options vest over three years and additional option grants are
expected to be made subsequent to January 1, 2006, the results of expensing stock-based
compensation after adoption of SFAS 123(R) may have a materially different effect on net income in
future years than that presented on a pro-forma basis in these financial statements.

Reclassifications and Revisions
Certain prior year amounts in the consolidated financial statements have been reclassified or revised to

conform to the current year presentation.

Discontinued Operations

In August 2005, ADESA sold ComSearch, Inc. In February 2003, management approved a plan to
discontinue the operations of the Company’s vehicle importation business. In addition, ADESA
management committed to a plan to sell its vehicle auto transportation business which was completed
in June 2002. The financial results of ComSearch, the vehicle importation business and the vehicle auto
transportation business have been reclassified as discontinued operations for all periods presented.

Revisions Related to Certain Finance Receivables and Related Cash Flows

AFC sells the majority of its U.S. dollar denominated finance receivables on a revolving basis and
without recourse to a wholly owned, bankruptcy remote, consolidated, special purpose subsidiary

(AFC Funding Corporation). AFC Funding securitizes a portion of its floorplan receivables using a
revolving securitization structure. The securitization agreement allows for the revolving sale of undivided
interests in certain eligible finance receivables by AFC Funding Corporation to a bank conduit facility.
Previously, AFC Funding’s retained interests in finance receivables sold were included in “Finance
receivables” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. At December 31, 2005, the retained interests were
recorded in “Retained interests in finance receivables sold” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets for all
periods presented.

Previously, ADESA reported an increase or decrease in operating cash flows in the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows related to the origination and collection of certain finance receivables that
were held for investment. This cash flow treatment followed AFC’s principal operating activity,
originating and servicing floorplan receivables; however, according to SFAS No. 102, Statement of Cash
Flows-—Exemption of Certain Enterprises and Classification of Cash Flows from Certain Securities
Acquired for Resale, cash receipts and cash payments related to finance receivables held for investment
should be classified within investing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. As of
December 31, 2005, cash flows related to the origination and collection of finance receivables held for
investment were recorded in investing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

Consequently, to achieve comparable presentation for all periods presented, the retained interests in
finance receivables sold was revised in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2004. In
addition, the net change in finance receivables held for investment in the Consolidated Statements of
Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 have been revised. The amounts revised
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were deemed immaterial to the Company’s prior financial statements. These revisions had no impact on
the total current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets or the total “Net (decrease) increase in cash
and cash equivalents” on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

In addition, the Company will revise its presentation of the cash flows from finance receivables held for
investment in its Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows prospectively for the comparable quarterly
periods in 2005 when it files its 2006 quarterly reports on Form 10-Q. Previously, the cash flows arising
in connection with changes in finance receivables held for investment were reported as operating cash
flows. These cash flows will be reported as investing cash flows prospectively. As a result, operating and
investing cash flows for the unaudited interim periods in 2005 will be revised as follows:

Three Months Ended ~ Six Months Ended Nine Months Ended

March 31, 2005 June 30, 2005 September 30, 2005

Reported Revised Reported Revised Reported Revised

Operating cash flow . . . $ (8.1 § 23 . $14.7 $37.7 $100.5 $105.0
Investing cash flow ...  $(19.9) $(30.5) $(55.6) $(79.0) $ (64.1) $ (68.6)

The revisions for the three months ended March 31, 2005 and June 30, 2005 also include
reclassifications to operating cash flows of insignificant amounts related to presentation of the financial
results of the Company's former vehicle importation business as discontinued operations.

Note 4 — Acquisitions

2005 Acquisitions '

On May 3, 2005, the Company completed the purchase of certain assets of ABC Washington Dulles,
LLC to gain access to the Washington, D.C. auction market. The Company assumed an operating lease
through 2025 for the 83-acre auction facility located in Sterling, Virginia, which commenced operations
in 2001, offering six auction lanes and reconditioning facilities. The assets purchased included the
related operating equipment and all customer relationships related to the auction. Initial annual lease
payments for the facility are approximately $1.9 million per year. The Company did not assume any
other material liabilities or indebtedness in connection with the acquisition. Financial results for this
acquisition have been included in the Company's consclidated financial statements since the date of
acquisition.

On June 30, 2005, the Company acquired an independently owned salvage auction facility serving
Charlotte and western North Carolina to expand its reach in the southeastern U.S. The assets included
an 128-acre facility, the related operating equipment, accounts receivable, and all customer relationships
related to the auction. The Company did not assume any material liabilities or indebtedness in
connection with the acquisition. Financial results for this acquisition have been included in the
Company's consolidated financial statements since the date of acquisition.

On November 2, 2005, the Company completed the purchase of certain assets of the "Ohio
Connection,” a group of four independently owned salvage auctions that handle approximately 20,000
salvage units annually to expand ADESA Impact’s regional coverage. The assets include the operating
equipment and all customer relationships related to the auctions. In addition, the Company has
operating lease obligations related to the four facilities through 2015. Initial annual lease payments for
the facilities total approximately $0.5 million per yeéar. Two of the purchase agreements include
contingent payments related to the volume of certain vehicles sold subsequent to the purchase date.
The Company did not assume any other material liabilities or indebtedness in connection with the
acquisition. Financial results for this acquisition have been included in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements since the date of acquisition.
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In summary, ADESA acquired the previously mentioned auctions during 2005 for a total cost of

$29.1 million, in cash. The purchase price of the acquisitions was allocated to the acquired assets based
upon fair market values, including $7.3 million to other intangible assets, representing the fair value of
acquired customer relationships and non-compete agreements, which will be amortized over their
expected useful lives ranging from 2 to 20 years. The purchase price allocations resulted in aggregate
goodwill of $17.2 million. The goodwill was assigned to the auction and related services reporting
segment and is expected to be fully deductible for tax purposes. Pro forma financial results for the
acquisitions were not material.

2003 Acquisitions

In April 2003, the Company completed a purchase with the minority owner for the remaining

49 percent of stock in the Ocala, Florida used vehicle auction. The purchase price totaled $1.8 million
and included a note payable of $0.2 million with the remainder of the purchase price paid in cash. The
acquisition was accounted for using the purchase method and resulted in goodwill of $1.0 million after
the purchase price was allocated to property and eguipment, other intangible assets, and a note
payable. The goodwill was assigned to the auction and related services reporting segment and is
expected to be fully deductible for tax purposes. Pro forma financial results were not material.

Note 5 — Discontinued Operations

In August 2005, ADESA sold ComSearch, Inc. which provides professional claims outsourcing services,
automotive parts-locating and desk-auditing services to the property and casualty insurance industry. In
February 2003, management approved a plan to discontinue the operations of the Company's vehicle
importation business. In addition, ADESA management committed to a plan to sell its vehicle auto
transportation business which was completed in June 2002. The financial results of ComSearch, the
vehicle importation business and the vehicle auto transportation business have been accounted for as
discontinued operations for all periods presented. All businesses were formerly included in the auction
and related services segment.

Net loss from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2005 includes the operating
loss of ComSearch, the loss on sale of the ComSearch business totaling $0.1 million and interest on the
vehicle importation business adverse judgment. Net loss from discontinued operations in 2004 includes a
$6.9 million pretax charge related to the vehicle importation business adverse judgment, including the
related accrued interest and legal costs, partially offset by $0.8 million in pretax income generated by
ComSearch. Net income from discontinued operations for the year ended December 31, 2003 includes
$1.5 million in pretax income generated by ComSearch, in addition to $0.4 million pretax gain resulting
from a litigation settlement in the Company’s discontinued vehicle transport business partially offset by
exit charges incurred related to the Company’s vehicle importation business.

At December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004, there were $0 and $2.7 million in assets and $6.8 and
$6.7 million in liabilities related to discontinued operations. Assets at December 31, 2004 primarily
represent receivables and property, plant and equipment related to the former ComSearch corporate
offices. Liabilities at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004 primarily represent the accrual of the
importation adverse judgment, currently under appeal, and accrued interest on the award pursuant to
Michigan law.
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The following summarizes fmanual information for the discontinued operations (in millions, except per
share data):

Years Ended December 31,

Statements of Income 2005 2004 2003
Operating revVeNUES . . . . .t o e $ 29 $ 6.1 $ 9.4
Operating expenses . . . . .. 3.6 12.2 7.5
Income (loss) before income taxes ... ... .. ... . ... . ... ... (0.7) 6.1) 1.9
INCOME taXeS . . . o o 0.1 2.4 0.7)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations . . . ... ............ $ (0.6) $ (3.7) $ 1.2
Net (loss) income per share from discontinued operations — basic. .. $ - $(0.04) $ 0.01
Net (loss) income per share from discontinued operations - diluted . $(0.01) $(0.04) $0.01

Note 6 — Stock Plans

Equity and Incentive Plan

Certain key employees of the Company and its sub5|d|ar|es participate in the ADESA, Inc. 2004 Equity
and Incentive Plan (“the Plan”). The maximum number of shares reserved for the grant of awards under
the 2004 Equity and Incentive Plan is 8.5 million. There were approximately 2.9 million remaining shares
available for grant under the Plan on December 31, 2005. The Plan provides for the grant of incentive
stock options and non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock
units and other stock-based awards. To date, the grants have taken the form of stock options, restricted
stock and restricted stock units. Options may be granted under the Plan at a price of not less than the
fair market value of a share of ADESA common stock on the date of grant and generally vest in equal
annual installments over three years with expiration not to exceed ten years from the date of grant.

Stock Options

Concurrent with the pricing of the initial public offering, the Company granted options to purchase
approximately 3.0 million shares of ADESA common stock, with an exercise price of $24 per share, to
officers and employees under the ADESA, Inc. 2004 Equity and Incentive Plan. In March 2005, the
Company’s board of directors accelerated the vesting of these unvested and “out-of-the-money” stock
options. The options awarded in conjunction with the IPO to the Company’s named executive officers
and the majority of the other officers would have vested in equal increments at June 15, 2005, 2006
and 2007. The options awarded to certain other executive officers and employees had different vesting
terms. One-third of the options awarded to the other executive officers and employees vested on
December 31, 2004. The remaining two-thirds of the options awarded to these executive officers and
other employees in conjunction with the IPO would have vested in egual increments at December 31,
2005 and 2006. All of these options expire in June 2010. Concurrent with the separation from ALLETE
on September 20, 2004, certain options to purchase ALLETE stock that were held by ADESA employees
were converted to Company stock options. The options were converted at quantities and exercise prices
that maintained the intrinsic value of the option as it existed immediately prior to the separation. The
vesting dates and exercise periods of the options were not affected by the conversion.

On February 15, 2005 and April 26, 2005, the Company granted options to purchase approximately
0.7 million shares and approximately 0.1 million shares of ADESA common stock, with exercise prices of
$22.44 per share and $24.00 per share, respectively, under the ADESA, Inc. 2004 Equity and Incentive
Plan. The $22.44 options vest in equal increments at February 14, 2006, 2007 and 2008. The $24.00
options vested immediately upon grant. The options have a six year life.
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A summary of the status of all options granted to employees and non-employee directors for the years
ended December 31, 2005 and 2004 is presented below:

2005 2004
Weighted Weighted
, Average Average
Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price

QOutstanding at January 1 ... ...... ... ... 4,453,079 $20.60 - NA
Conversion of ALLETE options at separation . . NA NA 1,522,877 $13.79
Granted . . ... .. 892,222 $22.80 2,986,511 $24.00
Exercised . ........ .. .. ... ... (725,000) $13.64 (34,510) $13.57
Canceled . ... ... .. .. .. .. ... ... ... (137,348) $22.92 (21,799) $21.92
QOutstanding at December 31 . ... .. ...... 4,482,953 $22.09 4,453,079 $20.60
Exercisable at December 31@ . ... . ... . .. . 3,869,672 $22.04 1,342,693 $15.46
Weighted average fair value of option grants® $ 7.36 $ 7.64

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2005:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Average
' Remaining Weighted Weighted
Range of Number Contractual Average Number Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding Life (Years) Exercise Price Exercisable® Exercise Price
$8.40 - $12.58 293,260 6.8 $12.37 293,260 $12.37
$13.26 - $18.53 474,041 5.3 $15.19 474,041 $15.19
$22.44 - $24.00 3,715,652 4.6 $23.74 3,102,371 $24.00
$8.40 - $24.00 4,482,953 4.8 $22.09 3,869,672 $22.04

@ In March 2005, the Company's board of directors accelerated the vesting of certain unvested and
“out-of-the-money” stock options previously awarded to employees and officers that have an
exercise price of $24. As a result, options to purchase approximately 2.9 million shares of the
Company’s common stock became exercisable in March 2005.

®  The fair value was estimated as of the grant date using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, the
attribution method and the assumptions described in Note 3 “Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies.”

Restricted Stock Units and Performance Shares

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company awarded tc employees approximately 90,000
restricted stock units (“RSUs”) under the Company's 2004 Equity and Incentive Plan, representing
approximately $1.9 million of unearned compensation at the grant dates. Under the Plan, certain
executive officers received RSU grants equal to 25 percent of the bonus earned in the prior year. The
awards granted during the first quarter of 2005 included approximately 18,800 RSUs (which vest after
three years) granted to these certain executive officers of the Company. The vesting schedule for the
remaining RSUs granted during the year generally range from one to three years from the date of grant.
Compensation expense related to RSU awards is recognized ratably over the vesting period.
Compensation expense for all restricted stock and performance shares totaled $2.4 million, $2.0 million
and $1.9 million for the years ended Decernber 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003.
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Employees of the Company who meet certain eligibility requirements may participate in the ADESA, Inc.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP”). Eligible participants are allowed to purchase shares of the
Company's common stock for 85 percent of the fair market value of a share of common stock on the
New York Stock Exchange oni the first trading day of each month. A participant’s combined payroll

deductions, cash payments and reinvested dividends in the plan may not exceed $25 thousand per year.

At December 31, 2005, approximately 12,000 shares had been issued under the ESPP plan and there
were approximately 488,000 shares of ADESA common stock available for grant under the Company’s
ESPP plan. ‘

Share Repurchase Program

On August 30, 2004, the Company’s board of directors approved a share repurchase program
authorizing the repurchase of up to $130 million of the Company’s common stock. The Company’s
share repurchase program included open market transactions executed from time to time at prevailing
market prices, as well as privately negotiated transactions, and was structured to comply with, and be
conducted under, Rule 10b-18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and other applicable regulations.
On May 12, 2005, the Company completed its share repurchase program. The Company repurchased a
cumulative total of 6.2 million shares at a weighted average price of $20.83 and an aggregate cost of
$128.9 million pursuant to the program.
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Note 7 - Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of earnings per share (in miflions except share and per
share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003

Income from continuing operations . . ... .......... ... $126.1 $109.0 $113.9
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of income
1aXES . . (0.6) (3.7) 1.2
Netincome . ... ... . . ... ... ... o $125.5 $105.3  $ 115.1
Weighted average common shares outstanding . . . ... .. ... 89.87 91.22 88.60
Effect of dilutive stock options and restricted stock awards . . . 0.45 0.23 -
Weighted average common shares outstanding and assumed
CONVEISIONS . . . o e e 90.32 91.45 88.60
Earnings per share—basic
Income from continuing operations . . ............... $140 $119 $ 1.29
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of income
1AXES . . e - (0.04) 0.01
Netincome . ........... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... $140 $ 115 $ 1.30
Earnings per share—diluted
Income from continuing operations ... .......... .. .. $140 $179 $ 129
(Loss) income from discontinued operations, net of income
TAXES . . e (0.01) (0.04) 0.01
Netincome . . ................... ... ...... ... $139 $115 § 130

Basic earnings per share were calculated based upon the weighted-average number of outstanding
common shares for the period. Diluted earnings per share were calculated consistent with basic earnings
per share including the effect of dilutive unissued common shares related to the Company’s stock-based
employee compensation programs. Total options outstanding at December 31, 2005 and 2004 were

4.5 million. There were no ADESA options outstanding at December 31, 2003. Stock options with an
exercise price per share greater than the average market price per share were excluded in the
calculation of diluted earnings per share for all periods presented as including these options would have
an anti-dilutive impact. Approximately 3.1 million and 3.0 million options were excluded from diluted
earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004.
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Note 8 - Allowance for Credit Losses and Doubtful Accounts

The following is a summary of the changes in the allowance for credit losses related to finance
receivables held for investment (in millions):

Year Ended
December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Allowance for Credit Losses

Balance at beginning of period . . ...... ... ... . ... ... .. $39 346 $66
Provision for credit losses . . . ........... B - 1.2 ©.7)
Recoveries . .. ... .. e 04 0.2 0.5
less charge-offs . . ... .. .. .. (1.2) (26) 2.7
Other . .. (0.7) 0.5 0.9

Balance atend of period . .. ... ... . . ... $24 $39 %46

AFC’s allowance for credit losses includes estimated losses for finance receivables currently held on the
balance sheet of AFC and its subsidiaries. Additionally, an accrued liability of $2.9 million and

$5.2 million for estimated losses for loans sold by AFC Funding is recorded at December 31, 2005 and
2004. These loans were sold to a bank conduit facility with recourse to AFC Funding and will come
back on the balance sheet of AFC Funding at fair market value if they prove to become ineligible under
the terms of the collateral arrangement with the bank conduit facility.

The following is a summary of changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts related to trade
receivables (in millions):

Year Ended
December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Balance at beginning of period . ... .. ... .. . $75 370 360
Provision for credit fosses . . . ........... e 1.2 3.0 3.7
Less net charge-offs .. ............... e 48y 25 27

Balance atend of period ... ... ... ... .. ... $39 375 §$70

Recoveries of trade receivables were netted with charge-offs, as they were not material. Changes in the
Canadian exchange rate did not have a material effect on the allowance for doubtful accounts.

Note 9 - Finance Receivables

AFC sells the majority of its U.S. dollar denominated finance receivables on a revolving basis and
without recourse to a wholly owned, bankruptcy remote, consolidated, special purpose subsidiary

(AFC Funding Corporation), established for the purpose of purchasing AFC's finance receivables.
Effective July 8, 2005, AFC and AFC Funding Corporation amended their securitization agreement. As
part of the amendment, the expiration date of the agreement was extended from January 2006 to
June 30, 2008. This agreement is subject to annual:renewal of short-term liquidity by the liquidity
providers and allows for the revolving sale by AFC Funding Corporation to a bank conduit facility of up
to a maximum of $500 million in undivided interests in certain eligible finance receivables subject to
committed liquidity. AFC Funding Corporation had $425 million of committed liguidity at December 31,
2005 and 2004. On February 1, 2006, committed liquidity was increased to $450 million. Receivables
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that AFC Funding sells to the bank conduit facility qualify for sales accounting for financial reporting
purposes pursuant to SFAS 140, Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and
Extinguishment of Liabilities and as a result are not reported on the Company’s consolidated balance

sheet.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, AFC managed total finance receivables of $655.7 million and

$583.8 million, of which $581.9 million and $510.8 million had been sold without recourse to AFC
Funding Corporation. Undivided interests in finance receivables were sold by AFC Funding Corporation
to the bank conduit facility with recourse totaling $399.8 million and $359.8 million at December 31,
2005 and 2004. The outstanding receivables sold, the retained interests in finance receivables sold and a
cash reserve equal to 1 percent of total sold receivables serve as security for the receivables that have
been sold to the bank conduit facility. After the occurrence of a termination event, as defined in the

- agreement, the bank conduit facility may, and could, cause the stock of AFC Funding Corporation to be

transferred to the bank conduit facility, though as a practical matter the bank conduit facility would look
to the liquidation of the receivables under the transaction documents as their primary remedy.

Receivables under management, sold, held and retained interests in finance receivables sold were as
follows {in millions):

December 31,

2005 2004
Finance Receivables
Total receivables managed. . ... .. ... .. ... $655.7 $5838
Less: amounts sold . . . . .. (399.8) (359.8)
Less: retained interests in finance receivablessold ... ........ ... .. (56.8) (50.4)
Finance receivables held . . .. .. ... . .. .. .. .. ... 199.1 173.6
Less: allowance for losses . .. .. ... . .. . .. ... (2.4) (3.9)
Net finance receivables . . . . . ... . .. ... $196.7 §$169.7

Finance receivables held include $51.1 million and $34.4 million classified as held for sale and

$148.0 million and $139.2 million classified as held for investment at December 31, 2005 and 2004.
AFC’s allowance for losses of $2.4 million and $3.9 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004 includes an
estimate of losses for finance receivables held for investment. Additionally, an accrued liability of

$2.9 million and $5.2 million for the estimated losses for loans sold by the special purpose subsidiary
has been recorded at December 31, 2005 and 2004. These loans were sold to a bank conduit facility
with recourse to the special purpose subsidiary and will come back on the balance sheet of the special
purpose subsidiary at fair market value if they become ineligible under the terms of the collateral
arrangement with the bank conduit facility.

Proceeds from the revolving sale of receivables to the bank conduit facility were used to fund new loans
to customers. AFC and AFC Funding Corporation must maintain certain financial covenants including,
among others, limits on the amount of debt AFC can incur, minimum levels of tangible net worth, and
other covenants tied to the performance of the finance receivables portfolio. The securitization
agreement also incorporates the financial covenants of ADESA's credit facility. At December 31, 2005
and 2004, the Company was in compliance with the covenants contained in the securitization

agreement.

The following illustration presents quantitative information about delinquencies, credit losses less
recoveries ("net credit losses”) and components of securitized financial assets and other related assets
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managed. For purposes of thls illustration, receivables delinquent are defined as receivables 31 days or
more past due.

December 31, 2005 e December 31, 2004
Principal Amount of: Principal Amount of:
Receivables Net Credit Losses Receivables Net Credit Losses
(in millions) Receivables Delinquent | During 2005 Receivables Delinquent During 2004
Floorplan receivables ... $187.0 $4.5 . $0.8 $164.6 $5.2 $1.6
Special purpose loans .. . 12.1 2.1 - 9.0 0.9 0.8
Finance receivables held. $199.1 $6.6 : $0.8 $173.6 $6.1 $2.4
Receivables sold . .. ... 399.8 ' 359.8
Retained interests in
finance receivables :
sold . ......... ... + 56.8 50.4
Total receivables
managed ......... $655.7 ‘ $583.8

!

The following table summarizes certain cash flows recelved from and paid to the special purpose
subsidiaries:

Years Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003

Proceeds from sales of finance receivables . ... .. R $4,310.5 $4,132.3 $3,788.3
Servicing fees received . . .. ... L P $ 135 § 126 § 112
Proceeds received on retained interests in finance receivablessold . .. $ 111.2 §$ 1046 $ 93.1

The Company's retained interests in finance receivables sold amounted to $56.8 million and

$50.4 million at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004. Sensitivities associated with the
Company’s retained mterests were insignificant at all periods presented due to the short-term nature of
the asset.

Note 10 - Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill at December 31 consisted of the following (in milfions):;

‘ 2005 2004
Auction and Related Services :

ALLETE's acquisition of ADESA ... . ... .. e $113.4 %1134
Canadian AUCHION GIoUP . . . .« ot e e e 1004 1004
Manheim AUCLIONS . . . . . . o 147.1 147 .1
Auto Placement Center, Inc. . . ... ...... F 26.2 27.0
Impact Auto Auctions and Suburban Auto .. ... ... L. 35.5 34.5
Other . ... .. . e 98.4 80.6
521.0 503.0

Dealer Financing
ALLETE's acquisition of ADESA .. .. ... ... .. ... .. ... . L. 11.6 11.6

$532.6 $514.6
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Goodwill increased $18.0 million during 2005 primarily as a result of acquisitions during the year. In
addition, the goodwill increase in 2005 and the $3.6 million increase during 2004 were impacted by
changes in the Canadian exchange rate.

A summary of other intangibles is as follows (in millions):

December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004

Useful Gross Gross
Lives  Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
(in years) Amount Amortization Value Amount Amortization Value

Customer relationships .. ...... 7-25 $25.8 $(64) $194 %187 $ (5.3 $134
Computer software. . . ... ... .. 3-7 44.1 (22.6) 21.5 34.2 (16.2) 18.0
Other . ... ................ 1-10 1.9 (0.8) 1.1 3.7 (3.6) 0.1
Total .. ......... . ... . ..... $71.8 $(29.8) $42.0 3$56.6 $(25.1) $315

The increase in other intangibles is primarily related to customer relationships purchased in connection
with 2005 acquisitions and purchases of computer software. Amortization expense for other intangibles
was $9.6 million $7.6 million and $9.0 million for the three years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003.

Estimated amortization expense for the next five years is $10.5 million for 2006, $7.7 million for 2007,
$3.4 million for 2008, $2.2 million for 2009, and $2.1 million for 2010.

Note 11 ~ Property and Equipment

Property and equipment at December 31 consisted of the following (in millions):

Useful Lives
(in years) 2005 2004

Land . ... $199.7 $185.1
Buildings . ... ... ... ... 10 - 40 247.7 241.5
Land improvements . .. ... . ... ... 10 - 20 148.6 1411
Building and leasehold improvements . .. ... ...... ... 5-40 44.9 376
Furniture, fixtures and equipment ... ............ .. 2-10 82.9 70.2
Vehiclesand aircraft . .. ... ... ... ... ... ... ..., 3-12 15.7 15.1
Construction in progress . . .. . oo oo e 11.6 15.1

7511 705.7
Accumulated depreciation . . . .. ... L. (155.2) (129.1)
Property and equipment, net. ... ................. $5959 $576.6

Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $31.2 million,
$28.3 million and $26.0 million.
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In 2003, the Company enteréd into a capital lease for the new Atlanta auction facility in conjunction
with the purchase of development revenue bonds. The assets included above under this capital lease at
December 31 are summarized below (in miflions):

Classes of Property | 2005 2004
Land .o I AR $12.9 $12.9
Builldings . . . . .. 133 133
Land improvements . .. .. ... ... ... .. .. e 5.6 5.6
Furniture, fixtures and equipment . ... ... .. e 2.7 2.7

: 34.5 345
Accumulated depreciation .. ... ... ... ... P 3.4) (1.8
Capital lease assets . . .. ... ... . ... ... e $31.1 3327

Assets held under this capital lease are depreciated in a manner consistent with the Company’s:
depreciation policy for owned assets.

Note 12 - Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt consists of the following at December 31 (in millions):

Interest Rate Maturity 2005 2004

Termbloan A. ... ... ... ". LIBOR + 1.25% 06/30/2010 $135.0 $157.5
TermLloan B . .. ... ... L ‘. 06/21/2010 - 199.0
$350 million revolving credit facility . . . .. ... .. .. LIBOR + 1.25% 06/30/2010 138.0 -
Atlanta capital lease obligation ... ........... . 5.0% 12/01/2013 34,5 345
Other, secured by property . . .............. I 12/31/2005 - 0.1
Senior subordinated notes . . ... ... ... .. ... .. 7%% 06/15/2012 125.0 125.0
Canadian line of credit. . . ... .. ... ... ..., .. Prime +0.25% 12/31/2006 - -
Total debt . ....... .. ... . ... . 4325 516.1
Less current portion of long-term debt . .. ... ... L 70.0 37.1
Long-term debt. ... ... .. e . $362.5 $479.0

The weighted average interest rate on borrowings at December 31, 2005 and 2004 was 6.25 percent
and 5.20 percent. :

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement

On July 25, 2005, the Company entered into a $500 million credit facility, pursuant to the terms and
conditions of an amended and restated credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) with Bank of
America, N.A., as administrative agent, and a syndicate of lenders. The Credit Agreement amends and
restates ADESA's $525 miillion credit facility, dated as of June 21, 2004. The Credit Agreement has a five
year term that expires on June 30, 2010. Under the terms of the Credit Agreement, the lenders
committed to provide advances and letters of credit in an aggregate amount of up to $500 million.
Borrowings under the Credit Agreement may be used to refinance certain of ADESA's outstanding debt,
to finance working capital, capital expenditures and acquisitions permitted under the Credit Agreement
and for other corporate purposes. The Credit Agreement provides for a five year $150 million term loan
and a $350 million revolving credit facility. The term loan will be repaid in 20 quarterly installments,
with the final payment due on June 30, 2010. The revolving credit facility may be used for loans, and
up to $25 million may be used for letters of credit. Letters of credit reducing the available line of credit
were $12.7 million at December 31, 2005. The revolving loans may be borrowed, repaid and
reborrowed until June 30, 2010, at which time all amounts borrowed must be repaid.
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The revolving credit facility and the term loan facility bear interest at a rate equal to LIBOR plus a
margin ranging from 87.5 basis points to 150 basis points depending on the Company’s total leverage
ratio. As of December 31, 2005, ADESA's margin based on its leverage ratio was 125 basis points. The
former Term Loan B facility was eliminated in the amended $500 million facility.

The Credit Agreement contains certain restrictive loan covenants, including, among others, financial
covenants requiring a maximum total leverage ratio, a minimum interest coverage ratio, and a minimum
fixed charge coverage ratio and covenants limiting ADESA's ability to incur indebtedness, grant liens,
make acquisitions, be acquired, dispose of assets, pay dividends, repurchase stock, make capital
expenditures and make investments. At December 31, 2005, the Company was in compliance with the
covenants contained in the credit facility. The credit facility is guaranteed by substantially all of the
Company’s material domestic subsidiaries (excluding, among others, AFC Funding Corporation), and is
secured by a pledge of all of the equity interests in the guarantors and a pledge of 65 percent of
certain capital interests of the Company’s Canadian subsidiaries.

As a result of amending the credit agreement, the Company incurred a third quarter charge of
approximately $2.9 million related to the write-off of certain unamortized debt issue costs and related
expenses associated with the amended and restated credit agreement.

Senior Subordinated Notes

Concurrent with the initial public offering, the Company offered 7% percent senior unsecured
subordinated notes with a principal amount of $125.0 million due June 15, 2012. Interest on the notes
is payable semi-annually in arrears and commenced on December 15, 2004.

At any time prior to June 15, 2008, the notes may be redeemed in whole or in part at an early
redemption price. The Company may redeem the notes at any time on or after June 15, 2008 at
specified redemption prices. Prior to June 15, 2007, the Company may redeem up to 35 percent of the
aggregate principal amount of the notes issued under the indenture with the net cash proceeds of one
or more qualified equity offerings at a redemption price equal to 107% percent of the principal amount,
plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that: (a) at least 65 percent of the aggregate principal
amount of the notes issued under the indenture remains outstanding immediately after the occurrence
of the redemption and (b) redemption occurs within 90 days of the date of any such equity offering.

The notes are unsecured and subordinated in right of payment to all of the Company’s existing and
future senior debt, including borrowings under the credit facility. The incurrence of future senior debt is
governed by certain limitations, incfuding an interest coverage ratio exception. The notes contain certain
financial and operational restrictions on paying dividends and other distributions, making certain
acquisitions or investments and incurring indebtedness, and selling assets. At December 31, 2005, the
Company was in compliance with the covenants contained in the senior subordinated notes.

Canadian Line of Credit

A C$16 million line of credit is available to ADESA Canada. The line of credit bears interest at a rate
equal to the prime rate plus a margin ranging from 0 to 25 basis points depending on the Company’s
total leverage ratio. Letters of credit reducing the available line of credit were C$2.9 million at
December 31, 2005. The line of credit is subject to renewal at the end of each calendar year and is
guaranteed by ADESA, Inc.

Senior Notes—Series A and B

Subsequent 1o the closing of the initial public offering, notes offering and June 2004 credit facility, the
Company announced the redemption of its $90 million 7.7 percent Series A Senior Notes due 2006 and
its $35 million 8.1 percent Series B Senior Notes due 2010. The redemption of the $125 million in
Senior Notes was completed on August 18, 2004. The redemption resulted in third quarter 2004 debt
prepayment expenses of $14.0 million before income taxes. The expenses include an early termination
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penalty and the write-off of unamortized debt issuance costs and are classified as “Loss on
extinguishment of debt” in the Company’s consolidated statements of income. ‘

At December 31, 2005 aggregate future principal payments on long-term debt are as follows (in
miflions):

2006 . $ 30.0
2007 30.0
2008 . 30.0
2009 ......... A 30.0
2010 ... ..., T P 153.0
Thereafter . . . . . 159.5

$432.5

Note 13 - Financial Instruments

The Company’s derivative activities are initiated within the guidelines of documented corporate risk
management policies. The Company does not enter into any derivative transactions for speculative or
trading purposes.

Interest Rate Risk Management

The Company uses interest rate swap agreements to manage its exposure to interest rate movements
and to reduce borrowing costs. In June 2004, the Company entered into two interest rate swap
agreements with notional amounts of $105 million and $60 million to manage its exposure to interest
rate movements on its variable rate debt. In conjunction with the amended and restated senior credit
facility, the Company terminated its interest rate swap for the former Term Loan B facility (swap
agreement with notional amount of $60 million) in'the third quarter of 2005. As a result, the unrealized
gain of approximately $0.5 million recorded in “Other comprehensive income” was realized in “Other
income, net” during the third quarter. The remaining interest rate swap agreement contains amortizing
provisions and matures in December 2006.

in November 2005, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount
of $40 million to manage its exposure to interest rate movements on its variable rate credit facility. The -
new swap has been designated as a cash flow hedge and matures in May 2008.

The Company designates its interest rate swap agréements as cash flow hedges. The fair value of the
interest rate swap agreements is estimated using pricing models widely used in financial markets and
represents the estimated amount the Company would receive or pay to terminate the agreements at the
reporting date. At December 31, 2005, the fair value of the interest rate swap agreements consisted of
a $0.9 million gain recorded in “Other assets” and a $0.1 million loss recorded in “Other liabilities” on
the consolidated balance sheet. At December 31, 2004, the fair value of the interest rate swap
agreements was a $0.2 million loss which was recorded in "Other liabilities” on the consolidated
balance sheet. Changes in the fair value of the interest rate swap agreements designated as cash flow
hedges are recorded in “Other comprehensive income”. Unrealized gains or losses on interest rate swap
agreements are included as a component of "Accumulated other comprehensive income”. At
December 31, 2005, there was a net unrealized gain totaling $0.5 million, net of taxes of $0.3 million.
At December 31, 2004, there were unrealized losses totaling $0.1 million, net of taxes of $0.1 million.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist principally of interest-
bearing investments, finance receivables, trade receivables and interest rate swap agreements. The
Company maintains cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments, and certain other financial
instruments with various major financial institutions. The Company performs periodic evaluations of the
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relative credit standing of these financial institutions and companies and limits the amount of credit
exposure with any one institution. Cash and cash equivalents include interest-bearing investments with
maturities of three months or less. These investments consist primarily of A-1 and P-1 or better rated
financial instruments and counterparties. Due to the nature of the Company’s business, substantially alfl
trade and finance receivables are due from vehicle dealers, salvage buyers, institutional sellers and
insurance companies. The Company has possession of vehicles or vehicle titles collateralizing a
significant portion of the trade and finance receivables. The risk associated with this concentration is
limited due to the large number of accounts and their geographic dispersion. The Company monitors
the creditworthiness of customers to which it grants credit terms in the normal course of business. In
the event of nonperformance by counterparties to financial instruments the Company is exposed to
credit-related losses, but management believes this credit risk is limited by periodically reviewing the
creditworthiness of the counterparties to the transactions.

Financial instruments

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, finance receivables, other current assets, accounts payable,
accrued expenses and borrowings under the Company’s short-term revolving line of credit facilities
approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of those instruments.

The fair value of the Company’s notes receivable is determined by calculating the present value of
expected future cash receipts associated with these instruments. The discount rate used is equivalent to
the current rate offered to the Company for notes of similar maturities. As of December 31, 2005, the
fair value of the Company’s notes receivable approximated the carrying value.

The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt is determined by calculating the present value of
expected future cash outlays associated with the debt instruments. The discount rate used is equivalent
to the current rate offered to the Company for debt of the same maturities. As of December 31, 2005,
the fair value of the Company’s long-term debt approximated its carrying value of $432.5 million. The
estimates presented on long-term financial instruments are not necessarily indicative of the amounts
that would be realized in a current market exchange.

Note 14 - Leasing Agreements

The Company leases property, computer equipment and software, automobiles, trucks and trailers,
pursuant to operating lease agreements with terms expiring through 2031. Some of the leases contain
renewal provisions upon the expiration of the initial lease term, as well as fair market value purchase
provisions. In accordance with SFAS 13 Accounting for Leases, rental expense is being recognized ratably
over the lease period, including those leases containing escalation clauses. The deferred portion of the
rent, for the leases containing escalation clauses, is included in “Accrued expenses” on the consolidated
balance sheet. Total future minimum lease payments in excess of one year {excluding renewable periods)
as of December 31, 2005 for all operating lease arrangements are as follows (in millions):

2006 .. $ 164
2007 e 14.3
2008 . e 12.3
2000 L 9.9
20010 8.2
Thereafter . .. . . .. 95.9

$157.0

Total lease expense for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 was $21.8 million,
$21.5 million and $23.3 million.
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Note 15 - Income Taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes are as follows for the years ended December 31 (in
millions):

2005 2004 2003

Income from continuing operations before income taxes:

Domestic . ... .. . $158.4 $139.6 $150.1

FOTEIgN . . 43.5 385 38.0

Total ... $201.9 $178.1 3$188.1
income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations:
Current:

Federal . . ... $ 321 §$ 342 $ 406

Foreign . . . 13.9 15.0 14.7

State . . 1.9 16.8 7.4
Total current provision . . ... ............... T 47.9 66.0 62.7
Deferred: :

Federal . . . .. . 20.5 10.9 9.5

Foreign . ... 0.5 (0.4) (0.2)

State . . 6.9 (7.4) 2.2
Total deferred provision ... ................ e 27.9 3.1 11.5
Income tax expense from continuing operations . ... .. ......... . .... $758 §$69.1 $ 742

The provision for income taxes was different from the U.S. federal statutory rate applied to income
before taxes, and is reconciled as follows for the years ended December 31:

. 2005 2004 2003
Statutory rate . . .. ... 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State and local income taxes, net ... ... ... . . ... . 3.3% 3.4% 3.3%
Other, net . . .. . e (0.8%) 0.4% 1.1%
Effectiverate..........‘.......................1 ......... 37.5% 388% 39.4%

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
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Deferred tax assets (liabilities) are comprised of the following at December 31 (in millions):

2005 2004
Gross deferred tax assets:
Allowances . . ... $ 76 3102
Accruals and labilities . . . .. 8.4 9.3
Employee benefits and compensation .. ...... .. ... ... . ... ... 7.0 9.4
Foreign tax credit Carryover . . ... ... . 14 1.0
State net operating loss carryforwards . . . .. ... ... L 3.3 6.1
Foreign credits . . . . .. . 0.9 —
Other . ... e 2.9 3.1
Total deferred tax asset . . ... .. ... ... . 315 39.1
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance . ........ ... .. ... ... . ... ... _(0.9) (0.5
Total . 30.6 38.6
Gross deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation . . ... .. .. (32.1) (17.3)
Goodwill and intangibles . .. . .. .. (37.7) (34.1)
Other . . e e (2.8) (1.3)
Total .. (72.6) (52.7)
Net deferred tax liabilities . . . . . .. ... . . . . $(42.0) $(14.1)
The tax benefit from state net operating loss carryforwards expire as follows (in miffions):
2006 . L $0.1
2007 0.1
2008 . 0.1
2000 . L 0.1
2010 .. —
201110 2025 . . 2.
33

In conjunction with the Company’s separation from ALLETE in 2004 the Company reviewed and
reorganized several of its state income tax filing positions. As a result, certain deferred tax assets related
to state net operating loss carryforwards and related valuation allowances were written-off. In addition it
was determined that certain other deferred tax assets related to state net operating loss carryforwards
would likely be utilized in future years and, accordingly, the related valuation allowances were reversed
and subsequently reclassified to increase state tax liabilities.

During 2005, the Company’s effective tax rate was favorably impacted by the recognition of certain
2004 provision to tax return adjustments, changes in estimates regarding tax contingencies, and the
final settlement of a state tax dispute. The effective tax rate was unfavorably impacted by an allocation
of state taxes from ALLETE which was made pursuant to a tax sharing agreement between the two
companies.

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries were approximately $36.2 million,

$28.8 million and $24.5 million at December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003. Because these amounts have
been or will be reinvested in properties and working capital, the Company has not recorded the
deferred taxes associated with these earnings.

During 2005, the Company made federal income tax payments, net of refunds, of $45.7 million,
including a net refund from ALLETE of $1.1 million. During 2004 and 2003, federal income tax
payments, net of refunds, of $19.7 million and $40.3 million were paid to ALLETE. State and foreign
income taxes paid, net of refunds, by the Company during 2005, 2004 and 2003 totaled $22.0 million,
$26.3 million and $22.8 million.
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Note 16 — Comprehensive Income

The components of comprehensive income are as foliows for the period ended December 31 (in
millions):

2005 2004 2003

NEet inCome . ... . o e $125.5 $105.3 $115.1
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Foreign currency translation .. ........ .. ... .. ... .. .. .. ..., 7.9 18.7 39.2
Unrealized gain (loss) on interest rate swaps . . .................. 0.6 0.1) -
Comprehensive income . ... ............... e $134.0 $1239 3$154.3

The composition of “Accumulated other comprehensive income” at December 31, 2005 and 2004 is the
net unrealized gains or losses on interest rate swaps of $0.5 million and ($0.1) million and foreign
currency translation adjustments of $50.1 million and $42.2 million, respectively.

Note 17 - Segment Information

SFAS 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, requires reporting of
segment information that is consistent with the manner in which management operates and views the
Company. The Company’s operations are grouped into four operating segments: U.S. used vehicle
auctions, Canada used vehicle auctions, Impact salvage auctions and AFC. As permitted by SFAS 131,
the Company aggregates its four operating segments into two reportable business segments: auction
and related services ("ARS”) and dealer financing. These reportable segments offer different services and
are managed separately based on the fundamental:differences in their operations.

The Company’s U.S. used vehicle auctions, Canada used vehicle auctions and Impact salvage auctions
are included in the auction and related services segment. Each of the operating segments within the
ARS reportable segment have similar economic characteristics. ARS relates to used vehicle and total loss
vehicle remarketing, whether it be auction services, remarketing, or make ready services and all are
interrelated, synergistic elements along the auto remarketing chain. The ARS operating segments
transfer employees, share common customers, mcludmg used vehicle dealers, and in some cases operate
out of the same auction site.

AFC comprises the dealer financing segment and is primarily engaged in the business of providing
short-term, inventory-secured financing to independent, used vehicle dealers. AFC conducts business
primarily at wholesale vehicle auctions in the U.S. and Canada.

The holding company is maintained separately from the two reportable segments and includes expenses
associated with being a public company, such as salaries, benefits, and travel costs for the corporate
management team, board of directors’ fees, investor relations costs, and incremental insurance, treasury,
legal, accounting, and risk management costs. Holding company interest includes the interest incurred
on the corporate debt structure. The majority of cdsts incurred at the holding company are not allocated
1o the two business segments. There were no expenses for the holding company prior to January 1,
2004.
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Financial information regarding the Company’s reportable segments is set forth below for the years
ended December 31 (in millions):

Auction and

Related Dealer Holding

2005 Services Financing Company Consolidated
Operating revenues . .. ............... $ 8428 $126.0 $ - $ 968.8
Operating expenses

Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation

and amortization) . . .......... .. .. 448.3 25.2 - 473.5

Selling, general and administrative ... . .. 185.9 21.4 19.8 227 .1

Depreciation and amortization . .. ... ... 36.0 4.1 0.7 40.8
Total operating expenses. . . . .. ... ...... 670.2 50.7 20.5 741.4
Operating profit . ............. .. ..., 172.6 75.3 (20.5) 227.4
nterest expense .. . ... ... L 4.7 - 26.5 31.2
Other income, net . ... ............ ... (4.6) (0.7) (3.3) (8.6)
Loss on extinguishment of debt . .. .. ... .. - - 2.9 2.9
Income from continuing operations before

income taxes . ... ... ... 172.5 76.0 (46.6) 201.9
Income taxes. ... . 64.0 29.6 (17.8) 75.8
Income from continuing operations . . . .. .. $ 1085 $ 464 $ (28.8) $ 126
Assets ... $1,579.0 $324.2 $ 423 $1,945.5
Capital expenditures .. ........... e $ 537 $ 1.6 $ - $ 553
2004
Operating revenues ... ............... $ 808.9 $116.6 $ - $ 9255
Operating expenses

Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation

and amortization) . ............ ... 431.0 23.4 - 454.4

Selling, general and administrative . ... .. 184.8 20.6 16.8 222.2

Depreciation and amortization . ... ... .. 31.1 4.7 0.1 35.9
Total operating expenses. . . . ........... 646.9 48.7 16.9 712.5
Operating profit .. ...... ... ... ... ... 162.0 67.9 (16.9) 213.0
Interest expense . ... ... ... L 12.9 - 12.5 25.4
Other income, net . .. ......... ... ..., (3.2 (0.1) (1.2) (4.5)
Loss on extinguishment of debt . . . . ... ... - - 14.0 14.0
Income from continuing operations before

income taxes . .. ... ... 152.3 68.0 (42.2) 178.1
lncometaxes. . ......... ... . ... ... 58.4 27.2 (16.5) 69.1
Income from continuing operations . ... ... $§ 939 $ 40.8 $(25.7) $ 1090
ASSETS . L $1,452.7 $302.5 $159.8 $1,915.0

Capital expenditures .. ............... $ 294 $ 1.8 $ - $ 3.2
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1

Auction and

Related Dealer Holding

2003 Services Financing Company Consolidated
Operating revenues ... ... U $'800.2 $104.3 $- $ 9045
Operating expenses '

Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation :

and amortization) ... ............. 446.4 25.3 - 471.7

Seliing, general and administrative . ... .. 181.6 14.9 - 196.5

Depreciation and amortization . ... ... .. . 303 4.7 = 35.0
Total operating expenses. . . e . 658.3 44.9 = 703.2
Operating profit ........ e : 1419 59.4 - 201.3
Interest expense . ....... e 15.7 0.3 - 16.0
Other income, net . . ................ . (2.8) - = (2.8)
Income from continuing operétions before

income taxes . . ....... e " 129.0 59.1 - 188.1
Income taxes. . ......... B SRR 514 22.8 = 74.2
income from continuing operations . ... ... § 776 $ 36.3 - $ 1139
Assets ... $1,368.5 $288.3 - $1,656.8
Capital expenditures . ................ $ 234 $ 34 - § 268

Geographic Information
Most of the Company's operations outside the U.S. ‘are in Canada. Information regarding the
geographic areas of the Company’s operations is set forth below (in millions):

2005 2004 2003

Operating revenues
Us. ..o e $ 7784 § 757.1 $736.0
FOreign . . . o 190.4 1684 1685

$ 968.8 $ 9255 $904.5

Long-lived assets ‘
US. o T $1,017.1 $ 9858
Foreign ............. e 167.3 158.6

‘ $1,184.4 $1,1444

The Company does not have any major customers as defined by SFAS 131.

Note 18 - Dividends

In 2005, the Company paid a quarterly dividend of $0.075 per common share for an annual amount of
$0.30 per common share. Cash dividends declared per share excludes dividends declared and paid to
ALLETE prior to ADESA becoming an independent public company. ADESA paid a $17.5 million dividend
to ALLETE, the sole holder of record of the Company’s common stock, through a wholly owned
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subsidiary, on March 31, 2004. ADESA also paid a $100 million dividend to ALLETE on May 25, 2004, in
the form of an intercompany note.

On February 8, 2006, the Company’s board of directors declared a first quarter dividend of $0.075 per
common share payable March 15, 2006, to stockholders of record on February 21, 2006.

Note 19 - Employee Benefit Plan

The Company maintains a defined contribution 401(k) plan that covers substantially all U.S. employees.
Participants are generally allowed to make non-forfeitable contributions up to the annual IRS limits. The
Company currently matches 100 percent of the amounts contributed by each individual participant up
to 3 percent of the participant’s compensation and 50 percent of the amounts contributed between

3 percent and 5 percent of the participant’s compensation. Participants are 100 percent vested in the
Company’s contributions. During 2005, 2004 and 2003, the Company contributed $4.6 million,

$5.1 million and $4.8 million.

Note 20 - Transactions with Former Parent

Prior to September 20, 2004, the former parent of the Company provided certain services, including
accounting, treasury, tax, legal, public affairs, executive oversight, human resources, as well as other
corporate services. The Company’s financial statements include allocations by ALLETE for its costs related
to such services provided to ADESA. These cost allocations have been determined on a proportionate
cost basis that both the Company and ALLETE considered to be reasonable reflections of the cost of
services provided by ALLETE. These services accounted for approximately $2.2 million of expense for the
period January 1 through September 20, 2004, and $3.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2003. In addition, the Company paid ALLETE approximately $0.5 million in the fourth quarter 2004 for
services provided by the former parent.

In connection with the initial public offering, ALLETE and the Company delivered agreements governing
various interim and ongoeing relationships. These agreements included a master separation agreement, a
tax sharing agreement, an employee and director matters agreement and a joint aircraft ownership and
management agreement.

The Company and ALLETE entered into a tax sharing agreement, effective on the date of the spin-off,
which governs ALLETE's and the Company’s respective rights, responsibifities and obligations after the
spin-off with respect to taxes. Under the tax sharing agreement, the Company will indemnify ALLETE for
tax liabilities that are allocated to the Company for periods prior to the spin-off. The amount of taxes
allocated to ADESA for such periods is the amount that the Company and its subsidiaries would have
been required to pay under the previous agreements in place with ALLETE, determined in accordance
with past practice.

The Company has agreed in this tax sharing agreement that the Company will indemnify ALLETE for any
taxes arising out of the failure of the spin-off to qualify as tax-free distribution to ALLETE and the
ALLETE shareholders as a result of the Company’s actions or inaction, and 50 percent of any such taxes
that do not result from the actions or inaction of either the Company or ALLETE. The Company will
share with ALLETE the right to control the disposition of any audits, litigation or other controversies with
any taxing authorities regarding such taxes.

The Company entered into an employee and director matters agreement with ALLETE that governs the
allocation of responsibilities related to employee benefit plans provided by ALLETE to the Company’s
employees and directors and the allocation of liability relating to employees and directors of ALLETE and
the Company in connection with the initial public offering and the subsequent spin-off by ALLETE. In
general, ALLETE is responsible for all liabilities relating to employees and directors of ALLETE, and the
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Company will be responsible for all liabilities relating to its employees and directors as of the date of the
initial public offering. The agreement also addresses treatment of liabilities in respect of those ALLETE
employees and directors that have become employees and directors of the Company. Under the
agreement, the Company’s employees ceased to participate in any ALLETE pension plan as of the date
of the initial public offering and ceased to participate in any ALLETE equity plan, including the employee
stock purchase plan, as of the date of the spin-off. Any transferring employees and directors received
credit under each of the Company’s applicable benefit plans for past service with ALLETE. The
agreement also sets forth the treatment of ALLETE stock options and performance shares held by
employees and directors of ALLETE and the Company as of the time of the spin-off.

The Company entered into a joint aircraft ownership and management agreement with ALLETE that
allocates use of and responsibilities with regard to the two aircraft previously owned by ALLETE.
Subsequent to the spin-off, ALLETE contributed 70 percent ownership interest in the aircraft to the
Company. ALLETE continues to undertake the duties of managing and scheduling the aircraft in
exchange for a management fee equal to 3.5 percent of the total operating costs and expenses
associated with the aircraft from the preceding quarter. The agreement will terminate upon withdrawal
of one of the owners or the loss of one or both of the aircraft. Each owner will be entitled to

100 percent ownership interest in, and title to, one of the aircraft upon termination of the agreement.

Total non-cash capital contributions from ALLETE were $6.2 million and $3.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003. The amount contributed from ALLETE in 2004 includes the 70 percent
ownership interest in two aircraft previously owned by ALLETE.

Note 21 - Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is involved in litigation and disputes arising in the ordinary course of business, such as
actions related to injuries; property damage; handling, storage or disposal of vehicles; environmental
laws and regulations; and other litigation incidental to the business such as employment matters and
dealer disputes. Management considers the likelihood of loss or the incurrence of a liability, as well as
the ability to reasonably estimate the amount of loss,’in determining loss contingencies. The Company
accrues an estimated loss contingency when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the
amount of loss can be reasonably estimated. Management regularly evaluates current information
available to determine whether accrual amounts should be adjusted. Accruals for contingencies
including litigation and environmental matters are included in “Other accrued expenses” and “Other
liabilities” at undiscounted amounts and generally exclude claims for recoveries from insurance or other
third parties. These accruals are adjusted periodically as assessment and remediation efforts progress, or
as additional technical or legal information become available. If the amount of an actual loss is greater
than the amount accrued, thisi could have an adverse impact on the Company’s operating results in that
period. Legal fees are expensed as incurred.

The Company has accrued, as appropriate, for environmental remediation costs anticipated to be
incurred at certain of its auction facilities. Liabilities for environmental matters included in “Other
accrued expenses” and "“Other liabilities” were $3.1 million and $4.8 million at December 31, 2005 and
December 31, 2004. No amounts have been accrued'as receivables for potential reimbursement or
recoveries to offset this liability.

The Company stores a significant number of vehicles owned by various customers and consigned to the
Company to be auctioned. The Company is contingently liable for each consigned vehicle until the
eventual sale or other disposition; however, the Company is generally not liable for damage related to
severe weather conditions, natural disasters or other factors outside of the Company’s control. Loss is
possible; however, at this time management cannot estimate a range of loss that could occur. Individual
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stop loss and aggregate insurance coverage is maintained on the consigned vehicles. These vehicles are
consigned to the Company and are not included in the consolidated balance sheets.

In the normal course of business, the Company also enters into various other guarantees and
indemnities in its relationships with suppliers, service providers, customers and others. These guarantees
and indemnifications do not materially impact the Company’s financial condition or results of operations,
but indemnifications associated with the Company’s actions generally have no dollar limitations and
currently cannot be quantified.

As noted above, the Company is involved in litigation and disputes arising in the ordinary course of
business, such as actions related to injuries; property damage; handling, storage or disposal of vehicles;
environmental laws and regulations; and other litigation incidental to the business such as employment
matters and dealer disputes. Such litigation is generally not, in the opinion of management, likely to
have a material adverse effect on the financial condition, results of operations or cash flows. Legal and
regulatory proceedings which could be materiai are discussed below.

ADESA Importation Services, Inc. litigation

In January, 2002, Johnny Cooper ("Cooper”), a former manager of ADESA Importation Services, Inc.
("AlIS"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, filed suit against the Company and AlS (collectively
"ADESA”) in the Circuit Court of the State of Michigan, County of Genesee, Case No. 02-72517-CK,
alleging breach of contract and breach of other oral agreements related to AlS's purchase of
International Vehicle importers, inc. in December 2000. Cooper was the controlling shareholder who
sold the business to AIS in 2000. AIS filed a counterclaim against Cooper including allegations of breach
of contract, breach of fiduciary duty and fraud. Pursuant to Michigan law, the case was originally
evaluated by an independent three attorney panel which awarded Cooper damages of $153,000 for his
claims and awarded ADESA damages of $225,000 for its counterclaims. Cooper rejected the panel’s
decision resulting in a jury trial. In June 2004, the jury awarded Cooper damages of $5.8 million related
to the allegation that ADESA breached oral agreements to provide funding to AIS. The jury also found
in favor of ADESA on three of its counterclaims including breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty
and fraud and awarded ADESA $69,000. In July 2004, the Genesee County Circuit Court entered
judgment for Cooper in the amount of $6,373,812, netting the amount of the damages and awarding
the plaintiff prejudgment interest. In October 2004, the Genesee County Circuit Court denied
post-judgment motions made by ADESA for a new trial and/or reduction in the damages. In

November 2004, the Company filed a Claim of Appeal with the Michigan Court of Appeals. The parties
have submitted their respective appellate briefs to the Michigan Court of Appeals and oral argument on
the appeal is scheduled for April 11, 2006.

In December 2005, the company filed a motion for peremptory reversal requesting the Michigan Court
of Appeals to reverse the judgment on the grounds that Cooper’s oral side agreement claim is barred,
as a matter of law, by the merger provisions of the asset purchase agreement that was entered into in
2000 in connection with the sale of the business to AIS. The Court of Appeals has not ruled on the
motion for peremptory reversal.

The Company discontinued the operations of AlS, its vehicle importation business, in February 2003. At
December 31, 2005, the Company has an accrual totaling $6.8 million ($5.8 million award plus accrued
interest of $1.0 million) as a result of the jury trial verdict.

SEC Informal Inquiry

In December 2003, the staff of the SEC initiated an informal inquiry relating to ALLETE's internal audit
function and the internal financial reporting of ALLETE (ADESA's former parent), ADESA, AFC, a wholly
owned subsidiary of ADESA, and the loan loss methodology at AFC. ALLETE and the Company fully and
voluntarily cooperated with the informal inquiry and sent a response to the SEC in February 2004.
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Management believes that the Company has acted appropriately and that this inquiry will not result in
action that has a material adverse impact on the Company or its reported results of operations. The
Company has had no further inguiries or correspondence with the SEC since the first quarter of 2004.

ADESA Impact Taunton facility

In December 2003, the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (MADEP) identified the
Company as a potentially responsible party regarding contamination of several private drinking water
wells in a residential development that abuts the Taunton, Massachusetts salvage auction facility
operated by the Company. The wells had elevated levels of methyl tertiary butyl ether (MTBE). MTBE is a
chemical compound added to gasoline to reduce environmental emissions, In 2005, the EPA preliminarily
identified MTBE as a "likely” carcinogen.

The Company engaged Geolnsight, Inc. an environmental services firm, to conduct tests of the soil,
groundwater and ambient air on and adjacent to the Company's salvage auction site. The results of the
soil and water tests indicated levels of MTBE exceeding MADEP standards with respect to certain
residential properties. In response to the empirical findings, the Company, with the approval of the
MADEP, installed granular activated carbon filtration systems in 33 residences that may be impacted by
MTBE. ‘ !

In January 2004, the Company submitted an immediate response action plan (IRA) to the MADEP
describing the initial activities the Company performed, and the additional measures that the Company
used to further assess the existence of any imminent hazard to human health. in addition, as required -
by the MADEP, the Company has conducted an analysis to identify sensitive receptors that may have
been affected, including area‘schools and municipal wells. Based on the analyses conducted, the
Company has advised the MADEP that it believes that an imminent hazard condition does not exist. The
Company is submitting periodic status updates to the MADEP.

The salvage auction facility was acquired from Auto Placement Center, Inc. in 2001. Although the
primary releases of gasoline and MTBE may have preceded the Company’s acquisition of the Taunton
salvage site, the Company voluntarily agreed to several remediation measures including the construction
of a municipal waterline to serve the residents of the area. The construction of the waterline was
completed in the first quarter of 2005. In the second quarter of 2005, the Company entered into a
settlement agreement with its environmental insurance carrier with respect to certain coverage matters
which were in dispute relating to the Taunton site. The payment that was made to the Company under
the settlement agreement was not material to the Company’s results of operations or financial
condition. The Company has released its insurance carrier from any further claims with respect to
environmental conditions at the Taunton site.

In June 2005, 64 residents of Taunton, Massachusetts filed two separate lawsuits against ADESA Impact
in Massachusetts Superior Court, Bristol Division (Civil Action No.2005-00640 and Civil Action

No. 2005-00641). The complaints seek approximately $5.7 million in damages for ADESA's alleged
negligence, trespass, and creation of a public nuisance arising from elevated gasoline and contaminants
of MTBE in the ground water and water wells of the plaintiffs which plaintiffs contend resulted from an
above ground gasoline storage tank leak or spill at the Company’s Taunton salvage auction. In particular,
plaintiffs are seeking damages for: (1) diminution in the appraised value of their respective residences,
{2) well contamination, (3) damage to and loss of use of their property, (4) pain and suffering and

(5) reimbursement of certain expenses incurred as a result of the MTBE release.

ADESA Impact filed a Notice of Removal with respect to both actions with the United States District
Court for the District of Massachusetts removing both of the cases pending in the Bristol County
Superior Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts to the U.S. District Court (Civil Actions

No. 05-11493 and 05-11494). In August 2005, Automotive Recovery Services, Inc. d/b/a ADESA Impact
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filed answers, including defenses, to the pending actions. Although there is the potential for an adverse
judgment given the risk and uncertainties of litigation, in the event of an adverse decision, the
Company does not believe that it would have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial
condition or liquidity but could possibly be material to its consolidated results of operations in any one
accounting period. The Company intends to vigorously defend itself against the claims of the plaintiffs.

The Company has a remaining accrua! of $1.0 million at December 31, 2005 with respect to the
Taunton matter which includes ongoing filtration and monitoring costs. This amount is included in the
$3.1 million liability accrued for environmental matters at December 31, 2005.

Hallett Entities

Sean Hallett, the son of James Hallett, a former Executive Vice President of ADESA, and wholesale
vehicle businesses which Sean Hallett owns or controls are in default on obligations owed to AFC
totaling $1.7 million at December 31, 2005. The amounts owed relate to three separate lines of credit
with AFC and an outstanding loan. The lines of credit, totaling $0.4 million, which are secured with a
perfected blanket security interest in the assets of the wholesale vehicle businesses have been closed.
The loan is cross-collateralized with one of the credit lines and is secured by certain unencumbered
personal property valued between $0.3 million and $0.5 million. Based on an assessment of
recoverability, the Company recorded provisions for credit losses totaling $1.3 million in 2004 leaving
AFC with a net receivable position of $0.4 million at December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2004,

In November 2004, AFC and Automotive Finance Canada, Inc. (“AFC!") initiated legal action and filed a
statement of claim in the Ontaric Superior Court of Jjustice in November 2004 alleging that Sean Hallett
and his related companies (the “Hallett Entities”) had defaulted on their outstanding obligations to AFC
and AFCI (Ontario Superior Court of Justice; Case File No. 04-CV-278564CM2). in December 2004, the
Hallett Entities filed their statement of defense and counterclaim against AFC, AFCI, ADESA, Inc., ADESA
Canada and ADESA Auctions Canada (collectively the “"AFC Entities”) stating that the Hallett Entities had
satisfied their debts to the AFC Entities and alleging that the AFC Entities owed approximately

$6 million to Hallett in compensatory and punitive damages.

In February 2005, the AFC Entities filed their reply and defense to counterclaim denying the claims
made by the Hallett Entities and reaffirming the allegations made in the Statement of Claim, and the
Hallett Entities filed a reply to defense to counterclaim denying the allegations in the AFC Entities’ reply
and defense to counterclaim and reaffirming the claims and allegations in their statement of defense
and counterclaim. The litigation is currently in discovery.

Auction Management Solutions, Inc.

In March 2005, Auction Management Solutions, Inc. (*AMS") filed a lawsuit against ADESA, Inc. in U.S.
District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, Atlanta Division (Civil Action No. 05 CV 0638),
alleging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 6,813,612 (the “'612 Patent”) which was issued November 2,
2004 and pertains to an audio/video system for streaming instantaneous and buffer free data to and
from a live auction site. The AMS complaint was served upon ADESA in July 2005. The complaint seeks
unspecified damages and injunctive relief. The Company filed its answer, including its defenses, to the
complaint in August 2005. The Company continues to vigorously defend itself against the infringement
allegations. The litigation is currently in discovery.

In related litigation, AMS also filed a lawsuit against Manheim Auctions, Inc. (“Manheim”), Live Global
Communications USA Inc. and Live Global Bid, Inc. (collectively “LGB”) in U.S. District Court for the
Nerthern District of Georgia, Atlanta Division (Civil Action 05 CV 0639), alleging infringement of the
‘612 Patent and other causes of action against Manheim. The Company licenses technology used in its
LiveBlock Internet auction application from LGB. The complaint seeks unspecified damages and
injunctive relief. In May 2005, AMS withdrew its request for a preliminary injunction against Manheim
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and LGB. In June 2005, Manheim filed a counterclaim against AMS alleging infringement of U.S. Patent
No. 5,774,873 related to online motor vehicle auction systems. This litigation has been consolidated
with the AMS lawsuit against the Company during the discovery phase. No trial date has been set.

Although ADESA believes it has substantial defenses to the AMS claims, there is the potential for an
adverse judgment given the risk and uncertainty inherent in litigation. In the event of an adverse
decision, ADESA does not believe that it would have a material adverse effect on its consolidated
financial condition or liquidity but could possibly be material to its consolidated resuits of operations.

KASP, inc.

In July 2005, the plaintiff, KASP, Inc., which is in the business of automobile auctions in Lexington,
Kentucky, filed a lawsuit in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Kentucky, London
Division (Civil Action No. 05-394), alleging that ADESA, Inc., ADESA Lexington, LLC and ALLETE, Inc.
(the "Defendants”) violated antitrust laws by reducing fees in exchange for agreements from customers
to refrain from doing business with the plaintiff. In particular, plaintiff alleges violations of Sections 1
and 2 of the Sherman Act, Section 3 of the Clayton Act and Chapter 367 of the State of Kentucky
Revised Statutes and tortuous interference. In September 2005, the Defendants filed a joint motion to
dismiss the complaint on the grounds that it did not state a valid claim under federal or state law. In
October 2005, plaintiff filed an amended complaint outlining its allegations with more specificity. In
December 2005, the Defendants filed a motion to dismiss plaintiff's amended complaint contending that
plaintiff's Sherman and Clayton Act claims fail to make actionable allegations of conspiracy,
monopolization or exclusive dealing, and that plaintiff's Kentucky antitrust claim fails for lack of
standing. In January 2006, plaintiff filed a motion inf opposition to defendants’ motion to dismiss.

In February 2006, the Court issued an Order: (1) dismissing ALLETE, Inc. as a party to the action;

(2) granting defendants’ motion for summary judgment with respect to plaintiff's claims under Section 3
of the Clayton Act; and (3) denying defendants’ motion for summary judgment with respect to all other
counts. The Company intends to vigorously defend itself against the allegations made by the plaintiff.
The Company filed its answer, including affirmative defenses, to the complaint in March 2006. The
Court has set a discovery date deadline of February 1, 2007.
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Note 22 - Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Information for any one quarterly period is not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected

for the year.

2005 Quarter Ended March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31
Operating revenues . . .. ... ... ... $242.7 $246.5 $241.0 $238.6
Operating expenses
Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) . . . . 114.5 115.1 116.8 127.1
Selling, general, and administrative expenses . . . ... ... ..... 54.8 56.1 57.5 58.7
Depreciation and amortization . . . .. .. ... ... ... . ... ... 9.2 10.0 10.8 10.8
Total operating expenses . . . . . ... ... 178.5 181.2 185.1 196.6
Operating profit . ... .. ... ... ... ... ... 64.2 65.3 55.9 42.0
Interest expense . . . ... 8.1 8.5 7.4 7.2
Otherincome, net . . . . . . . . ... .. . (1.5) (2.3) (2.5 (2.3)
Loss on extinguishmentof debt . . ... ... .. ... .. ... .... - - 29 -
Income from continuing operations, before income taxes. . . . .. .. 57.6 59.1 481 37.1
Income taxes . . . .. ... 225 23.0 16.5 13.8
Income from continuing operations . . .. ... . ....... ... ... 35.1 36.1 31.6 23.3
Discontinued operations . . . . .. ... ... ... ... 0.1 0.2) 0.1) 0.2)
NELINCOME . . o o ot et e e e $ 350 $ 359 $ 31.5 $ 231
Basic earnings per share of common stock (Notes 3 and 7)
Continuing operations . . . . . .. ... . ... ... $ 0.39 $ 0.40 $ 0.35 $ 026
Discontinued operations . . . . .. ... .. ... .. ... ... ... - - - -
$ 0.39 $ 040 $ 0.35 $ 026
Diluted earnings per share of common stock (Notes 3 and 7)
Continuing Operations . . . . . .. . ... $ 038 $ 040 $ 0.35 $ 026
Discontinued operations . . . . .. ... ... ... ... L. - - - -
$ 038 $ 040 $ 035 $ 0.26
2004 Quarter Ended March 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31
Operating reVenNUES . . . . . . . . . oo i $245.6 $229.5 $227.0 $223.4
Operating expenses
Cost of services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) . . . . 119.9 110.0 109.6 114.9
Selling, general, and administrative expenses . . . .. ..... .. .. 58.7 533 52.6 576
Depreciation and amortization . . . .. ... ... .. ... .. ... . 9.2 8.8 8.5 9.4
Total operating expenses . . . . . .. ... . 187.8 1721 170.7 181.9
Operating profit . . .. .. ... .. .. . ... .. 57.8 57.4 56.3 41.5
Interest expense . . . . ... .. 4.0 4.7 8.7 8.0
Other income, N8t . . . . . .. . e 0.8) (0.6) (1.8) (1.3)
Loss on extinguishment of debt . . . .. ... ... ... ... ... .. - - 14.0 -
Income from continuing operations, before income taxes. . . . . . .. 54.6 53.3 354 34.8
Income taxes . . . . ... 21.5 20.9 13.9 12.8
Income from continuing operations . .. .. .. ... ... ... 33.1 324 215 22.0
Discontinued operations . . . .. ... ... ... 0.2 (3.8) - (0.1)
Net income . . . . ... $ 333 $ 28.6 $ 215 $ 219
Basic and diluted earnings per share of common stock (Notes 3 and 7)
Continuing OPerations . . . . . . . . oo $ 0.37 $ 0.36 $ 023 $ 024
Discontinued operations . . . . . ... ... .. ... 0.01 (0.04) - -
$ 038 $ 032 $ 023 $ 024
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All quarterly financial information is restated to reflect the operations of ComSearch, Inc. as
discontinued operations. The operations of ComSearch were discontinued in the third quarter of 2005;
as such, the following restatements are reflected in. the first and second quarters of 2005 and 2004 to
reflect ComSearch as discontinued operations:

» Operating revenues were reduced by $1.3 nf)/'///'on and $1.2 million in the first and second
quarters of 2005 and by $1.7 million and $1.5 million in the first and second quarters of 2004.

» Operating expenses were reduced by $1.4 million and $1.3 million in the first and second
quarters of 2005 and by $1.4 milion and $1.2 million in the first and second quarters of 2004.

* Operating profits increased by $0.1 million in the first and second quarters of 2005 and
decreased by $0.3 million in the first and second quarters of 2004.

* Income from continuing operations, net of tax, increased $0.1 million in the first and second
quarters of 2005 and decreased $0.2 million. in the first and second quarters of 2004.

The sum of the quarterly pek share amounts may not equal the annual amounts reported since per
share amounts are computed independently for each quarter and for the full year based on respective
weighted-average common shares outstanding and .other potential dilutive common shares.

Note 23 - Subsequent Events

In February 2006, AFC acguired a 15 percent interest in Finance Express, LLC, a company which
operates an online auto finance platform specifically designed for independent used vehicle dealers. The
investment was designed to both complement AFC's core business and provide the Company with new
revenue streams. ‘

In February 2006, the Company completed the purchase of certain assets of the N.E. Penn Salvage
Company, an independently owned salvage auction‘in northeast Pennsylvania. The assets include the
accounts receivables, operating equipment and all customer relationships related to the auctions. In
addition, the Company has operating lease obligations related to the facility through 2016. Initial annual
lease payments for the facilities total approximately $0.1 million per year. The Company did not assume
any other material liabilities or indebtedness in connection with the acquisition. The purchase price
allocation will be completed in the Company’s first quarter ending March 31, 2005. Financial results for
this acquisition will be included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements from the date of
acquisition.,
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial
Disclosure

Not Applicable.

Item 9a. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company carried out an
evaluation under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation
of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e). Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer
concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management’s report on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined
in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) and the related report of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, are included
in ltem 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data under the headings Management’s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm,
respectively, and are incorporated herein by reference.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is
defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended
December 31, 2005, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9b. Other Information

None.




PART Il

ftem 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by this ltem is included in the Company’s proxy statement for its 2006 annual
meeting of stockholders to be held on May 17, 2006, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is included in the Company’s proxy statement for its 2006 annual
meeting of stockholders to be held on May 17, 2006, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The information required by this Item is included in the Company’s proxy statement for its 2006 annual
meeting of stockholders to be held on May 17, 2006, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this Item is included in the Company’s proxy statement for its 2006 annual
meeting of stockholders to be held on May 17, 2006, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is included in the Company's proxy statement for its 2006 annual
meeting of stockholders to be held on May 17, 2006, and is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

item 15,

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(a) The following documents have been filed as part of this report or, where noted, incorporated

by reference:

1) Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of ADESA, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries are

filed as part of this report under ltem 8.

2) Financial Statement Schedules

The following consolidated financial statement schedule is required to be filed by ltem 8

of this form:

Schedule 1l Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

(In miflions)

Column A Column B Column C Column D ColumnE
Additions
Balance at Charged to Balance at
Beginnin Costs and m End of

Description of Perio Expenses  Deductions Period
Year Ended December 31, 2003
Allowance for doubtful accounts . . ... ... .. $ 6.0 $37 $2.7) $ 7.0
Allowance for credit losses .. ........ .. .. 6.6 0.7) (1.3) 46
Accrual for estimated losses on receivables

sold . ... 6.1 0.8 - 6.9

Totals . . . .. ... $18.7 $38 (4.0) 18.5
Year Ended December 31, 2004
Allowance for doubtful accounts . . ... ... .. $ 7.0 $3.0 $(2.5) $ 75
Allowance for credit losses . .. .. ......... 4.6 1.2 (1.9) 3.9
Accrual for estimated losses on receivables

sold ... 6.9 (1.7) - 5.2

Totals . . ... ... $18.5 $25 $(4.4) $16.6
Year Ended December 31, 2005
Allowance for doubtful accounts . . ... .. ... § 75 $1.2 $(4.8) $ 39
Allowance for creditfosses . . ... ... ... ... 39 - {1.5) 2.4
Accrual for estimated losses on receivables

sold . ..., 5.2 (2.3) - 2.9

Totals . . ... $16.6 $(1.1) $(6.3) $ 92

M Write-off of uncollectible accounts, recoveries, the impact of changes in exchange rates and other
adjustments

All other schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC are
not required under the related instructions, are inapplicable, or are adequately explained in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thereto and, therefore, have been omitted.

3)

Exhibits

The exhibit list in the Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference as the list of exhibits

required as part of this report.




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on March 15, 2006, on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereto duly authorized.

ADESA, Inc.
| By: /s/ David G. Gartzke

David G. Gartzke, Chairman,
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed on
March 15, 2006, by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities indicated.

/s/ David G. Gartzke " President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of
David G. Gartzke ‘ - the Board (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Cameron C. Hitchcock " Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Cameron C. Hitchcock ‘ (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Scott A. Anderson
Scott A. Anderson

- Controller (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s Wynn V. Bussmann

Director
Wynn V. Bussmann
/s/ Thomas L. Cunningham .
- ~ Director
Thomas L. Cunningham
/s/ Dennis O. Green ,
. * Director
Dennis O. Green
/s/ Angel Rodolfo Sales ,
Director
Angel Rodolfo Sales
Nick Smith Director
/s/ Donald C. Wegmiller ‘
; Director
Donald C. Wegmiller |
/s/ Deborah L. Weinstein ,
. Director

Deborah L. Weinstein
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Exhibit No.

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Desfription

Incorporated by Reference

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Filed
Date Herewith

31

3.2
3.3

4.1
4.2

4.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of
ADESA, inc., dated May 20, 2004.

By-Laws of ADESA, Inc.

Certificate of Merger of ADESA Corporation with
and into ADESA, Inc., dated May 24, 2004.

Specimen Certificate of Common Stock.

Indenture, dated June 21, 2004 between
ADESA, Inc. and LaSalle Bank National Association,
as trustee.

Form of Senior Subordinated Note (included in
Exhibit 4.2).

Master Separation Agreement between
ALLETE, Inc. and ADESA, Inc., dated June 4, 2004.

Tax Sharing Agreement between ALLETE, Inc. and
ADESA, Inc., dated June 4, 2004.

Joint Aircraft Ownership and Management
Agreement between ALLETE, Inc. and ADESA, Inc.,
dated June 4, 2004.

Empioyee and Director Matters Agreement
between ALLETE, Inc. and ADESA, Inc., dated
June 15, 2004.

Second Amended and Restated Receivables
Purchase Agreement, dated June 15, 2004 among
AFC Funding Corporation as Seller, Automotive
Finance Corporation as Servicer, Fairway Finance
Company, LLC and such other entities from time to
time as may become Purchasers thereunder, Harris
Nesbitt Corp., as the Initial Agent and as Purchaser
Agent for Fairway Finance Company, LLC and

XL Capital Assurance Inc., as Insurer.**

Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated
Purchase and Sale Agreement between

AFC Funding Corporation and Automotive Finance
Corporation, dated June 15, 2004.

Amendment No. 1 to the Second Amended and
Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement between
AFC Funding Corporation, Automotive Finance
Corporation, Fairway Finance Company, LLC, Harris
Nesbitt Corp., and XL Capital Assurance Inc., dated
October 4, 2004.

Trust Indenture between Development Authority of
Fulton County and Sun Trust Bank, as Trustee,
dated as of December 1, 2002.

S-1

S-1
S-1

S-1
10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

8-K

S-1

333-113499

333-113499
333-113499

333-113499
001-32198

001-32198

001-32198

001-32198

001-32198

001-32198

001-32198

001-32198

001-32198

333-113499

3.1

3.2
33

4.1
4.2

4.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.6

10.7

99.1

10.9

5/26/04

5/26/04
5/26/04

5/26/04
8/6/04

8/6/04

8/6/04

8/6/04

8/6/04

8/6/04

8/6/04

8/6/04

10/14/04

3/11/04




Incorporated by Reference

Filing Filed
Exhibit No. Exhibit Description , Form File No. Exhibit Date Herewith
10.10 Bond Purchase Agreement, dated December 1, S-1 333-113499 109 3/11/04
2002, for the Development Authority of Fulton
County Taxable Economic Development Revenue
Bonds (ADESA Atlanta, LLC Project) Series 2002.
10.11 Lease Agreement between Development Authority S-1 333-113499 10.10  3/11/04
of Fulton County and ADESA Atlanta, LLC, dated
as of December 1, 2002. _
10.14  International Swap Dealers Association, Inc. Master 10-Q  001-32198 10.8 8/6/04
Agreement, dated June 21, 2004, Bank of
America, N.A. and ADESA, Inc.
10.15 ADESA, Inc. 2004 Equity and Incentive Plan.* S-1 333-113499 10.14  5/26/04
10.16 ADESA, Inc. Director Compensation Plan.* S-1 333-113499 10.15  5/26/04
1017 ADESA, Inc. Director Compensation Deferral Plan.* S-1 333-113499 10,15 5/26/04
10.18  ADESA, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan. 10-K  001-32198 10.18  3/29/05
10.19 ADESA, Inc. 2005 Supplemental Executive S-8  001-32198 4.1 5/19/05
Retirement Plan.*
10.20  Acceleration of Stock Option Vesting* 10-K  001-32198 10.20  3/29/05
10.23  Supplementary Retirement Plan for Designated 10-Q 001-32198 10.24 8/6/04
Employees of ADESA Canada Inc. and its subsidiary
and associated companies.
10.24  Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale 10-K  001-32198 10.24  3/29/05
Agreement dated May 31, 2002, between AFC
Funding Corporation and Automotive Finance
Corporation
10.25 Retention and Severance Agreement by and S-1 333-113499 10.9 3/11/04
between ADESA Corperation and Cameron C.
Hitchcock, dated January 5, 2004.*
10.26 Retention and Severance Agreement by and X
between ADESA, Inc. and George J. Lawrence
dated September 7, 2004.*
10.31 Executive Restricted Stock Unit Awards, Annual 8-K 001-32198 N/A  2/14/06
Management Incentive Plan Bonus Targets and
Compensation* and Long-Term Management
Incentive Program Bonus Targets
10.32 Compensation Package for Non-Management 8-K 001-32198 N/A  5/23/05
Directors*
10.34 Amendment No. 2 to Second Amended and 10-Q 001-32198 10.34  11/9/05

Restated Receivables Purchase Agreement entered
into by and among AFC Funding Corporation,
Automotive Finance Corporation, Fairway Finance
Company, LLC, Harris Nesbitt Corp. and XL Cap|tal
Assurance Inc., dated July 8, 2005.**
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Exhibit No.

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

Form

Filing
File No. Exhibit Date

Filed
Herewith

10.35

10.36

12.1

211
231

3.2

321

322

* *

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated
as of July 25, 2005, by and among ADESA, Inc.,
the guarantors party thereto, the lenders party
thereto, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
Documentation Agents, Harris, N.A. and SunTrust
Bank, as Syndication Agents, U.S. Bank National
Association and LaSalle Bank National Association,
as Managing Agents, and Bank of America, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender,

L/C Issuer and Collateral Agent

Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement, dated
as of July 25, 2005, by and among ADESA, Inc.,
the guarantors party thereto and Bank of
America, N.A.

Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to
Fixed Charges

Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Consent of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of David G. Gartzke

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of Cameron C. Hitchcock

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of David G. Gartzke

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of Cameron C. Hitchcock

Management contract or compensation plan or
arrangement

Portions of this exhibit have been redacted and are
subject to a request for confidential treatment filed
separately with the Secretary of the Securities and
Exchange Commission pursuant to Rule 24b-2
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.

8-K

8-K

001-32198 99.1 7/29/05

001-32198 99.2 7/29/05
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

|, David G. Gartzke, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of ADESA, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and.1 are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over firiancial reporting, or caused such internal control
over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢ evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in-the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2006 /s/ David G. Gartzke

- David G. Gartzke
Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Cameron C. Hitchcock, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of ADESA, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and
cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control
over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; ‘ i

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 15, 2006 /s/ Cameron C. Hitchcock

Cameron C. Hitchcock
Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32.1

‘\ CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Annual Report of ADESA, in¢. (the "Company”) on Form 10-K for the period
ended December 31, 2005 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report”), |, David G. Gartzke, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to

18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxiey Act of 2002

(18 USC 1350), that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and :

(2) The information contained in the Report faiﬂy presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and result of operations of the Company.

/s/ David G. Gartzke
David G. Gartzke
Chief Executive Officer
March 15, 2006

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the
Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

in connection with the Annual Report of ADESA, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period
ended December 31, 2005 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report”), I, Cameron C. Hitchcock, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

(18 USC 1350), that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and result of operations of the Company.

/s/ Cameron C. Hitchcock

Cameron C. Hitchcock
Chief Financial Officer
March 15, 2006

This certification accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the
Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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